CONTRIBUTION OF INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR SYSTEM AND GROWTH HORMONE-INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR 1 AXIS GENES TO HETEROSIS IN A BOVINE FETUS MODEL

Ali Javadmanesh

A thesis submitted to The University of Adelaide for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Science



Discipline of Animal Science School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences Faculty of Sciences

July 2013

Table of contents

Abstract	v
Declaration	vii
Acknowledgments	viii
Abbreviations	ix
Chapter 1: Literature review	1
1.1 Heterosis	1
1.1.1 Heterosis effects in cattle	2
1.1.2 Theories to explain heterosis	6
1.1.3 Possible candidate genes and pathways for heterosis	8
1.2 The IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis	11
1.2.1 Insulin-like growth factor type 1 and type 2	12
1.2.2 Insulin-like growth hormone receptors	13
1.2.3 Insulin receptor	14
1.2.4 Insulin-like growth hormone binding proteins	16
1.2.5 Growth hormone and its receptor	20
1.3 Epigenetics	24
1.3.1 DNA methylation and histone modification	25
1.3.2 RNA associated silencing	26
1.3.2.1 MicroRNAs	28
1.3.2.2 MicroRNAs and regulating of IGF system genes	32
1.3.2.3 Prediction of microRNA target sites	32
1.4 Hypothesis and objectives	33
1.5 References	35
Chapter 2: Material and methods	67
2.1 Animals and sampling	67
2.2 Nucleic acid extraction	69
2.3 Complementary DNA synthesis	70
2.4 Electrophoresis of DNA fragments	71
2.5 Primer designing	71
2.6 Standard PCR and quantitative Real-Time PCR	74
2.7 Cloning and sequencing-	77
2.8 Microarray assessment of microRNAs	77
2.9 Data analysis	78
2.10 References	80
Chapter 3: Expression of the insulin-like growth factor system and growth	
hormone-insulin-like growth factor 1 axis in embryonic, fetal and	
postnatal bovine tissues	83
3.1 Introduction	83
3.2 Materials and methods	88
3.5 Kesults	90

3.3.1 Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) overall transcript expression	90
3.3.2 Insulin-like growth factor class1 and 2 (IGF1 class 1 and 2) expressions	92
3.3.3 Type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF1R) expression	92
3.3.6 Insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP) expressions	
3.3.6.1 High affinity <i>IGFBP</i> expression	93
3.3.6.1 Low affinity IGFBP expression	96
3.3.4 Insulin receptor (IR) expression	97
3.3.4.1 IR overall transcript	97
3.3.4.2 IR-A and B expressions	97
3.3.5 Growth hormone (GH) and Growth hormone receptor (GHR) expression	
3.3.5.1 <i>GH</i> expression	98
3.3.5.2 GHR overall transcript expression	98
3.3.5.3 <i>GHR-1A</i> , -1B and -1C expression	99
3.4 Discussion	100
3.4.1 <i>IGF1</i>	100
3.4.2 IGF1R	102
3.4.3 IGFBPs	103
3.4.3.1 High affinity <i>IGFBPs</i>	103
3.4.3.2 Low affinity IGFBPs	106
3.4.4 <i>IR</i>	107
3.4.5 <i>GH</i>	108
3.4.6 GHR	108
3.5 References	111
Chapter 4: Association of insulin-like growth factor family member transcript	120
4 1 Introduction	129
4.2 Materials and methods	131
4.3 Results	134
4.3.1 Heterosis, genotype and sex effects on phenotype	134
4.3.2 Heterosis, genotype and sex effects on <i>IGF</i> family member transcript	
abundance	137
4.3.2.1 <i>IGF</i> and <i>IGF1R</i> expression	137
4.3.2.2 <i>IGFBP1</i> to 6 expressions	139
4.3.2.3 IR. IR-A and IR-B expression	142
4.3.3 Summary of phenotypic heterosis and molecular heterosis effects	144
4.4 Discussion	145
4.5 References	.148
Chapter 5: Association of growth hormone receptor transcript abundance	153
5.1 Introduction	153
5.2 Materials and methods	158
5.3 Results	162
5.3.1 LINE-1 retrotransposon insertion in promoter of growth hormone	
receptor	162

5.3.1.1 Validation of LINE-1 insertion	
5.3.1.2 Sequencing	
5.3.2 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on <i>GHR</i> transcript abundances	
5.3.2.1 <i>GHR</i> transcript abundances in liver	165
5.3.2.2 GHR transcript abundances in brain, heart and skeletal muscle	167
5.3.3 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on tissue-specific transcript	
abundances of GHR transcripts relative to fetal and organ weights	169
5.3.3.1 Liver tissue	169
5.3.3.2 Brain, heart and skeletal muscle tissues	170
5.3.4 Molecular heterosis percentages of GHR transcripts in fetal tissues	173
5.4 Discussion	173
5.5 References	177
Chapter 6: MicroRNAs and miRNA target sites in of the IGF system and	
<i>GHR</i> genes - potential role in heterosis of bovine fetal traits	
6.1 Introduction	-187
6.2 Material and methods	- 192
6.3.1 Selecting miRNAs within <i>IGF</i> system and <i>GH-IGF1</i> axis genes	- 195
6.3.1.1 Predicted miRNAs	195
6.3.1.2 Experimentally validated miRNAs	196
6.3.2 Sequence variation of miR-483, miR-let-/f and miR-98 loci and	107
their target sites	197
6.3.3 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on miRNA transcript abundances	199
6.3.4 Correlation between miRNA and corresponding mRNAs	201
6.4 Discussion	202
6.5 References	206
Chapter 7: General discussion	213
7.1 Developmental changes in transcript abundance of <i>IGF</i> system and	
GH-IGF1 axis genes in bovine tissues	213
7.2 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on transcript abundance of <i>IGF</i> system	- · -
components and GH-IGF1 axis genes	217
7.3 MicroRNAs and other potential regulators of <i>IGF</i> system and <i>GH-IGF1</i> axis	
transcripts	221
7.4 General conclusion	225
7.5 References	227

Abstract

Heterosis, the superiority of hybrids over the average of purebred parents, has been used for centuries to obtain higher yields in animal production. Molecular mechanisms of heterosis remain poorly understood and traditional genetic models based on dominance and overdominance largely fail to explain heterosis. This thesis is based on a bovine (*Bos taurus* × *Bos indicus*) heterosis model with high levels of heterosis in birthweight and postnatal growth and development associated with increased plasma insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) concentrations. We hypothesised that heterosis is programmed prenatally and orchestrated by the IGF system and the growth hormone (GH)-IGF1 axis, which are fundamental for pre- and postnatal growth and development. We further hypothesised that epigenetic mechanisms involved in control of IGFs, i.e. as miRNA interference and retrotransposon insertion, contribute to heterosis.

The aims of this project were to study the contribution of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis transcripts, and epigenetic regulatory elements, on fetal growth and development of purebred Angus and Brahman cattle and their reciprocal crosses. Quantitative real time-PCR was used to quantify transcript abundance of *IGF1* overall transcript, *IGF1* class 1 and class 2, *IGF1R*, insulin receptor (*IR*) overall transcript, *IR-A*, *IR-B*, *GH*, *GHR* overall transcript, *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B*, *GHR-1C*, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1 (*IGFBP1*), *IGFBP2*, *IGFBP3*, *IGFBP4*, *IGFBP5*, *IGFBP6*, *IGFBP7* and *IGFBP8*, in brain, cotyledon, heart, kidney, liver, lung, skeletal muscle and testis of Day-48 embryos, Day-153 fetuses and 12-month old juveniles. A miRNA abundance profile of fetal liver was obtained using miRNA arrays. Genetic, fetal sex and heterosis effects on transcript abundances were estimated using general linear models. Lack of data on developmental-stage and tissue-specific expression required an initial comparative gene expression study across key developmental stages and tissues.

IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis transcripts showed tissue-specific expression patterns that differed across developmental stages. There was no detectable *GH* mRNA in tissues studied. The abundance of most transcripts in juvenile tissue was lower than in fetal tissue, except in liver, which showed increased *IGF1*, *GHR* and *IGFBP4* expression and no change for *IR*, *IGFBP1*, *IGFBP3* and *IGFBP6* transcript.

Our data showed negative or no molecular heterosis for liver *IGFBP* transcripts. Reduced expression of these IGF-modulators suggested an increase in available IGF1 in the fetus. We found molecular heterosis in liver *GHR*, as the major GHR downstream pathways involve IGF1, we concluded that heterosis in liver *IGF1* class 2 transcripts was a result of increased liver *GHR*-1A mRNA.

Several miRNAs, predicted to target 3' UTRs of IGF system genes and *GHR*, were differentially expressed in different genotypes and may have a regulatory role in transcription of *IGF* system and *GHR* genes in bovine fetal liver. However, more experiments with an increased sample size for miRNA profiling are required to assess this further. Among studied tissues, fetal liver appears to be the most important tissue to study the molecular mechanisms of heterosis.

In conclusion, it was demonstrated that mRNA transcripts and miRNAs in the developmentally important *IGF* system, and *GHR* transcripts, contribute to molecular heterosis in the bovine model. We propose that liver *GHR-1A - IGF1 class 2* transcripts are important factors in molecular heterosis which may contribute to the reported heterosis in birth weight. Furthermore, miRNAs that regulate IGF system/GHR transcripts may contribute to bovine molecular and phenotypic heterosis postnatally.

Declaration

I hereby certify that this thesis is my original research work and has not been submitted for a degree at any university. This thesis, to best of my knowledge, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where referencing is done to acknowledge publication of other authors.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis, when deposited in the University of Adelaide Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be accessible on the internet, through the University's digital research repository, the Library catalogue and also by search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Ali Javadmanesh July 2013

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by a scholarship granted by the Ministry of Science, Research & Technology of Iran. The project was funded by the JS Davies Bequest and supported by the Queensland Government Reinvestment Fund. I would like to thank my principal supervisor, Prof. Stefan Hiendleder, for project design and provision of samples and phenotypes. I appreciate the efforts of Prof. Stefan Hiendleder, and co-supervisor, Dr. Karen Kind, who directed me to accomplish this research and assisted in thesis preparation. I would also like to say thanks to Dr. Dana Thomsen, Mani Ghanipour Samasi and Ying Liu for their assistance with laboratory work, and to Ruidong Xiang for proving phenotype data for fetal skeletal muscle. I gratefully acknowledge the contributions of former members of the JS Davies Epigenetics and Genetics Group to generating resources for my project work: Dr. Carolyn Fitzsimmons, Dr. Zibby Kruk, Dr. David Lines, Sarah Truran and Radmila Feldmann. I would also like to thank Dr. Brian Burns who contributed additional samples.

I would like to mention that I have been generously supported by members of the Robinson Institute and Research Centre for Reproductive Health, Julie Owens and Claire Roberts, and their research groups regarding use of laboratory facilities in the School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health. I would further like to mention, support by SARDI laboratories at Roseworthy Campus, The University of Adelaide.

Technical advice provided by Dr. Greg Nattrass and statistical consultations with Dr. David Rutley are sincerely appreciated.

I would like to acknowledge the International Student Centre and the Graduate Centre of the University of Adelaide for their support.

Lastly, I admit that without the great team work of all the people mentioned above, it would not have been possible to accomplish my PhD project.

Abbreviations

ACTB	Actin beta
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Bi	Bos indicus
bp	Base pair
Bt	Bos taurus
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
Cq	Quantification cycle
D	Day
GAK	Cyclin-G associated kinase
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GH	Growth hormone
GHR	Growth hormone receptor
H3F3A	H3 histone family 3A
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IGF2	Insulin–like growth factor 2
IGF1R	Type 1 insulin–like growth factor receptor
IGF2R	Type 2 insulin–like growth factor receptor
IGFBP	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein
IGFBP-rP	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-related protein
IR	Insulin receptor
Kb	Kilo base pair
kDa	Kilo dalton
L1	LINE-1
LINE-1	Long Interspersed Element-1
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
miRNA	Micro RNA
qPCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

QTL	Quantitative trait loci
QTN	Quantitative trait nucleotide
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PL	Placental lactogene
PRL	Prolactin
PRLR	Prolactin receptor
RPS9	Ribosomal protein S9
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SD	Standard deviation
TAE	Tris-acetic acid EDTA buffer
TBE	Tris-boric acid EDTA buffer
TBP	TATA box binding protein
UBB	Ubiquitin B
VPS4A	Vacuolar protein sorting 4 homolog A

Protein symbols are presented in normal script and gene/transcript symbols are presented by italic script.

Chapter 1

Literature review

1.1 Heterosis

Heterosis or hybrid vigour is the increase in performance of crossbred animals or plants over their purebred parents. From an evolutionary point of view, heterosis is defined as higher fitness of heterozygote individuals compared to homozygotes in a population (Chen, 2010). This phenomenon was described in 1876 by Charles Darwin. He observed that progeny of cross-pollinated maize (*Zea mays*) were 25% taller than progeny of inbred maize (Hochholdinger and Hoecke, 2007). Heterosis has an important role in improving the productivity of plants and animals. It has been used for over a century to obtain benefits in animal production industries (Simm, 1998; Sheridan, 1981; Dickerson, 1973). In agriculture, a large proportion of crops, including maize, rice and sorghum, are grown mainly as hybrids (Chen, 2010).

In the field of animal breeding and genetics, heterosis was defined by Lush (1945) as "the superiority of the out-bred animals over the average of their parents in individual merit". Robinson et al. (1956) defined heterosis more precisely as the higher average performance of reciprocal crosses than the average performance of parents. Heterosis can be negative when the desired quantitative trait is lower in hybrid individuals than in parents or homozygotes, and positive when the desired trait is higher in hybrids than in parents or homozygotes (Comings and MacMurray, 2000). Heterosis is organism, population, age and/or environment dependent (Budak et al, 2002; Gregory et al. 1992). This could explain the conflicting results of studies involving experiments designed to investigate the mechanism of heterosis. The

units used for measurement of heterosis are often defined as a percentage (Kress and Nelsen, 1998; Brown et al., 1997 and 1993) and can be calculated as:

Heterosis % = [(crossbred average-purebred average)/purebred average] \times 100

Generally, the degree of heterosis is proportional to the genetic differences of parental strains. In other words, the level of heterosis increases as genetic distance between parents increases (Chen, 2010).

1.1.1 Heterosis effects in cattle

Crossbreeding is a widely accepted production tool in the cattle industry and may increase the level of production by up to 30% (Cundiff et al., 1992). Crossbreeding systems benefit from heterosis and differences among breeds to enhance performance of economically important traits and traits involved in adaptability to different climatic and nutritive environments (Chase et al., 2004; Koch, 1985).

Traits which are most noticeably affected by heterosis are often described with low or moderate heritability, such as survivability and fertility related traits (Table 1.1) (Drake and Phillips, 2006; Kress and Nelsen, 1998). The highest level of heterosis is seen in the F_1 generation and it breaks down rapidly in the F_2 and subsequent generations (Gregory et al., 1994; Sacco et al., 1991). Heterosis retention is the hybrid vigour which will be expressed in F2 and subsequent generations of crossbred animals (Bourdon, 2000; Gregory et al., 1999). Heterosis effects for some specific traits in beef cattle of *Bos taurus* are detailed in Table 1.2. **Table 1.1** Summary of heterosis effects for trait categories with different heritabilities in *Bos taurus* cattle (Kress and Nelsen, 1998).

Trait	Total heterosis
Carcass measurements	
Skeletal measurements	Low (0 to 5%)
Mature weight	
Growth rate	
Early weights	Medium (5 to 10%)
Milk production	
Maternal ability	
Reproduction	
Health	High (10 to 30%)
Cow longevity	
Overall productivity	

Table 1.2 Average levels of heterosis for specific beef cattle traits (Kress and Nelsen, 1998).

Trait	Heterosis (%)
Gestation length	0
Calving rate	6
Weaning rate	8
Female age at puberty	-3
Survival birth	1
Survival weaning	4
Calving difficulty	2
Birth weight	6
Weaning weight	11
Yearling weight	4
Cow mature weight	1
Cow mature height	1
Carcass weight	3
Dressing %	0
Loin eye area	2
Fat thickness	6
Kidney fat	5
Carcass yield grade	5
Feed conversion (TDN / gain)	-2
Tenderness	0
Palatability	0
Trimmed retail cuts	3
Cow milk production	9
Calf weaning wt. / cow exposed	18
Cow-calf TDN consumed	3
Calf weaning wt. / cow wt.	8
Cow longevity	38
Cow lifetime productivity	25

Bos taurus (or taurine) and *Bos indicus* (or indicine) are subspecies of domestic cow (Hiendleder et al., 2008). The breeds of cattle used in crossbreeding can be of the same subspecies, such as Angus and Hereford, or a cross between 2 different subspecies, such as crosses between *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* breeds. When subspecies are crossed, a greater amount of heterosis is expected due to the fact that their genetics differ at more loci than between two *Bos taurus* breeds or two *Bos indicus* breeds. Gregory and Cundiff (1980) stated that "although the performance of purebred Bos indicus cattle that have been available has generally been low for most economic traits, the performance of crosses of *Bos indicus* and *Bos taurus* cattle has been impressive for most traits that contribute to maternal performance".

The *Bos taurus* × *Bos indicus* cross benefits from traits seen in both species, such as heat and drought tolerance of the *Bos indicus* and reproductive performance and carcass qualities seen in some Bos taurus breeds (Prayaga, 2003). Specifically, there is a noticeable difference in the performance of reciprocal cross (*Bos indicus* bulls bred to *Bos taurus* cows, versus *Bos taurus* bulls to *Bos indicus* cows) calves for several size and growth traits (Amen et al., 2007) and carcass characteristics (Elzo et al., 2012) (Table 1.3).

Table 1.3 Average heterosis (%) in the economically important beef traits when crossing divergent breeds of cattle (Adapted from Cundiff et al., 1994 and Elzo et al., 2012).

Trait	Bos taurus × Bos taurus	Bos indicus × Bos taurus
Birth weight	2.4	11.1
Weaning weight	3.9	12.6
Post-weaning gain	2.6	16.2
Hot carcass weight	2.6	10.8

In addition, Peacock et al. (1978) showed that Brahman-Angus crossbred calves had 12% higher weaning weight in comparison to purebred individuals. Brown et al. (1993) reported that Brahman × Angus and Angus × Brahman crossbred cows and their calves were more tolerant to the negative effects from grazing tall fescue than purebred contemporaries. Crossbred calves had significantly heavier birth weights and body weight at D-205. The results of their study showed significantly higher heterosis effects can be achieved when the bull is Brahman rather than Angus in crossbred calves (Figure 1.1, A). Similarly it has been shown that heterosis for birth weight and weaning weight of Brahman-Angus calves is 12.4% and 13.1%, respectively (Riley et al., 2007), where Brahman was the sire of hybrid animals.



Figure 1.1 Heterosis effects in bovine inter-subspecies hybrids. A: Angus, B: Brahman, first letter indicates sire breed (A: data from Brown et al., 1993 and B: data from Riley et al., 2012).

It was shown that when the sire is Brahman rather than Angus, heterosis effects are significantly higher in comparison to other combinations (Riley et al., 2007). Hybrid calves of Angus and Brahman showed 12.3% heterosis in body weight at the average age of 592 days.

However, body weight of hybrids with a Brahman sire was significantly heavier (Figure 1.1, B) (Riley et al., 2012).

Crossbreeding between taurine and indicine cattle breeds is practiced to gain benefits from combining diverse genotypes in the hybrid offspring by achieving higher levels of heterosis. Significant reciprocal differences in pre- and post-weaning traits can be observed between *Bos taurus* × *Bos indicus* and *Bos indicus* × *Bos taurus* crosses (Peacock and Koger, 1980). Reciprocal crosses have the same "nuclear genomes"; this suggests an imbalance in expression of some genes could underlie the divergent growth phenotypes in reciprocal hybrids (Guo et al., 2004).

1.1.2 Theories to explain heterosis

Effective prediction of hybrid performance with traditional classical genetic models is not possible (Zhang et al., 1996). Despite the rediscovery of heterosis about a century ago and the suggestion of various genetic models to explain this phenomenon the mechanism(s) underlying heterosis have remained elusive to scientists (Sanghera et al., 2011; Chen, 2010; Hochholdinger and Hoecker, 2007; Budak et al., 2002).

Classic quantitative genetics has put forward several theories to explain the genetic basis of heterosis. The first hypothesis is dominance which means that heterosis results from different unfavourable alleles present in the inbred parental lines. Those alleles are complemented in the hybrid individuals by superior alleles from the other parent (Jones, 1917). Thus, harmful recessive mutations of one or the other parental line are masked by the dominant alleles and cannot reappear in the F_1 -hybrid offspring resulting in a masking effect and consequent superiority in the performance of hybrids compared to their homozygous parents. The next

historical explanation for heterosis is overdominance which indicates that allelic interactions that occur in the hybrid and the heterozygotes perform better than either homozygous class (Birchler et al., 2003). The most recent possible explanation proposed is epistasis, which was defined by Dickerson (1952) as effects of alleles of a gene on the expression of alleles of other genes. Forms of epistasis which could cause the superior performance in F_1 hybrid offspring include the combinations of alleles of genes that have become fixed over time in different breeds (Dickerson, 1969; Lush, 1946). Dominance, overdominance and epistasis refer to non-additive genetic effects, although they have one common characteristic which is "allelic interaction". These terms were coined before the molecular concepts of genetics were discovered and are not connected with molecular principles. Therefore, they are not adequate for describing the molecular parameters that cause heterosis (Alexander et al., 2009; Birchler et al., 2003).

Recent studies in plants have determined the roles of small RNAs and epigenetic regulation in hybrid vigour (Ding et al., 2012; Chen, 2010). Groszmann et al. (2011) showed that reciprocal hybrids of *Arabidopsis thaliana* have a decreased level of 24-nt small RNA (sRNA) relative to the inbred parents. This change in sRNA level was correlated with gene expression and DNA methylation (Groszmann et al., 2011). Since none of the classical quantitative genetic theories can sufficiently explain heterosis we hypothesised that epigenetic mechanisms, such as RNA associated silencing, may explain observed phenotypic differences of hybrid individuals (Groszmann et al., 2013). More details of epigenetics and RNA associated silencing will be presented later in this chapter.

1.1.3 Possible candidate genes and pathways for heterosis

Candidate genes have known biological functions related to the development or physiology of an economically important trait in farm animals (Rothschild et al., 1997). These genes can be responsible for producing structural proteins, enzymes or a component of a regulatory or biochemical pathway affecting the expression of the trait and can be evaluated as putative QTLs (Yao et al., 1996). Growth in animals is controlled by a complex system, in which the somatotropic axis has a crucial role. The genes that play key roles in the somatotropic axis are mainly growth hormone (GH) or somatotropin that acts on the growth of bones and muscles which is mediated through insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF1) or somatomedin C (Laron 2001; Sellier, 2000).

The bovine chromosome 5 contains QTLs that affect growth and carcass traits (Moody et al., 1996; Casas et al., 2000), reproduction (Kirkpatrick et al., 2000; Lien et al., 2000), birth weight (Gasparin et al., 2005) and milk production (Kalm et al., 1998). The location of some of these QTLs approaches the position of the *IGF1* and *IGFBP6* genes and, since IGF1 plays a fundamental role in regulation of growth and development, this gene is considered a strong candidate for the QTL effect (Machado et al., 2003).

In sheep and cattle, it has been shown that high birth weight observed in *in vitro* produced (IVP) embryos and nuclear transfer (NT) derived, known as large offspring syndrome (LOS), is associated with IGF components such as IGF2R and IGF1 (Wrenzycki and Niemann, 2003). Both serum IGF1 and IGF2 levels were strongly correlated to fetal body weight and growth rate during normal fetal development in cattle (Holland et al., 1997). Hiendleder et al. (2006) showed that plasma IGF1 level is correlated with bovine fetus weight in IVF produced embryos. It has also been shown that fetal and cord serum IGF1 concentrations are correlated

with birth weight in human (Fowden, 2003; Leger et al., 1996; Spencer et al., 1995). Elevated IGF2 concentration was significantly associated with higher birth weight in human (Hoyo et al., 2012). In contrast to positive association between IGF1 and IGF2 and birth weight, IGFBPs have been shown to have a negative association with birth weight (Asvold et al., 2011; Randhawa and Cohen, 2005; Boyne et al., 2003; Rajkumar et al., 1995). These studies indicate that IGF system components are important genes affecting prenatal growth and development and birth weight. Caldwell et al. (2011) demonstrated that IGF1 serum level is significantly (P<0.05) higher in hybrid calves of Brahman × Angus at D-84 of age (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 IGF1 plasma concentrations in D-84 calves of purebred and hybrid individuals. A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicate the breed of sire and dam, respectively (with data from Caldwell et al, 2011).

Brown et al. (1993) showed that a larger amount of heterosis between hybrid calves belonged to offspring of Brahman bulls and Angus cows (Refer to Figure 1.1) which is similar to the IGF1 level in the hybrid calves with the same breeds as published by Caldwell et al. (2011). Outcrossing of inbred mice showed a positive heterosis for serum concentrations of IGF1 in heterozygote animals (Adamo et al., 2006).

A QTL study in pigs showed a major effect on muscle growth that was mapped to the IGF2 gene (Van Laere et al., 2003). This QTL loci is actually a QTN (quantitative trait nucleotide) which is an SNP located in intron 3 of the IGF2 gene suggesting that the QTL effect was most likely due to a regulatory rather than a structural mutation (Van Laere et al., 2003).

QTL studies have shown growth hormone and its receptor to be important in cattle. Taylor et al. (1998) reported a QTL effect on subcutaneous fat mapped to a region of bovine chromosome 19 which is harbouring the GH gene. Also a number of QTL studies in cattle breeds have shown effects on milk yield and composition, as well as carcass traits, on bovine chromosome 20 close to the location of the growth hormone receptor (GHR) (Khatkar et al., 2004). It has been shown that SNPs located in the IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis in cattle can be considered as potential candidate genes associated with reproduction traits (Luna-Nevarez et al., 2011).

A number of studies in human, mouse and livestock have revealed that a majority of postnatal traits are affected by prenatal growth and development (Silveira et al., 2007). Based on the similar trend observed between heterosis of birth weight and plasma IGF1 level, and also the crucial role of somatotropin in growth and development, we hypothesised that the IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis could contribute to the altered prenatal development observed in bovine heterosis.

1.2 The IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis

The IGF system is composed of two ligands (IGF1, IGF2), two types of IGF receptors (IGF1R and IGF2R), the insulin receptor (IR) and IGF binding proteins (IGFBPs) (Moore et al., 2007; Denley et al., 2005) (Figure 1.3). The GH-IGF1 axis consists of GH and GHR in addition to IGF1 and its related IGF system components.



Figure 1.3 Schematic illustration of pathways involving the insulin-like growth factor system (Fernandez and Torres-Alemán, 2012).

IGF ligands were shown to be important in maintaining normal tissue growth and development pre and postnatally, cell proliferation and differentiation, and IGFBPs can act as potentiators of cell proliferation (Firth and Baxter, 2002; Jones and Clemmons, 1995).

However, altered function of the IGF system is also associated with a wide variety of cancers, such as breast, prostate, ovary and lung cancers (Reviewed by Maki, 2010; Firth and Baxter, 2002).

1.2.1 Insulin-like growth factor type 1 and type 2

Bovine *IGF1* and *IGF2* genes are located on chromosomes 5 (Miller et al., 1992) and 29, respectively (Goodall and Schmutz, 2003). They consist of 4 and 10 exons with lengths of 71.80 kb and 18.62 kb, respectively (NCBI GenBank accession numbers: NC_007303 and NC_007330, respectively). *IGF1* transcription is initiated from both exon 1 and exon 2, generating IGF1 RNA containing either exon 1 (*IGF1 class 1* mRNA) or exon 2 (*IGF1 class 2* mRNA) as the leader exon (Zhang et al., 2011). Thus, the two classes of *IGF1* mRNA encode prepro-IGF1 proteins differing only in length of the signal peptide. *IGF1 class 1* mRNA is expressed at relatively high levels in all studied tissues, whereas *IGF1 class 2* mRNA is tissue-specific and predominantly expressed in liver (Wang et al., 2003).

IGF1 is classified as an anabolic and mitogenic hormone; it stimulates protein and glycogen synthesis, increases DNA synthesis, stimulates cell cycle progression and inhibits apoptosis (Jones and Clemmons, 1995). Mice carrying null mutations of the *IGF1* gene are born small and grow poorly postnatally (Baker et al., 1993).

Most circulating IGF1 is produced in the liver, postnatally. Conditional liver knockout of the *IGF1* gene in mice results in significantly suppressed serum levels of IGF1, but without any corresponding decrease in postnatal growth (Sjogren et al., 1999). This suggests that paracrine/autocrine IGF1 effects might be more important than circulating IGF1 for longitudinal bone growth (Sjogren et al., 1999). Insulin-like growth factor 2 is a potent

growth promoter and essential for prenatal development. The *IGF2* gene is maternally imprinted and paternally expressed in human and cattle (Dindot, 2004; Giannoukakis, 1993). Targeted disruption of the paternal *IGF2* allele in mouse caused a significant reduction in birth weight (Dechiara, 1990). The expression pattern of the *IGF2* gene in cattle has not yet been fully studied in detail, but significant differences in expression patterns have been seen among species (Amarger et al., 2002). In human and bovine, *IGF2* has four promoters (P1-4) that drive transcription from a total of 10 exons, with untranslated leader exons 1 (P1), 4 and 5 (P2), 6 (P3) and 7 (P4). Alternative splicing of P2 transcripts yields two splice variants with leader exon 4 or leader exons 4 and 5. Exons 8, 9 and 10 are protein coding and present in all transcripts (Goodall and Schmutz, 2007; Curchoe et al., 2005; Amarger et al., 2002; Ohlsen et al., 1994).

1.2.2 Insulin-like growth hormone receptors

Bovine *IGF1R* and *IGF2R* are located on chromosome 21 and 9 and contain 20 and 48 exons, respectively. The full length of bovine *IGF1R* and *IGF2R* genes are 59.56 and 101.13 kb (NC_007319 and NC_007307). The structure of the IGF1R and the insulin receptor (IR) is similar, but their physiological roles are distinct. The biological actions of IGF1 are mediated by the IGF1R which belongs to tyrosine kinase receptor family. In normal physiological conditions, IGF1R stimulates linear body growth, promotes neuronal survival, postnatal mammary gland development and lactation and is also associated with bone formation and kidney function (Jones and Clemmons, 1995). The cellular action of both IGF1 and IGF2 is mediated through tyrosine kinase receptors, IGF1R and IR (Denley et al., 2006). Signal transduction for IGF1 and IGF2 occurs predominantly through IGFIR (Cohick and Clemmons, 1993). Expression of IGF1R is stimulated by hormones such as GH (LeRoith et al., 1995). The IGF1R binds IGF1 with high affinity while IGF2 is bound to IGF1R with only

20% of the affinity of IGF1 (Denley et al., 2004). Virtually every tissue and cell type expresses *IGF1R* mRNA, although it is a low abundance transcript (LeRoith et al., 1995). *IGF1R* knockout in mice results in more severe growth failure than deletion of IGF1, and the IGF1R null mice die of respiratory failure within minutes after birth (Baker et al., 1993), showing the vital importance of IGF1R in prenatal development.

The IGF2R, also known as the cation-independent mannose-6-phosphate receptor, is imprinted and expressed from the maternal allele in cattle (Bebbere et al., 2013; Killian, 2001). The IGF2R gene does not initiate signal transduction, but controls extracellular IGF2 concentrations by mediating the endocytosis of IGF2 and its subsequent degradation in lysosomes (Hawkes and Kar, 2003). Soluble IGF2R appears to take part in regulating bioavailability of IGF2 as it accounts for 50% of total IGF2 binding in the fetal sheep blood, but is dramatically downregulated in adults (Gallaher et al., 1994). It has been shown that IGF2R is an important factor affecting birth weight in mouse. Bi-allelic expression of IGF2R causes a 25% reduction in weight and let the embryonic development to persist to adulthood in mice (Wutz et al., 2001).

1.2.3 Insulin receptor

The *insulin receptor* (*IR*) gene is located on bovine chromosome 7, contains 22 exons (NCBI accession number NC_007305) and spans 120.45 kbp. Human and cattle *IR* exist in two isoforms determined by alternative splicing of exon 11 located at the carboxy-terminus of the receptor α -subunit. *Isoform A* (*IR-A*) lacks exon 11, whereas *isoform B* (*IR-B*) contains a 12 amino acid extension encoded by this small exon (Moller et al., 1989). The relative expression of these two isoforms varies in a tissue-specific manner. The isoform A displays higher affinity for IGF2 than IGF1 and can be considered as a second physiological receptor

for IGF2, while IR-B is very specific to insulin (Pandini et al., 2002). The IR-A isoform is expressed in fetal tissues and promotes cell growth in response to IGF1 and IGF2 (Frasca et al., 1999). Each of the IR isoforms is equally able to hybridise with the IGF1R, but isoform A has 1.7 fold more affinity for insulin than isoform B (Mosthaf et al., 1990) (Figure 1.4). Furthermore, hybrid receptors that result from the dimerization of the IGF1R and IR hybrid receptors have different affinities for IGF1, IGF2 and insulin. IGF1R/IR-A hybrids bind IGF1, IGF2, and insulin, while IGF1R/IR-B hybrids bind IGF1 with high affinity, IGF2 with low affinity and does not bind insulin (Pandini et al., 2002). Also, there is a heterodimer receptor which consists of both IR-A and IR-B (HIR-AB) (Pollak, 2012). IR is structurally and functionally related to IGF1R. The structural similarities allow formation of hybrid receptors in which an IGF1R ab-chain is connected to an IR-A or -B ab-chain. Hybrid receptors, particularly those incorporating IR-A, bind IGF1 and IGF2 with high affinity, which can result in both proliferative and anti-apoptotic responses (Pandini et al., 2002). Despite the similar structure and actions of IR and IGF1R, mice lacking IR have a 10-20% retardation of growth and are viable (Louvi et al., 1997), but mice lacking IGF1R have 50-60% growth retardation and die shortly after birth (Liu et al., 1993) which may indicate a compensating effect of IGF1R in the absence of IR during fetal development. Mice lacking both IR and IGF1R showed 70% growth retardation (Louvi et al., 1997).



Figure 1.4 Overview of different combinations of insulin receptor and type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor and their relationship with ligands (Pollak, 2012).

1.2.4 Insulin-like growth hormone binding proteins

Genes encoding IGFBPs are located on different chromosomes of cattle (Table 1.4). Locally produced IGFs and IGFBPs regulate tissue growth and differentiation. The IGFBPs are thought to modulate the action of IGFs in several ways, including (I) an inhibitory model in which IGFBPs sequester IGFs from their receptors, (II) an enhancing model in which IGFBPs transport IGFs to their site of action, or (III) by an IGF-receptor-independent model that may involve direct interaction of IGFBPs with IGFBP receptors (Allan et al., 2001; Cohen et al., 1993; Angervo et al., 1991).

Gene symbol	Chromosome number	Gene bank accession number	Length of the gene (bp)	IGF1/IGF2 affinity
IGFBP1	4	NW_003103902.1	4419	IGF1 = IGF2
IGFBP2	2	NW_001494682.3	28487	IGF1 < IGF2
IGFBP3	4	NT_181996.1	7984	IGF1 = IGF2
IGFBP4	19	NM_174557.3	11590	IGF1 = IGF2
IGFBP5	2	NM_001105327.1	3334	IGF1 < IGF2
IGFBP6	5	NM_001040495.1	3846	IGF1< IGF2
IGFBP7	6	NW_001495197.4	79393	Insulin>IGF1&IGF2
IGFBP8	9	NT_182009.1	3236	?

Table 1.4 Chromosomal locations of bovine insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and affinity to IGF1 and IGF2.

Around 99 % of circulating IGFs are bound to IGFBPs (Hossner et al., 1997). The modulation of IGF levels by IGFBPs is further regulated by IGFBP proteases which cleave high affinity IGFBPs into fragments with lower affinity for IGFs, thereby increasing free IGF bioavailability. This process leads to reduced inhibition of cell growth by IGFBPs (Conover et al., 1995). Each of IGFBPs can undergo proteolysis, which results in decreased affinity for IGFs. While some IGFBP proteases can use multiple IGFBPs as substrates, there are apparently proteases that are specific for individual IGFBPs (Schneider et al., 2002).

There are a limited number of IGFBP deletion models published that investigate the role during development and, in the mouse model, it seems that IGFBP deletion does not have severe effects (Firth and Baxter, 2002). IGFBP2 knockout mice showed no overall growth retardation, but they had smaller spleen and larger liver size than normal mice (Wood et al., 2000). Interestingly, IGFBP3 and IGFBP5 double knockout mice showed lower plasma IGF1 concentration, but heavier body weight, with greater relative organ weight, including kidneys and spleen, compared with normal adult mice (Murali et al., 2012). Over expression of

IGFBP1, IGFBP2 and IGFBP3 led to reduction in brain weight and abnormal brain development in mice (Silha and Murphy, 2002).

IGFBP1 was the first characterised member of the IGFBP family and was originally isolated from human amniotic fluid and temporarily termed "amniotic fluid-binding protein". The affinity of IGFBP1 is 5 -10 times higher to IGF1 than to IGF2 in human and rat (Kostecka and Blahovec, 2002). Also, IGFBP1 concentration in adult human serum is 100 times less than IGFBP3. It has been shown that IGFBP1 is expressed predominantly from liver in midgestation rat fetuses (E14) (Ooi et al., 1990), and mouse fetuses (Cerro et al., 1993). IGFBP3 is growth hormone-dependent and has similar affinity to both IGF1 and 2. This binding protein is the predominant IGFBP in the serum of postnatal animals (Forbes et al., 2012). Baxter et al., (1989) showed that IGFBP3 can bind and carry 75% of IGF1 and 2 in serum of human.

IGFBP4 is the smallest binding protein and is unique in that it has been consistently shown to inhibit IGF actions (Wetterau et al., 1999). It binds IGF1 and IGF2 with similar affinities and is expressed by a large range of cell types and tissues (Zhou et al., 2003). IGFBP6 has a 20-100 fold higher affinity to IGF2 than IGF1 and can be considered a specific inhibitor of IGF2 (Bach et al., 1991).

In addition to the IGFBPs, IGFBP-related proteins (IGFBP-rP) have also been described, leading to the proposal of an IGFBP superfamily (Hwa and Rosenfeld, 1999). There are a number of recognised members in the IGFBP-related protein family including IGFBP-rP1 (mac25 or IGFBP7), IGFBP-rP2 (connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) or IGFBP8), IGFBP-rP3 (NovH or IGFBP9) and IGFBP-rP4 (Cyr61 or IGFBP10) (Kim et al., 1997) which are considered as low affinity IGFBPs, and IGFBP related proteins (Figure 1.5). IGFBP7 is a

high-affinity insulin binding protein which blocks insulin binding to the insulin receptor and insulin action (Yamanaka et al., 1997). IGFBP8 is the least studied IGFBP and has been demonstrated to specifically bind IGFs with low affinity. It is considered to be a member of the IGFBP superfamily and key cytokine in the fibrogenesis of tissues and organs (Hwa et al., 1999). The amino acid sequence of IGFBP8 shares an overall 28–38% identity to IGFBPs and it contains conserved sequences in the amino terminus (Vorwerk et al., 2000). There are a number of studies demonstrating the importance of low affinity IGFBPs during development. IGFBP8-deficient mice showed perinatal death due to respiratory failure and generalised chondrodysplasia (Ivkovic et al, 2003). Also, IGFBP10 knockout mice showed lethality in the embryonic period or shortly after birth (24 hour) (Mo et al., 2002).



Figure 1.5 Insulin-like growth factor binding (IGFBP) family including high affinity IGFBPs and potential low affinity IGFBPs or IGFBP related proteins (rPs) (modified from Hwa and Rosenfeld, 1999).

1.2.5 Growth hormone and its receptor

The *GH* gene is located on bovine chromosome 19 and consists of 5 exons with total length of 1.6 kbp (NCBI accession number NW_001493688). *GH* gene expression is mainly from the pituitary gland and pituitary GH is a key stimulator of IGF1 production and also affects IGF2 production in liver (von Horn et al., 2002).

GH expression is not confined to the pituitary gland, and is also present in many extrapituitary tissues, postnatally, in which it may act as an autocrine or paracrine growth factor (Harvey, 2010). Among those tissues, placental GH seems to be important for growth and development of the fetus. Since placenta GH cannot be detected in the fetal circulation and only presents in maternal blood and amniotic fluid, the direct role of placental GH in prenatal development is still controversial (Skottner, 2012; Edmonson et al., 1995; Garcia-Aragon et al., 1992). Spencer et al. (1995) measured umbilical blood concentrations of IGF1 and GH in normal and growth retarded human newborns, finding that IGF1, but not GH, is significantly lower in growth retarded individuals.

Fetal pituitary produces GH from the second trimester in some species including human, cow and sheep (Waters and Kaye, 2002). However, GH deficient mice, due to mutations in the genes encoding GH-releasing hormone receptor, showed normal birth weight (Efstratiadis, 1998). In sheep, a transcript identical to pituitary GH mRNA is expressed in the placenta after D-27 of the first trimester of pregnancy (Lacroix et al., 1999). In humans, the pituitary *GH* gene (*GH1*) is not expressed in the placenta, but a placental *GH* (*GHV* or *GH2*) is transcribed and translated into several placental GH proteins (Harvey, 2010). In humans, both *GH1* and *GH2* are located next to each other on chromosome 17 with 98% homology (Vnencak-Jones et al., 1988) as well as in sheep (chromosome 11) (Vacca et al., 2013; Lacroix et al., 2002) and goats (Wallis et al., 1998). *GH1* secretion is pulsatile, while *GH2* has lower expression and is not pulsatile (Harvey, 2010). Furthermore, placenta GH can be detected from week 6 in maternal circulation, but not in the fetus, suggesting that it has no direct role in fetal development in human (Wu et al., 2003). Interestingly, there is not any known duplicated *GH* gene (or *GH2*) in mice and cattle (Skotner, 2012). GH actions are mediated through growth hormone receptor (GHR). Binding of GH to GHR initiates the transcription of many genes including IGF1 (Jiang et al., 2007).

It has been shown that *GHR* transcripts are present in fetal tissues in rat (Edmonson et al., 1995), cattle (Lucy et al., 1998) and human (Hill et al., 1988), which maybe an indicator of a possible prenatal role for GH. The GHR mediates the biological actions of GH on target cells by transducing the stimulating signal across the cell membrane and also inducing the transcription of many genes, including *IGF1* (Rotwein et al., 1991) (Figure 1.6). Upon binding of GH to GHR, signal transduction initiates with phosphorylation of cytosolic Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) which activates STAT pathways. STAT5b is directly involved in regulation of IGF1 transcription (Hwa et al., 2011).



Figure 1.6 Schematic representation of the IGF-GH axis. Most of anabolic actions of GH are mediated by IGF1, which is produced in many different tissues, with most circulating IGF1 being derived from the liver. IGF1 acts through the IGF1 receptor by autocrine, paracrine and classical endocrine mechanisms (modified from Hwa et al., 2011).

GHR and GH are closely related to a family of hormone-receptors include prolactin (PRL), prolactin receptor (PRLR) and placental lactogen (PL) (Kelly et al., 1991). There is a high degree of similarity between GH and PRL and their receptors (GHR and PRLR) amino acid sequences, gene structures and functions (Goffin and Kelly, 2001). It has been shown that GHR can be a receptor for PRL and PL hormones, and interestingly, GHR and PRLR can form a functional heterodimer receptor (Goffin and Kelly, 2001). Upon binding either of GH, PRL or PL to GHR, signal transduction initiates with phosphorylation of cytosolic Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) which activates STAT pathways (Figure 1.7) (Hwa et al., 2011).



Figure 1.7 The actions of growth hormone (GH), prolactin (PRL) and placental lactogen (PL) are mediated by prolactin receptor (PRLR) and growth hormone receptor (GHR) homodimers or heterodimers of PRLR and GHR that stimulate formation of STAT5 homodimers.

The *GHR* gene is located on bovine chromosome 20 and contains 9 coding exons (exons 2 to 10) spanning 173.71 kbp (NCBI accession number NC_007318). It has a long 5' non-coding region that includes nine untranslated exons, 1A–1I resulting in 9 variants of *GHR* mRNA (Jiang and Lucy 2001). Among them, only variants 1A, 1B and 1C are well characterised, with the existence of exons 1D–1I being based on rapid amplification of cDNA end analyses. Variants 1D-1I altogether account for only 10 % of overall *GHR* transcripts (Jiang and Lucy 2001). *GHR* transcripts have been detected in a variety of bovine adult tissues including liver, muscle, kidney, lung, mammary gland, adipose tissue, and fetal tissues of placenta, liver, lung, kidney and skeletal muscle, with the highest level of expression detected in liver (Jiang and Lucy 2001). Expression of *GHR-1A* mRNA is specific to the liver and *GHR-1A* mRNA is different from *GHR-1B* and *1C* mRNA because of its liver specificity and regulation by GH

(Butler et al., 2003). Knockout mice models showed no significant body size or weight effects among normal and GHR knockout newborns; however, GHR deficient mice (Laron mice) were significantly smaller 3 weeks after birth (Zhou et al., 1997). Laron mice had 90% less circulating IGF1, and interestingly these mice live significantly longer (up to 50%) than normal mice (Coschigano et al., 2000).

IGF system and *GH-IGF1* axis genes are described to be important for normal growth and development in several species. These genes and their transcripts have been studied in a range of developmental stages in human, mouse and cattle. To our knowledge, there is not a comprehensive study covering mRNA expression of the *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis genes in bovine. To capture an image of developmental changes of the *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis gene expression study across key developmental stages and different tissues is required. Such a study, would lead to a more effective understanding of the contribution of the *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis genes to the bovine heterosis model.

1.3 Epigenetics

In the 1940s, epigenetics was defined by Waddington as the study of alteration in the expression of genes during development in the absence of any change affecting the gene itself (Redei et al., 2006; Waddington, 1953). Epigenetic mechanisms regulate all biological processes from conception to death, including genome reprogramming during early embryogenesis and gametogenesis, cell lineage differentiation and maintenance of a committed lineage (Delcuve et al., 2009). Today, it is well established that epigenetic modification of the genome ensures proper gene expression during development (Ruvinsky, 1999). The epigenetic marks of germ cells which are of DNA methylation and histone modifications, changes dynamically during development (Sasaki and Matsui, 2008). In
mammals there are two periods in which methylation patterns and chromatin configuration are reprogrammed across genome; in germ cells and in preimplantation embryos (Reik et al., 2001). During germ cell development, epigenetic reprogramming of DNA methylation resets parent-of-origin specific marking of imprinted genes and restores totipotency to gametes. Immediately after fertilization, the paternal genome undergoes a genome-wide DNA demethylation while the maternal genome seems to be unaffected (Dean et al., 2003; Li, 2002).

Epigenetic mechanisms including genomic imprinting; X-chromosome inactivation and developmental stage and tissue specific gene silencing/activation depend on epigenetic modification including DNA methylation and histone modification. Epigenetic mechanisms are critical for normal development (Bernstein et al., 2007).

Another major regulatory mechanism that controls gene expression (Wang et al., 2007) is microRNA interference which is considered as a epigenetic mechanism, although many microRNA-mRNA interactions can be considered as epistasis.

1.3.1 DNA methylation and histone modifications

In mammals, DNA methylation occurs at the 5'-cytosine residues of CpG (cytosine phosphate diester guanine) dinucleotides, especially in CpG islands in the promoter regions of genes, and can result in gene silencing. CpG dinucleotides are typically clustered in GC rich regions termed CpG islands (Walsh and Bestor, 1999). The complementary strand of 3'GpC 5' is methylated and with the CpG together, exhibit a three dimensional structure prominent in the major groove of the double stranded DNA. In most mammals, 60-90% of all CpG sequences in the genome are methylated which equates to approximately 3×10^7 methylated cytosines).

The methylation profile of DNA is maintained after each replication by methyltransferases, thus DNA methylation becomes a heritable feature. Methylation of DNA has an effect on expression of individual genes, but can also contribute to regulatory mechanisms that involve a large segment of DNA that may contain a cluster of genes (Bestor, 2000).

The histone proteins that constitute the main body of nucleosomes are modified by several chemical changes such as acetylation, methylation, phosporylation, and ubiquitination. These epigenetic modifications correlate with chromatin structure and the expression or repression of genes. Distinct histone modifications can influence each other and may also interact with DNA methylation (Bernstein et al., 2007). Similar to the genetic code which consists of nucleotides, there is a histone code that has a fundamental regulatory effect on tissue specific gene expression during development (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001; Rice and Allis, 2001). This code can be read by regulatory proteins to affect transcription, chromosome condensation and replication during mitosis. The histone code can explain a possible link between chemical modification of histones and epigenetic regulation of gene expression (Godde and Ura, 2008).

1.3.2 RNA associated silencing

Biological dissection of RNA silencing processes in many eukaryotes indicates that multiple pathways operate to control the expression of target genes, often in a development or tissuespecific manner (McFarlane and Wilhelm, 2010, Raybak, 2009; Stefani and Slack, 2008). Recent work has demonstrated that small RNAs are involved in suppressing the translation of coding genes (Hsu et al., 2006). Small RNAs are non-protein-coding RNAs, including small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), microRNAs (miRNAs), short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and small double-stranded RNAs (Kawaji and Hayashizaki, 2008; Mattick and Makunin, 2005). Messenger RNA degradation, translational repression or heterochromatin formation are three mechanisms which define RNA-mediated silencing (Figure 1.8). It involves a small doublestranded RNA (dsRNA), such as siRNA or miRNA. Short interfering RNAs have been found to be the trigger of an evolutionary conserved mechanism known as RNA interference (RNAi) (Wilson and Doudna, 2013; Morris, 2008).



Figure 1.8 mRNA degradation pathway of RNAi. Dicer dimers cleave dsRNAs to form small-interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and siRNAs are incorporated in the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). Unwinding of siRNAs activates RISC therefore active RISC is guided to degrade the specific target mRNAs (Denli and Hannon, 2003).

Short RNAs are increasingly recognised to play multiple roles in affecting gene expression at many levels including RNA stability, translation, and quite possibly transcription and splicing (Ghildiyal and Zamore, 2009; Morris, 2008; Keene, 2007). These small RNAs are predicted to constitute almost 1% of the entire human genome and are assumed to be responsible for regulating up to one third of all mRNAs (Wang et al., 2007; Aravin and Tuschl, 2005). Coding sequences for small regulatory RNA molecules have been located throughout the genome and include intergenic, exonic and intronic regions (Kim and Kim, 2007).

1.3.2.1 MicroRNAs

MicroRNAs are 21-23 nucleotide regulatory RNAs, first discovered in 1993 in *Caenhorhabditis elegans* (Liu et al., 2009). MiRNAs are initially transcribed as pri-miRNAs, can be several kilobases in length and contain a characteristic hairpin loop structure (Lee et al., 2004; 2002). Pre-miRNAs transcripts are cleaved by the RNase III endonuclease Drosha which works in combination with its co-factor DGCR8 to produce a ~70 nucleotide stem-loop intermediate precursor miRNA (Kim, 2004). Following Drosha cleavage, the pre-miRNA stem-loop structure is exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 through a Ran- GTP mechanism (Yi et al., 2002). There appear to be two main mechanisms by which miRNAs impose translational regulation on their specific mRNA target(s): repression and cleavage/degradation (Wang et al., 2007) (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.9 Graphical representation of microRNA synthesis, target recognition and inhibition (Fiedler, 2008).

The majority of miRNAs target sites are within the 3'UTR of mRNA molecules (Didiano and Hobert, 2008; Brennecke et al., 2005). By targeting the mRNA of protein-coding genes, miRNAs play a critical role in a variety of biological processes like development, cell growth, proliferation, lineage determination and metabolism (Cai et al., 2009; Morris, 2008; Filipowicz et al., 2008; Alvarez-Garcia et al., 2005). MiRNA studies in model invertebrates showed that small RNA molecules are involved in cell proliferation, control of developmental timing, left – right patterning, fat metabolism and apoptosis (Bartel, 2004). Experimental data and computational prediction suggested that each miRNA may potentially target multiple (ten to hundreds) mRNAs which indicates that over 30% of all human genes may be regulated by miRNAs (Rybak et al., 2009; Cheng et al., 2009). In mammals, miRNAs have been shown to regulate a large number of pathways including B-cell differentiation (Chen et al., 2004), adipocyte differentiation (Esau et al., 2004) and insulin secretion (Poy et al., 2004). Knockout of the miRNA-producing enzyme Dicer1 in mice leads to lethality early in development, where embryos died before D-8 of gestation and did not develop any cell lineage. This is a clear indicator of the crucial roles of miRNAs in early development (Bernstein et al., 2003). A miRNA profiling study in bovine D-30 embryo showed that some miRNAs are differentially expressed among different tissues including thymus, small intestine and mesenteric lymph node (Coutinho et al., 2007). Another study on D-17 bovine embryo showed that some miRNA are differentially expressed between IVF and cloned embryos (Castro et al., 2010).

MiRNAs can target multiple mRNA molecules because of multiple recognition sequences inside of 3'UTR for target genes (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2006). This multiple recognition is due to the small area of pairing to the 5' region of the miRNA centered on nucleotides 2–7, which is called the miRNA "seed" (Figure 1.10) (Bartel, 2009; Brennecke et al., 2003). The seed region is the most conserved region of mammalian miRNA (Lim et al., 2003) and is considered to be very important to target recognition (Brennecke et al., 2003). Complete matching of seed nucleotides is an essential condition to form RISC complex and silencing procedure. It is crucial to uncover the functions of miRNAs by identifying their targets sites.



Figure 1.10 Position of seed region in a mature miRNA (Brennecke et al., 2003).

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) can potentially create or eliminate the target recognition site of a miRNA in the target mRNA. A SNP inside a pre-miRNA sequence (stem and loop), or in the seed region, can change the secondary structure and consequently impact the maturation process of a miRNA. On the other hand, a SNP can either create a new target site for a miRNA or eliminate an existing target site. Recent findings have linked miRNA SNPs to human diseases and phenotypic variations in farm animals. Hiard et al. (2010) introduced "The Patrocles database" (http://www.patrocles.org/), a database which consists of SNPs that are predicted to perturb miRNA gene regulation. A G to A mutation in 3'UTR of ovine myostatin gene generated a new target site for 2 miRNAs in Texel sheep (Clop et al., 2006). It has been shown that two miRNAs (MiR-1 and miR-206), which are strongly expressed in muscle tissue, inhibit translation of myostatin gene and are responsible for muscle hypertrophy found in Texel sheep (Bignell, 2010).

1.3.2.2 MiRNAs and regulation of IGF system genes

It has been shown that miRNAs regulate IGF system genes and that let-7b is a major regulator of *GHR* expression in chicken (Lin et al., 2012). Elia et al. (2009) described a critical role of miR-1 in mediating the effects of the IGF1 pathway in human heart and skeletal muscle and demonstrated a feedback loop between miR-1 expression and the IGF1 signal transduction cascade. Ge et al. (2011) demonstrated that IGF2 is a critical regulator of skeletal myogenesis in mouse and is a direct target of miR-125b. There is a target site for miR-125 in the 3'UTR of mouse *IGF2* and biogenesis of this myogenic miRNA is negatively correlated with production of IGF2. It has been shown that miR-223 has a functional target in the *IGF1R* 3'UTR and can suppress proliferation of HeLa cells (Jia et al., 2011). Interestingly, Jia et al. (2011) showed knockdown of *IGF1R* mimicked miR-223 inhibition and decreased cell viability. Let-7 and Lin28 miRNAs has been shown to regulate glucose metabolism pathways in the mouse model. Overexpression of these two miRNAs can repress multiple components of the insulin pathway including IGF1R and IR (Zhu et al., 2011).

1.3.2.3 Prediction of miRNA target sites

Since experimental identification of miRNA targets is difficult and time consuming, computer software (e.g. TargetScan, http://targetscan.org) to predict target sites was developed. Seed region base pairing has been shown to be a reliable strategy to predict targets based on perfect complementary pairing (Lewis et al., 2005; 2003). Several web-based algorithms are available targets, for computational prediction of miRNA which include TargetScan (http://www.targetscan.org), miRanda (http://www.microrna.org) and PicTar (http://www.pictar.org). Also, experimentally validated microRNA target sites are available at TarBase, miRecords and miRTarBase (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011).

MiRBase is the primary repository and database resource for miRNA data. The database has three main functions including miRNA registry, sequence of miRNA loci and their target sites (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2007). MiRBase has been developing since 2002 and started with 218 miRNA sequence in version 1.0. Currently, based on the latest version of MiRBase (version 19.0, Aug 2012), more than 25,141 mature miRNAs in 193 species, ranging from viruses to humans, have been identified (www.mirbase.org, 2013) of which 766 are classified as bovine, specifically *Bos taurus*. The majority of these miRNAs have been identified based only on sequence similarity to known vertebrate miRNA orthologs and have never been confirmed experimentally. However, there is an increasing number of studies describing prediction, cloning and experimental validation of novel miRNAs in cattle (Muroya et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2011; Glazov et al., 2009).

The profiling of miRNA expression patterns, functional analysis and validation experiments continues to be an evolving and active area of research because there are tissue specific miRNA types which need to be tested in different developmental stages (Dunn et al., 2009; Strozzi et al., 2009).

1.4 Hypothesis and objectives

Despite the rediscovery of heterosis about a century ago, and the suggestion of various genetic models to explain this phenomenon, the mechanism(s) underlying heterosis have remained elusive to scientists. IGF1 is a suitable candidate to investigate the mechanism of heterosis in a bovine model as it is a member of the IGF system and the GH-IGF1 axis which are responsible for pre- and postnatal growth and development. This axis has been studied in a number of species, but there are still significant gaps in knowledge about developmental- and tissue-specific expression patterns of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis genes in mammals in

general and bovine in particular. In addition, the roles of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis transcripts and their epigenetic regulators including microRNAs in heterosis have not yet been described.

The hypotheses to be tested are:

- 1. IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis genes contribute to heterosis in a bovine fetal model.
- 2. MicroRNAs are involved in heterosis by regulation of transcription in the IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis.

The objectives of this study were:

- 1. Evaluation of tissue specific changes in transcript abundance of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis genes, including *IGF1, IGF1 class1, IGF1 class2, IGF1R, IGFBP1, IGFBP2, IGFBP3, IGFBP4, IGFBP5, IGFBP6, IGFBP7, IGFBP8, IR, IR-A, IR-B, GHR, GHR-1A, GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* transcripts across key embryonic, fetal and postnatal developmental stages in a bovine model.
- 2. Determine effects of heterosis, fetal genetics and sex on expression profile of selected fetal liver miRNAs which target *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis transcripts. Determine if expression levels of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis gene transcripts contribute to heterosis by investigating the association between IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis transcripts and fetal phenotypes including bovine fetus and fetal organs.

1.5 References

Adamo M L, Ma X, Ackert-Bicknell C L, Donahue L R, Beamer W G and Rosen C J. 2006. Genetic increase in serum insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in C3H/HeJ compared with C57BL/6J mice is associated with increased transcription from the IGF-I exon 2 promoter. J Endocrinol, 147: 2944–2955.

Alexander T, Stephanie M and Stefan S. 2009. Heterosis in plants: Manifestation in early seed development and prediction approaches to assist hybrid breeding. Chinese Sci Bull, 54: 2363-2375.

Allan G J, Flint D J and Patel K. 2001. Insulin-like growth factor axis during embryonic development. Reproduction, 122: 31-39.

Alvarez-Garcia I and Misk E A. 2005. MicroRNA functions in animal development and human disease. Development, 132: 4653-4662.

Amarger V, Nguyen M, Van Laere A C, Braunschweig M, Nezer C and Georges M. 2002. Comparative sequence analysis of the INS-IGF2-H19 gene cluster in pigs. Mamm Genome, 13: 388 - 398.

Amen T S, Herring A D, Sanders J O and Gill C A. 2007. Evaluation of reciprocal differences in *Bos indicus* \times *Bos taurus* backcross calves produced through embryo transfer: II. Postweaning, carcass, and meat traits. J Anim Sci., 85(2): 373-379.

Angervo M, Koistine R, Suikkari A M and Seppala M. 1991. Insulin like growth factor binding protein-1 inhibits DNA amplification induced by insulin-like growth factor I in human granulosa–luteal cells. Hum Reprod, 6: 770–773.

Aravin A and Tuschl T. 2005. Identification and characterization of small RNAs involved in RNA silencing. FEBS Lett, 579: 5830-5840.

Asvold B O, Eskild A, Jenum P A and Vatten L J. 2011. Maternal concentrations of insulinlike growth factor I and insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1 during pregnancy and birth weight of offspring. Am J Epidemiol, 174(2): 129-35.

Bach M A, Shen-Orr Z, Lowe Jr. W L, Roberts Jr. C T and LeRoith D. 1991. Insulin-like growth factor I mRNA levels are developmentally regulated in specific regions of the rat brain. Mol Brain Res, 10: 43 – 48.

Baker J, Liu J P, Robertson E J and Efstratiadis A. 1993. Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth. Cell, 75: 73 – 82.

Bartel D P. 2004. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell, 116: 281–297.

Bartel D P. 2009. MicroRNAs: Target Recognition and Regulatory Functions. Cell, 136: 215-233.

Baxter R C, Martin J L and Beniac V A. 1989. High molecular weight insulin-like growth factor binding complex. Purification and properties of the acid-labile subunit from human serum. J Biol Chem, 264: 11843–11838.

Bebbere D, Bauersachs S, Fürst R W, Reichenbach H D, Reichenbach M, Medugorac I, Ulbrich S E, Wolf E, Ledda S and Hiendleder S. 2013. Tissue-specific and minor inter-

individual variation in imprinting of IGF2R is a common feature of bos taurus concepti and not correlated with fetal weight. PLoS One, 8(4): e59564.

Bernstein E, Kim S Y, Carmell M A, Murchison E P, Alcorn H, Li M Z, Mills A A, Elledge S J, Anderson K V and Hannon G J. 2003. Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat Genet, 35: 215 – 217.

Bernstein B E, Meissner A and Lander E S. 2007. The Mammalian Epigenome. Cell, 128(4): 669-681.

Bestor T H. 2000. The DNA methyltransferases of mammals. Hum Mol Genet, 9(16): 2395-2402.

Bignell C W, Malau-Aduli A E O, Nichols P D, McCulloch R and Kijas J W. 2010. East Friesian sheep carry a Myostatin allele known to cause muscle hypertrophy in other breeds. Anim Genet, 41: 445–448.

Birchler J A, Auger D L and Riddle N C. 2003. In search of the molecular basis of heterosis. Plant Cell, 15: 2236-2239.

Bourdon R M. 2000. Understanding Animal Breeding. 2nd Edition. Prentice-Hall, Inc. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey.

Boyne M S, Thame M, Bennett F I, Osmond C, Miell J P and Forrester T E. 2003. The relationship among circulating insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF-binding proteins-1 and -2, and birth anthropometry: a prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 88(4): 1687-91.

Brennecke J, Hipfner D R, Stark A, Russell R B and Cohen S M. 2003. Bantam encodes a developmentally regulated microRNA that controls cell proliferation and regulates the proapoptotic gene hid in Drosophila. Cell, 113: 25-36.

Brennecke J, Stark A, Russell R B and Cohen S M. 2005. Principles of microRNA-target recognition. PloS Biology, 3: e85.

Brown M A, Brown Jr A H, Jackson W G and Miesner J R. 1997. Genotype-Environment interactions in Angus, Brahman, and reciprocal cross cows and their calves grazing common Bermudagrass and endophyte-infected tall fescue pastures. J Anim Sci, 75: 920–925.

Brown M A, Tharel T L, Brown Jr A H, Jackson W G and Miesner J R. 1993. Genotype x environment interactions in preweaning traits of purebred and reciprocal cross Angus and Brahman calves on common bermudagrass and endophyte-infected tall fescue pastures. J Anim Sci, 71: 326-333.

Budak H, Cesurer L, Bolek Y, Dokuyuku T and Akaya A. 2002. Understanding of heterosis. J Sci Eng, 5 (2): 68-75.

Butler S T, Marr A L, Pelton S H, Radcliff R P, Lucy M C and Butler W R. 2003. Insulin restores GH responsiveness during lactation-induced negative energy balance in dairy cattle: effects on expression of IGF-I and GH receptor 1A. Journal of Endocrinology, 176(2): 205–217.

Cai Y, Yu X, Hu S and Yu J. 2009. A brief review on the mechanisms of miRNA regulation. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics, 7(4): 147-54. Caldwell L C, Chase C C, Riley D G, Coleman S W, Phillips W A, Spicer L J, Welsh T H, and Randel R D. 2011. The influence of tropical adaptation on plasma concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I in purebred and crossbred beef cattle. J Anim Sci, 89: 4017-4022.

Casas E, Shackelford S D, Keele J W, Stone R T, Kappes S M and Koohmaraie M. 2000. Quantitative trait loci affecting growth and carcass composition of cattle segregating alternate forms of myostatin. J Anim Sci, 78: 560-569.

Castro F O, Sharbati S, Rodríguez-Alvarez L L, Cox J F, Hultschig C and Einspanier R. 2010. MicroRNA expression profiling of elongated cloned and in vitro-fertilized bovine embryos. Theriogenology, 73: 71-85.

Cerro J A, Grewal A, Wood T L and Pintar J E. 1993. Tissue-specific expression of the insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP) mRNAs in mouse and rat development. Regul Pept, 48: 189–198.

Chase C C Jr., Riley D G, Olson T A, Coleman S W and Hammond A C. 2004. Maternal and reproductive performance of Brahman × Angus, Senepol × Angus, and Tuli × Angus cows in the subtropics. J Anim Sci, 82(9): 2764-72.

Chen C Z, Li L, Lodish H F and Bartel D P. 2004. MicroRNAs modulate hematopoietic lineage differentiation. Science, 303: 83 – 86.

Chen Z A. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of polyploidy and hybrid vigor. Trends Plant Sci, 15 (2): 57-71.

Cheng C, Bhardwaj N and Gerstein M. 2009. The relationship between the evolution of microRNA targets and the length of their UTRs. BMC Genomics, 10: 431.

Clop A, Marcq F, Takeda H, Pirottin D, Tordoir X, Bibe B, Bouix J, Caiment F, Elsen J-M, Eychenne F, Larzul C, Laville E, Meish F, Milenkovic D, Tobin J, Charlier C and Georges M. 2006. A mutation creating a potential illegitimate microRNA target site in the myostatin gene affects muscularity in sheep. Nat Genet, 38: 813–8.

Cohen P, Lamson G, Okajima T and Rosenfeld R G. 1993. Transfection of the human insulinlike growth factor binding protein-3 gene into Balb/c fibroblasts inhibits cellular growth. J Mol Endocrinol, 7: 380–386.

Cohick W S and Clemmons D R. 1993. The insulin-like growth factors. Annu Rev Physiol. 55: 131-53.

Comings D E and MacMurray J P. 2000. Molecular Heterosis: A Review. Mol Genet Metab. 71: 19–31.

Conover C A, Clarkson J T and Bale L K. 1995. Effect of glucocorticoid on insulin-like growth factor (IGF) regulation of IGF-binding protein expression in fibroblasts. Endocrinology, 136: 1403-1410.

Coschigano K T, Clemmons D, Bellush L L and Kopchick J J. 2000. Assessment of growth parameters and life span of GHR/BP gene-disrupted mice. Endocrinology, 141: 2608–2613.

Coutinho L L, Matukumalli L K, Sonstegard T S, Van Tassell C P, Gasbarre L C, Capuco A V and Smith T P L. 2007. Discovery and profiling of bovine microRNAs from immunerelated and embryonic tissues. Physiol Genomics, 29: 35-43.

Cundiff L V, Gregory K E, Wheeler T L, Shackelford S D and Koohmaraie M. 1994. Carcass and meat characteristics of Tuli, Boran, Brahman, Belgian Blue, Piedmontese, Hereford and Angus breed crosses in the cattle germplasm evaluation program. Proc 5th World Congr Genet Appl Livest Prod, 17: 272-275.

Cundiff L V, Nunez-Dominguez R, Dickerson G E, Gregory K E, Koch K M. 1992. Heterosis for lifetime production in Hereford, Angus, Shorthorn, and crossbred cows. J Anim Sci, 70(8): 2397-2410.

Curchoe C, Zhang S, Bin Y, Zhang X, Yang L, Feng D, O'Neill M and Tian C. 2005. Promoter-Specific Expression of the Imprinted IGF2 Gene in Cattle (Bos taurus). Biol Reprod, 73(6): 1275-1281.

Dean W, Santos F, Reik W. 2003. Epigenetic reprogramming in early mammalian development and following somatic nuclear transfer. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 14(1): 93-100.

DeChiara T M, Efstratiadis A and Robertson E J. 1990. A growth-deficiency phenotype in heterozygous mice carrying an insulin-like growth factor II gene disrupted by targeting. Nature, 345: 78-80.

Delcuve G P, Rastegar M and Davie J R. 2009. Epigenetic control. J Cell Physiol, 219: 243–250.

Denley A, Bonython E R, Booker G W, Cosgrove L J, Forbes B E, Ward C W and Wallace J C. 2004. Structural determinants for high-affinity binding of insulin-like growth factor II to insulin receptor (IR)-A, the exon 11 minus isoform of the IR. Mol Endocrinol, 18 (10): 2502 – 2512.

Denley A, Cosgrove L J, Booker G W, Wallace J C and Forbes B E. 2005. Molecular interactions of the IGF system. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 16: 421–439.

Denley A, Brierley G V, Carroll J M, Lindenberg A, Booker G W, Cosgrove L J, Wallace J C, Forbes B E, and Roberts C T Jr. 2006. Differential activation of insulin receptor isoforms by insulin-like growth factors is determined by the C domain. Endocrinology, 147(2): 1029-36.

Denli A M and Hannon G J. 2003. RNAi: an ever-growing puzzle. Trends Biochem Sci, 28(4): 196-201.

Dickerson G E. 1952. Inbred lines for heterosis tests? In: Heterosis. Ed. J. W. Gowen. Iowa State College Press, Ames.

Dickerson G E. 1969. Experimental approaches in utilizing breed resources. Anim Breed Abstr, 37: 191-202.

Dickerson G E. 1973. Inbreeding and heterosis in animals. J Anim Sci, 1973: 54-77.

Didiano D and Hobert O. 2008. Molecular architecture of a miRNA-regulated 3' UTR. RNA, 14(7): 1297-317.

Dindot S V, Farin P W, Farin C E, Romano J, Walker S, Long C and Piedrahita J A. 2004. Epigenetic and Genomic Imprinting Analysis in Nuclear Transfer Derived *Bos gaurus/Bos taurus* Hybrid Fetuses. Biol Reprod, 71(2): 470-478.

Ding D, Wang Y, Han M, Fu Z, Li W, Liu Z, Hu Y and Tang J. 2012. MicroRNA transcriptomic analysis of heterosis during maize seed germination. PLoS ONE, 7: e39578.

Drake D J and Phillips R L. 2006. Fundamentals of Beef Management. UCANR Publications. ISBN-13: 978-1-879906-73-0.

Dunn W, DuRaine G and Hari Reddi A. 2009. Profiling MicroRNA Expression in Bovine Articular Cartilage and Implications for Mechanotransduction. Arthritis and Rheumatism, 60(8): 2333–2339.

Edmonson S R, Werther G A, Russell A, Leroith D, Roberts Jr. C T and Beck F.1995. Localization of growth hormone receptor/binding protein messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) during rat fetal development: Relationship to insulin-like growth factor-I mRNA. Endocrinology, 136: 4602–4609.

Efstratiadis A. Genetics of mouse growth. 1998. Int J Dev Bio, 42: 955–976.

Elia L, Contu R, Quintavalle M, Varrone F, Chimenti C, Russo M A, Cimino V, De Marinis L, Frustaci A, Catalucci D and Condorelli G. 2009. Reciprocal regulation of microRNA-1 and insulin-like growth factor-1 signal transduction cascade in cardiac and skeletal muscle in physiological and pathological conditions. Circulation, 120: 2377-2385.

Elzo M A, Johnson D D, Wasdin J G and Driver J D. 2012. Carcass and meat palatability breed differences and heterosis effects in an Angus-Brahman multibreed population. J Meat Sci, 90: 87-92.

Esau C, Kang X, Peralta E, Hanson E, Marcusson E G, Ravichandran L V, Sun Y, Koo S, Perera R J and Jain R. 2004. MicroRNA-143 regulates adipocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem, 279: 52361 – 52365.

Fernandez A M and Torres-Aleman I. 2012. The many faces of insulin-like peptide signalling in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci, 13: 225-239.

Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya S N and Sonenberg N. 2008. Mechanisms of posttranscriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? Nat Rev Genet, 9: 102-114.

Firth S M and Baxter R C. 2002. Cellular actions of the insulin-like growth factor binding proteins. Endocr Rev, 23: 824–854.

Fitzsimmons C, Kruk Z, Lines D, Roberts C and Hiendleder S. 2008. Placental development in a bovine heterosis mode. Reprod Fertil Dev, 20(1): 131-131.

Forbes B E, McCarthy P and Norton R S. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor binding proteins: a structural perspective. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne), 3: 38.

Fowden A L. 2003. The insulin-like growth factors and feto-placental growth. Placenta, 24: 803–812.

Frasca F, Pandini G, Scalia P, Sciacca L, Mineo R, Costantino A, Goldfine I D, Belfiore A, Vigneri R. 1999. Insulin receptor isoform A, a newly recognized, high-affinity insulin-like growth factor II receptor in fetal and cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol, 19: 3278–3288.

Gallaher B W, Oliver M H, Eichorn K, Kessler U, Kiess W, Harding J E, Gluckman P D and Breier B W. 1994. Circulating insulin-like growth factor II/mannose-6-phosphate receptor and insulin-like growth factor binding proteins in fetal sheep plasma are regulated by glucose and insulin. Euro J Endocrinol, 131(4): 398-404.

Garcia-Aragon J, Lobie P E, Muscat G E O, Gobius K S, Norstedt G, Waters M J. 1992. Prenatal expression of the growth hormone receptor/binding protein in the rat: a role for growth hormone in embryonic and fetal development. Development, 114: 869–876.

Gasparin G, Miyata M, Coutinho L L, Martinez M L, Silva M V G B, Machado M A, Campos A L and Regitano L C A. 2005. Quantitative trait loci affecting birth weight on bovine chromosome 5 in a F2 Gyr \times Holstein population. Genet Mol Biol, 28:670-676.

Ge Y, Sun Y and Chen J. 2011. IGF-II is regulated by microRNA-125b in skeletal myogenesis. J Cell Biol, 192(1): 69–81.

Ghildiyal M and Zamore P D. 2009. Small silencing RNAs: an expanding universe. Nat Rev Genet, 10(2): 94-108.

Glazov E A, K Kongsuwan, W Assavalapsakul, P F Horwood, N Mitter, T J Mahony. 2009. Repertoire of bovine miRNA and miRNA-like small regulatory RNAs expressed upon viral infection. PLoS ONE, 4(7): e6349. Giannoukakis N, Deal C, Paquette J, Goodyer C G and Polychronakos C. 1993. Parental genomic imprinting of the human IGF2 gene. Nat Genet, 4: 98–101.

Goffin V and Kelly P A. 2001. Prolactin receptor. Cytokine Reference. Academic Press, USA: 1547-1562.

Goodall J J and Schmutz S M. 2003. Linkage mapping of IGF2 on cattle chromosome 29. Anim Genet, 34: 302–318.

Goodall J J and Schmutz S M. 2007. IGF2 gene characterization and association with rib eye area in beef cattle. Anim Genet, 38(2): 154-161.

Godde J S and Ura K. 2008. Cracking the enigmatic linker histone code. J Biochem, 143: 287 - 293

Gregory K E and Cundiff LV. 1980. Crossbreeding in beef cattle: Evaluation of systems. J Anim Sci, 51: 1224-1242.

Gregory K E, Cundiff L V and Koch R M. 1992. Breed effects and heterosis in advanced generations of composite populations for reproduction and maternal traits of beef cattle. J Anim Sci, 70: 656-672.

Gregory K E, Cundiff L V, Koch R M, Dikeman M E and Koohmaraie M. 1994. Breed effects, retained heterosis, and estimates of genetic and phenotypic parameters for carcass and meat traits of beef cattle. J Anim Sci, 72: 1174–1183.

Gregory K E, Cundiff L V, and Koch R M. 1999. Composite breeds to use heterosis and breed differences to improve efficiency of beef production. Tech. bull. No. 1875. USDA Agri Res Service, Nat Tech Info Serv, Springfield, Virginia.

Griffiths-Jones S, Grocock R J, van Dongen S, Bateman A, Enright AJ. 2006 . miRBase: microRNA sequences, targets and gene nomenclature. Nucleic Acids Res, 34: D140-D144.

Groszmann M, Greaves I K, Albertyn Z I, Scofield G N, Peacock W J and Dennis E S. 2011. Changes in 24-nt siRNA levels in Arabidopsis hybrids suggest an epigenetic contribution to hybrid vigor. PNAS, 108(6): 2617-2622.

Groszmann M, Greaves I K, Fujimoto R, Peacock W J and Dennis E S. 2013. The role of epigenetics in hybrid vigour. Trends in Genetics, In press.

Guo M, Rupe M A, Zinselmeier C, Habben J, Bowen B A and Smith O S. 2004. Allelic variation of gene expression in maize hybrids. Plant Cell, 16(7): 1707-1716.

Harvey S. 2010. Extrapituitary growth hormone. Endocr, 38: 335–359.

Hawkes C and S Kar. 2003. Insulin-like growth factor-II/mannose-6-phosphate receptor: widespread distribution in neurons of the central nervous system including those expressing cholinergic phenotype. J Comp Neurol, 458: 113-127.

Hiard S, Charlier C, Coppieters W, Georges M and Baurain D. 2010. Patrocles: a database of polymorphic miRNAmediated gene regulation in vertebrates. Nucleic Acids Research, Vol. 38, Database issue, D640–D651.

Hiendleder S, Lewalski H and Janke A. 2008. Complete mitochondrial genomes of *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* provide new insights into intra-species variation, taxonomy and domestication. Cytogenet Genome Res, 120: 150–6.

Hiendleder S, Wirtz M, Mund C, Klempt M, Reichenbach H D, Stojkovic M, Weppert M, Wenigerkind H, Elmlinger M and Lyko F. 2006. Tissue-specific effects of in vitro fertilization procedures on genomic cytosine methylation levels in overgrown and normal sized bovine fetuses. Biol Reprod, 75: 17–23.

Hill D J, Freemark M, Strain A J, Handwerger S and Milner R D G. 1988. Placental lactogen and growth hormone receptors in human fetal tissues: relationship to fetal plasma human placental lactogen concentrations and fetal growth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 66: 1283–90.

Hochholdinger F and Hoecker N. 2007. Towards the molecular basis of heterosis. Trends in Plant Sci, 12(9): 427-432.

Holland M D, Hossner K L, Williams S E, Wallace C R, Niswerder G D and Odde K G. 1997. Serum concentrations of insulin-like growth factors and placental lactogen during gestation in cattle I. Fetal profiles. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 14(4): 231-239.

Hossner K L, McCusker R H and Dodson M V. 1997. Insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins in domestic animals. J Anim Sci, 64: 1-15.

Hoyo C, Fortner K, Murtha A P, Schildkraut J M, Soubry A, Demark-Wahnefried W, Jirtle R L, Kurtzberg J, Forman M R, Overcash F, Huang Z and Murphy S K. 2012. Association of cord blood methylation fractions at imprinted insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF2), plasma IGF2, and birth weight. Cancer Causes Control, 23(4): 635-45.

Hsu P W C, H Huang, S Hsu, L Lin, A Tsou, C Tseng, P F Stadler, S Washietl and I L Hofacker. 2006. miRNAMap: genomic maps of microRNA genes and their target genes in mammalian genomes. Nucleic Acids Res, 34: 135–139.

Hu J F, Oruganti H, Vu T H and Hoffman A R. 1998. Tissue-specific imprinting of the mouse insulin-like growth factor II receptor gene correlates with differential allele-specific DNA methylation. Mol Endocrinol, 12 (2): 220-232.

Huang J, Ju Z, Li Q, Hou Q, Wang C, Li J, Li R, Wang L, Sun T, Hang S, Gao Y, Hou M and Zhong J .2011. Solexa sequencing of novel and differentially expressed microRNAs in testicular and ovarian tissues in Holstein cattle. Int J Biol Sci, 7(7): 1016-26.

Hwa V, Nadeau K, Wit J M, Rosenfeld R G. 2011. STAT5b deficiency: lessons from STAT5b gene mutations. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 25: 61–75.

Hwa V, Oh Y and Rosenfeld R G. 1999. The insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP) superfamily. Endocr Rev, 20: 761-787.

Ivkovic S, Yoon B S, Popoff S N, Safadi F F, Libuda D E, Stephenson R C, Daluiski A and Lyons K M. 2003. Connective tissue growth factor coordinates chondrogenesis and angiogenesis during skeletal development. Development, 130 (12): 2779–91.

Jenuwein T and Allis C D. 2001. Translating the histone code. Science, 293: 1074–1080.

Jia C Y, Li H H, Zhu X C, Dong Y W, Fu D, Zhao Q L, Wu W and Wu X Z. 2011. MiR-223 Suppresses Cell Proliferation by Targeting IGF-1R. PLoS ONE, 6(11): e27008. Jiang L I, Collins J, Davis R, Lin K-M, Decamp Dand Roach T. 2007. Use of a cAMP BRET sensor to characterize a novel regulation of cAMP by the sphingosine 1-phosphate/G13 pathway. J Biol Chem, 282: 10576–10584.

Jiang H and Lucy M C. 2001. Variants of the 5'-untranslated region of the bovine growth hormone receptor mRNA: isolation, expression and effects on translational efficiency. Gene, 265: 45-53.

Jones D F. 1917. Dominance of linked factors as a means of accounting for heterosis. Genetics, 2: 466–479.

Jones J I and D R Clemmons. 1995. Insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins: biological actions. Endocr Rev, 16: 3–34.

Kalm E, Reinsch N, Xu N, Thomsen H, Looft C, Grupe S, Brockmann G, Kuehn C. 1998. Mapping quantitative trait loci on cattle chromosome 2, 5, 10, 16, 18 and 23. Anim Genet, 29 (suppl.1): 62.

Kawaji H and Hayashizaki Y. 2008. Exploration of small RNAs. PLoS Genetics, 4(1): e22.

Keene J D. 2007. RNA regulons: coordination of post-transcriptional events. Nat Rev Genet, 8: 533-543.

Kelly P A, Ali S, Rozakis M, Goujon L, Nagano M, Pellegrini I, Gould D, Djiane J, Edery M, Finidori J and Postel-Vinay M C. 1991. The growth hormone/prolactin receptor family. Recent Prog Horm Res, 48:123–164.

Khatkar M S, Thomson P C, Tammen I and Raadsma H W. 2004. Quantitative trait loci mapping in dairy cattle: review and meta-analysis. Genet Sel Evol, 36: 163–190.

Killian J K, Nolan C M, Stewart N, Munday B L, Andersen N A, Nicol S and Jirtle R L. 2001. Monotreme IGF2 expression and ancestral origin of genomic imprinting. J Exp Zool, 291: 205-212.

Kim H S. 1997. Identification of a family of low-affinity insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs): Characterization of connective tissue growth factor as a member of the IGFBP superfamily. PNAS, 95(10): 5841.

Kim V N. 2004. MicroRNA precursors in motion: exportin-5 mediates their nuclear export. Trends Cell Biol, 14: 156-159.

Kim Y K and Kim V N. 2007. Processing of intronic microRNAs. Embo J, 26: 775-783.

Kirkpatrick B W, Becky M B and Gregory K E. 2000. Mapping quantitative trait loci for bovine ovulation rate. Mamm Genome, 11: 136-139.

Koch R M, Dickerson G E, Cundiff L V and Gregory K E. 1985. Heterosis Retained in Advanced Generations of Crosses among Angus and Hereford Cattle. J Anim Sci, 60: 1117-1132.

Kostecka Y and Blahovec J. 1999. Insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and their functions (minireview). Endocr Regul, 33: 90–94.

Kozomara A and Griffiths-Jones S. 2011. miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deep-sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res, 39(Database issue): D152–D157.

Kress D D and Nelsen T C. 1988. Crossbreeding beef cattle for western range environments. Nevada Agricultural Experiment Station, University of Nevada–Reno. WRCC-1 publication TB-88–1.

Lacroix M-C, Devinoy E, Cassy S, Servely J L, Vidaud M, Kann G. 1999. Expression of growth hormone and its receptor in the placental and feto-maternal environment during early pregnancy in sheep. Endocrinology, 140: 5587–5597.

Lacroix M C, Guibourdenche J, Frendo J L, Pidoux G and Evain-Brion D. 2002. Placental growth hormones. Endocrine, 19: 73-79.

Laron Z. 2001. Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1): a growth hormone. Mol Path, 54: 311-316.

Lee Y, Jeon K, Lee J T, Kim S, and Kim V N. 2002. MicroRNA maturation: stepwise processing and subcellular localization. Embo J, 21: 4663-4670.

Lee Y, Kim M, Han J, Yeom K H, Lee S, Baek S H and Kim V N. 2004. MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. Embo J, 23: 4051-4060.

Leger J, Oury J F, Noel M, Baron S, Benali K, Blot P and Czernichow P. 1996. Growth factors and intrauterine growth retardation. I. Serum growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF-II, and IGF binding protein 3 levels in normally grown and growth-retarded human fetuses during the second half of gestation. Pediatr Res, 40(1): 94-100.

LeRoith D, Werner H, Beitner-Johnson D, Roberts Jr C T. 1995. Molecular and cellular aspects of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. Endocr Rev, 16: 143 – 163.

Lewis B P, Shih I H, Jones-Rhoades M W, Bartel D P and Burge C B. 2003. Prediction of mammalian microRNA targets. Cell, 115: 787-798.

Lewis B P, Burge C B and Bartel D P. 2005. Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell, 120: 15–20.

Li E. 2002. Chromatin modification and epigenetic reprogramming in mammalian development. Nat Rev Genet, 3(9): 662-73.

Lien S, Karlsen A, Klemetsdal G, Vage D I, Olsaker I, Kungland H and Aasland M . 2000. A primary screen of the bovine genome for quantitative trait loci affecting twinning rate. Mamm Genome, 11: 877-882.

Lin S, Li H, Mu H, Luo W, Li Y, Jia X, Wang S, Jia X, Nie Q, Li Y and Zhang X. 2012. Let-7b regulates the expression of the growth hormone receptor gene in deletion-type dwarf chickens. BMC Genomics, 13: 306.

Lim L P, Lau N C, Weinstein E G, Abdelhakim A, Yekta S, Rhoades M W, Burge C B, and Bartel D P. 2003. The microRNAs of Caenorhabditis elegans. Genes Dev, 17: 991-1008.

Liu J P, Baker J, Perkins A S, Robertson E J and Efstratiadis A. 1993. Mice carrying null mutations of the genes encoding insulin-like growth factor I (Igf-1) and type-1 IGF receptor (Igf1r). Cell, 75: 59–72.

Liu H C, Hicks J A, Trakooljul N and Zhao S H. 2009. Current knowledge of microRNA characterization in agricultural animals. Anim Genet, 41: 225–231.

Louvi A, Accili D and Efstratiadis A. 1997. Growth-promoting interaction of IGF-II with the insulin receptor during mouse embryonic development. Dev Biol, 189: 33–48.

Lucy M C,Boyd C K, Koenigsfeld A K, and Okamura C S. 1998. Expression of somatotropin receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in bovine tissues. J Dairy Sci, 81: 1889–1895.

Ludwig T, Eggenschwiler J, Fisher P, D'Ercole J P, Davenport M L and Efstratiadis A. 1996. Mouse mutants lacking the type 2 IGF receptor (IGF2R) are rescued from perinatal lethality in Igf2 and Igf1r null backgrounds. Dev Biol, 177(2): 517-535.

Luna-Nevarez P, Rincon G, Medrano J F, Riley D G, Chase C C Jr, Coleman S W, Vanleeuwen D M, DeAtley K L, Islas-Trejo A, Silver G A and Thomas M G. 2011. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the growth hormone-insulin-like growth factor axis in straightbred and crossbred Angus, Brahman, and Romosinuano heifers: population genetic analyses and association of genotypes with reproductive phenotypes. J Anim Sci, 89(4): 926-34.

Lush J L. 1945. Animal Breeding Plans. Iowa State University Press, Ames.

Lush J L. 1946. Chance as a cause of changes in gene frequency within pure breeds of livestock. Am Nat, 80: 318-342.

Machado M B B, Alencar M M, Pereira A P, Oliveira H N, Casas E, Coutinho L L and Regitano L C A. 2003. QTL affecting body weight in a candidate region of cattle chromosome 5. Genet Mol Biol, 26: 259-265.

Maki R G. 2010. Small is beautiful: Insulin-like growth factors and their role in growth, development, and cancer. JCO, 28 (33): 4985-4995.

Mattick J S and Makunin I V. 2005. Small regulatory RNAs in mammals. Hum Mol Genet, 14(1): R121-R132.

McFarlane L and Wilhelm D. 2010. Non-coding RNAs in mammalian sexual development. Sex Dev, 3: 302–316.

Miller J R, Thomsen P D, Dixon S C, Tucker E M, Konfortov B A and Harbitz I. 1992. Synteny mapping of the bovine IGHG2, CRC and IGFl genes. Anim Genet, 23: 51-58.

Mo F E, Muntean A G, Chen C C, Stolz D B, Watkins S C and Lau L F. 2002. CYR61 (CCN1) is essential for placental development and vascular integrity. Mol Cell Biol, 22: 8709–8720.

Moody D E, Pomp D, Newman S and McNeil M D. 1996. Characterization of DNA polymorphisms in three populations of Hereford cattle and their associations with growth and maternal EPD in line 1 Herefords. J Anim Sci, 74: 1784-1793.

Moore K, Kramer J M, Rodriguez-Sallaberry C J, Yelich J V and Drost M. 2007. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) family genes are aberrantly expressed in bovine conceptuses produced in vitro or by nuclear transfer. Theriogenology, 68: 717–727.

Moore T and Haig D. 1991. Genomic imprinting in mammalian development: a parental tugof-war. Trends Genet, 7: 45-9.

Moller D E, Yokota A, Caro J F and Flier J S.1989. Tissue-specific expression of two alternatively spliced insulin receptor mRNAs in man. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 1263–1269.

Morris K V. 2008. Role of RNA in the regulation of gene expression. Nutr Rev. 66 Suppl, 1: S31-2.

Mosthaf L, Grako K, Dull T J, Coussens L, Ullrich A and McClain D A. 1990. Functionally distinct insulin receptors generated by tissue-specific alternative splicing. EMBO J, 9: 2409-2413.

Murali S G, Brinkman A S, Solverson P M, Pun W, Pintar J E and Ney D M. 2012. Exogenous GLP-2 and IGF-I induce a differential intestinal response in IGF binding protein-3 and -5 double knockout mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 302: G794–G804.

Muroya S, Taniguchi M, Shibata M, Oe M, Ojima K, Nakajima I, Chikuni K. 2013. Profiling of differentially expressed microRNA and the bioinformatic target gene analyses in bovine fast- and slow-type muscles by massively parallel sequencing. J Anim Sci, 91(1): 90-103.

Ohlsen S M, Lugenbeel K A, Wong E A. 1994. Characterization of the linked Ovine insulin and insulin-like growth factor-II genes. DNA Cell Biol, 13(4): 377-388.

Ooi G T, Orlowski C C, Brown A L, Becker R E, Unterman T G and Rechler M M. 1990. Different tissue distribution and hormonal regulation of messenger RNAs encoding rat insulin-like growth factor binding proteins -1 and -2. Mol Endocrinol, 4: 321–328.

Pandini G, Frasca F, Mineo R, Sciacca L, Vigneri R and Belfiore A. 2002. Insulin/insulin-like growth factor I hybrid receptors have different biological characteristics depending on the insulin receptor isoform involved. J Biol Chem, 277: 39684–39695.

Pavelic J, Matijevic T and Knezevic J. 2007. Biological and physiological aspects of action of insulin-like growth factor peptide family. Indian J Med Res, 125: 511–522.

Peacock F M and Koger M. 1980. Reproductive performance of Angus, Brahman, Charolais and crossbred dams. J Anim Sci, 50: 689-693.

Peacock F M, Koger M and Hodges E M. 1978. Weaning traits of Angus, Brahman, Charolais and F1 crosses of these breeds. J Anim Sci, 47: 366-369.

Pollak M. 2012. The insulin and insulin-like growth factor receptor family in neoplasia: an update. Nature reviews: Cancer, 12: 158-169.

Poy M N, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, Kuwajima S, Ma X, Macdonald P E, Pfeffer S, Tuschl T, Rajewsky N, Rorsman P. 2004. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. Nature, 432: 226–230.

Prayaga K C. 2003. Evaluation of beef cattle genotypes and estimation of direct and maternal genetic effects in a tropical environment. 2. Adaptive and temperament traits. Aust J Agric Res, 54(10): 1027 – 1038.

Rajkumar K, Barron D, Lewitt M S and Murphy L J. 1995. Growth retardation and hyperglycemia in insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 transgenic mice. Endocrinology, 136(9): 4029-34.

Raybak A, Fuchs H, Hadian K, Smirnova L, Wulczyn E A, Michel G, Nitsch R, Krappmann D and Wulczyn F G. 2009. The let-7 target gene mouse lin-41 is a stem cell specific E3 ubiquitin ligase for the miRNA pathway protein Ago2. Nat Cell Biol, 11(12): 1411–20.

Randhawa R and Cohen P. 2005. The role of the insulin-like growth factor system in prenatal growth. Mol Genet Metab, 86(1-2): 84-90.

Redei G P, Koncz C and Philipse J D. 2006. Changing images of the gene. Adv in Genet, 56: 53-100.

Reik W, W Dean and Walter J. 2001. Epigenetic reprogramming in mammalian development. Science, 293(5532): 1089-1093.

Rice J C and Allis C D. 2001. Code of silence. Nature, 414: 258–261.

Riley D G, Chase C C, Coleman S W and Olson T A. 2007. Evaluation of birth and weaning traits of Romosinuano calves as purebreds and crosses with Brahman and Angus. J Anim Sci, 85: 289-298.

Riley D G, Chase C C, Coleman S W, Phillips W A, Miller M F, Brooks J C, Johnson D D and Olson T A. 2012. Genetic effects on carcass quantity, quality and palatability traits in straightbred and crossbred Romosinuano steers. J Anim Sci, 90: 2159-2166. Robinson O W, McDaniel B T and Rincon E J. 1981. Estimation of direct and maternal additive and heterotic effects from crossbreeding experiments in animals. J Anim Sci, 52: 44-50.

Robinson H F, Comstock R E, Khalil A and Harvey P H. 1956. Dominance versus overdominance in heterosis. Am Nat, 90 (851): 127-131.

Rothschild M F, Messer L A and Vincent A. 1997. Molecular approaches to improved pig fertility. J Reprod Fertil, 52: 227-236.

Rotwein P. 1991. Structure, Evolution, Expression and egulation of Insulin-Like Growth Factors I and II. Growth Factors, 5: 3-18.

Ruvinsky A. 1999. Basics of gametic imprinting. J Anim Sci. 77: 228-237.

Sacco R E, Baker J F, Cartwright T C, Long C R and Sanders J O. 1991. Heterosis retention for birth and weaning characters of calves in the third generation of a five-breed diallel. J Anim Sci, 69(12): 4754-62.

Sanghera G S, Wani S H, Hussain W, Shafi W, Haribhushan A, Singh N B. 2011. The Magic of Heterosis: New Tools and Complexities. Nat Sci, 9(11): 42-53.

Sasaki H and Matsui Y. 2008. Epigenetic events in mammalian germ-cell development: reprogramming and beyond. Nat Rev Genet, 9(2): 129-40.

Schneider M R, Wolf E, Heflick A and Lalum H. 2002. IGF-binding protein-5: flexible player in the IGF system and effector on its own. J Endocrinol, 172: 423–440.

Sellier P. 2000. Genetically caused retarded growth in animals. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 19: 105-119.

Sheridan A K. 1981. Crossbreeding and heterosis. Anim Breed Abstr, 49: 131-144.

Silha J V and Murphy L J. 2002. Minireview: Insights from insulin-like growth factor binding protein transgenic mice. Endocrinology, 143(10): 3711–3714.

Silveira P P, Portella A K, Goldani M Z, and Barbieri M A. 2007. Developmental origins of health and disease (DOHaD). J Pediatr, 83(6): 494-504.

Simm G. 1998. Genetic improvement of cattle and sheep. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.

Sjogren K, Liu J, Blad K, Skrtic S, Vidal O, Wallenius V, Leroith D, Törnell J, Isaksson O, Jansson J and Ohlsson C. 1999. Liver-derived insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) is the principle source of IGF-I in blood but is not required for postnatal body growth in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A., 96: 7088–7092.

Skottner A. 2012. Biosynthesis of Growth Hormone and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I and the Regulation of their Secretion. Open Endocrinol J, 6(Suppl 1: M2): 3-12.

Spencer J A, Chang T C, Jones J, Robson S C and Preece M A. 1995. Third trimester fetal growth and umbilical venous blood concentrations of IGF-1, IGFBP-1, and growth hormone at term. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 73(2): F87-90.

Stefani G and Slack F J. 2008. Small non-coding RNAs in animal development. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 9(3): 219-30.
Strozzi F, Mazza R, Malinverni R, and Williams J L. 2009. Annotation of 390 bovine miRNA genes by sequence similarity with other species. Anim Genet, 40: 124–126.

Taylor J F, Coutinho L L, Herring K L, Gallagher D S, Brenneman R A, Burney N, Sanders J O, Turner J W, Smith S B, Miller R K, Savell J W and Davis S K. 1998. Candidate gene analysis of GH1 for effects on growth and carcass composition of cattle. Anim Genet, 29: 194–201.

Vacca G M, Dettori M L, Balia F, Luridiana S, Mura C M, Carcangiu V and Pazzola M. 2013. Sequence polymorphisms at the growth hormone GH1/GH2-N and GH2-Z gene copies and their relationship with dairy traits in domestic sheep (*Ovis aries*). Mol Biol Rep. DOI 10.1007/s11033-013-2629-9.

Van Laere A S, Nguyen M, Braunschweig M, Nezer C, Collette C, Moreau L, Archibald A L, Haley C S, Buys N, Tally M, Andersson G, Georges M and Andersson L. 2003. A regulatory mutation in IGF2 causes a major QTL effect on muscle growth in the pig. Nature, 425: 832– 836.

Vnencak-Jones C L, Phillips J A, Chen E Y, Seeburg P H. 1988. Molecular basis of human growth hormone deletions. PNAS USA, 85: 5615-5619.

Von Horn H, Ekstrom C, Ellis E, Olivecrona H, Einarsson C, Tally M, Ekstrom TJ. 2002. GH is a regulator of IGF2promoter-specific transcription in human liver. J Endocrinol. 172(3): 457-65.

Vorwerk P, Wex H, Hohmann B, Oh Y, Rosenfeld R G, Mittler U. 2000. CTGF (IGFBP-rP2) is specifically expressed in malignant lymphoblasts of patients with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL). Br J Cancer. 83(6): 756-60.

Waddington C H. 1953. Epigenetics and evolution. Symp Soc Exp Boil. 7: 186-199.

Wallis M, Lioupis A and Wallis O C. 1998. Duplicate growth hormone genes in sheep and goat. J of Mol Endocrinol, 21: 1–5.

Walsh C P and Bestor T H. 1999. Cytosine methylation and mammalian development. Genes Dev 13: 26-34.

Wang H and S C Elbein. 2007. Detection of allelic imbalance in gene expression using pyrosequencing. Methods Mol Biol. 373: 157-76.

Wang L M, Feng H L, Cang M, Li H J, Yan Z H, Zhou P, Wen J X, Bou S, Liu D J. 2009. Expression of IGF receptors and its ligands in bovine oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Anim Reprod Sci, 114: 99–108.

Wang Y, Price S E and Jiang H. 2003. Cloning and characterization of the bovine class 1 and class 2 insulin-like growth factor-I mRNAs. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 25 (4): 315-328.

Wang Y, Stricker H M, Gou D and Liu L. 2007. MicroRNA: past and present. Front Biosci, 12: 2316-2329.

Waters M J and Kaye P L. 2002. The role of growth hormone in fetal development. Growth Horm IGF Res, 12(3): 137-46.

Weinstein L S. 2001. The role of tissue-specific imprinting as a source of phenotypic heterogeneity in human disease. Biol Psychiatry, 50(12): 927-931.

Wetterau L A, Moore M G, Lee K W, Shim M L and Cohen P. 1999. Novel aspects of the insulin-like growth factor binding proteins. Mol Genet Metab, 68: 161–181.

Wilson R C and Doudna J A. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of RNA interference. Annu Rev Biophys, 42: 217-39.

Wood T L, Rogler L E, Czick M E, Schuller A G and Pintar J E. 2000. Selective alterations in organ sizes in mice with a targeted disruption of the insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2 gene. Mol Endocrinol, 14: 1472–1482.

Wrenzycki C and Niemann H. 2003. Epigenetic reprogramming in early embryonic development: effects of in-vitro production and somatic nuclear transfer. Reprod BioMed Online, 7(6): 649–656.

Wu Z, Bidlingmaier M, Friess S C, Kirk S E, Buchinger P, Schiessl B and Strasburger C J. 2003. A new nonisotopic, highly sensitive assay for the measurement of human placental growth hormone: development and clinical implications. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 88: 804–811.

Wutz A, Smrzka O W, Schweifer N, Schellander K and Wagner E F. 1997. Imprinted expression of the Igf2r gene depends on an intronic CpG island. Nature, 389: 745–749.

Yamanaka Y, Wilson E M, Rosenfeld R G and Oh Y. 1997. Inhibition of insulin receptor activation by insulin-like growth factor binding proteins. J Biol Chem, 272: 30729–30734.

Yao J, Aggrey S E, Zadworny D, Hayes J F and Kühnlein U. 1996. Sequence variations in the bovine growth hormone gene characterized by Single-Strand Conformation Polymorphism (SSCP) analyses and their association with milk production traits in Holstein. Genetics, 144: 1809-1816.

Yi R, Qin Y, Macara I G and Cullen B R. 2003. Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev, 17: 3011-3016.

Zhang S, Kubota C, Yang L, Zhang Y, Page R, O'Neill M, Yang X and Tian X C. 2004. Genomic imprinting of H19 in naturally reproduced and cloned cattle. Biol Reprod, 71: 1540-1544.

Zhang J, Zhang G, Yang R, Niu S, Bai W, Liu D and Xing S. 2011. Cloning and characterization of four new splice variants of insulin-like growth factor-I gene in Chinese red steppes. J Anim Vet Adv, 10(18): 2459-2464.

Zhang Q, Zhou Z Q and Yang G P. 1996. Molecular marker heterozygosity and hybrid performance in indica and Japonica rice. Theory Appl Genet, 93: 1218–1224.

Zhou R, Diehl D, Hoeflich A, Lahm H and Wolf E. 2003. IGF-binding protein-4: biochemical characteristics and functional Consequences. Endocrinology, 178: 177–193.

Zhou Y, Xu B C, Maheshwari H G and He H. 1997. A mammalian model for the Laron syndrome produced by targeted disruption of the mouse growth hormone receptor/binding protein gene (the Laron mouse). PNAS USA, 94: 13215–20.

Zhu H, Shyh-Chang N, Segre A V, Shinoda G, Shah S P, Einhorn W S, Takeuchi A, Engreitz J M, Hagan J P, Kharas M G, Urbach A, Thornton J E, Triboulet R,Gregory R I; DIAGRAM Consortium; MAGIC Investigators, Altshuler D and Daley G Q. 2011. The Lin28/let-7 axis regulates glucose metabolism. Cell, 147(1): 81-94.

Chapter 2

Materials and methods

2.1 Animals and sampling

All animal experiments and procedures described in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee (No. S-094-2005 and S-094-2005A). The two breeds used in this research are subspecies of domestic cow, commonly referred to as Bos taurus (or taurine) and Bos indicus (or indicine) (Hiendleder et al., 2008). Nulliparous heifers between 16 and 20 months of age and semen/sires of the Angus and Brahman breeds were used to generate both purebred and reciprocal hybrid D-48 embryos, D-153±1 fetuses, D-277/278 caesarean section calves and 12-14 month old juveniles. Heifers were subjected to standard commercial estrous cycle synchronisation protocols (http://www.absglobal.com/Websites/absglobal/images/ABS%20Global%20Home/Beef/Beef %20Information/2012beefcowprotocol_1.pdf) as described previously (Anand-Ivell et al., 2011). Briefly, Cidirol - Heat Detection and Timed Insemination (HTI) and Cidirol - Timed Insemination (TI) were used. This consisted of an initial injection of 1 ml of 1 mg/ml estradiol benzoate (Cidirol, Genetics Australia Co-operative Ltd., Bacchus Marsh, Australia) and insertion of a progesterone-releasing vaginal insert (Eazi-Breed CIDR, DEC International, Hamilton, New Zealand). The vaginal inserts were removed after 7-9 days and heifers were injected with 2 ml of a prostaglandin analogue (0.26 mg of cloprostenol sodium/ml (Estrumate), Schering-Plough Animal Health, Baulkam Hills, Australia). Estrus detection devices (Kamar, Agrigene, Wangaratta, Australia) were placed on all animals. In HTI, animals that showed estrus two days later were inseminated while animals not in estrus received an additional 0.5 ml injection of estradiol benzoate and were inseminated 24 h later.

In TI, animals received 0.7 ml estradiol benzoate the day after removal of vaginal inserts and were inseminated 24 h later. Synchronisation/insemination was repeated in HTI and TI with estradiol benzoate injection of all animals after removal of vaginal inserts, followed by a final round of insemination and natural breeding in HTI animals without further synchronisation measures. Pregnancy testing was confirmed by ultrasound scanning, and embryos and fetuses were recovered in a commercial abattoir.

Tissues which represent all three germ layers and trophectoderm (Yu et al., 2010), were collected from 60 embryos (D-48, 29 male embryos), 73 fetuses (D-153 \pm 1, 39 male fetuses) and 23 juveniles aged 12-14 months (heifers n=12, steers n=11). Dissected tissues were immediately placed into RNA-later[®] (Qiagen, Chadstone Centre, VIC, Australia) and stored at -80°C after equilibration for 24 hours at 2–4°C. Heart, brain and liver samples were collected from D-48 embryos. Heart, brain, liver, lung, kidney, skeletal muscle (*M. semitendinosus*) and testis samples were collected from D-153 \pm 1 fetuses. Heart, brain, liver, lung, kidney and skeletal muscle were collected from 12-month-old juveniles. Cotyledon (*Placenta fetalis*) was collected at D-48, 153 \pm 1 and following delivery by caesarean section at D-277/278 of term. All fetal phenotype data, including organ weights, and all tissue samples were generously provided by Prof. Stefan Hiendleder. Combined skeletal muscle weight data including *M. supraspinatus, M. longissimus dorsi, M. quadriceps femoris and M. semimembranosus* (each of them measured as the average weight of both left and right muscles) was kindly provided by Ruidong Xiang.

2.2 Nucleic acid extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from fetal liver, maternal placenta and sire semen. Liver DNA extraction was performed using AquaPure Genomic DNA isolation Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Placental DNA was extracted by phenol/chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) procedures as described by Sambrook et al. (1989). Semen DNA was extracted with the salting-out method described by Heyen et al. (1997). Quality and quantity of DNA were assessed by agarose gel electrophoresis and NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Nano-Drop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA), respectively. Extracted DNA was treated with RNase A (Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, Germany) and diluted to concentrations of 50 or 100 ng/µl as working solution.

Total RNA was extracted from tissues using TRI Reagent[®] (Ambion, Life Technologies[™], Inc., Carlsbad, CA, USA), according to manufacturer's instructions. Homogenisation of fetal and juvenile tissue samples was carried out with ceramic beads (MoBio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and the PRECELLYS®24 homogeniser/grinder (Bertin Technologies, Saint Quentinen Yvelines Cedex, France). Embryonic tissues were homogenised using ceramic beads and the PowerLyzer[™] 24 homogeniser (MoBio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Due to the small size of embryonic heart and brain samples, AllPrep[™] DNA/RNA Micro Kits (Qiagen GmbH, Inc., Hilden, Germany) were used for extraction of RNA from these tissues, according to the manufacturer's instructions. All RNA samples were treated with DNase (RQ1-DNase, Promega, Madison, WI, USA).

RNA quality (integrity) was assessed using the Agilent RNA 6000 Nano Kit with a Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technology Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA).

Average RIN (RNA Integrity Number) values of RNA samples were calculated and are shown in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Average RNA integrity number (RIN) values of extracted RNA from different tissues. Means and standard deviations of means are shown.

	Muscle	Lung	Kidney	Heart	Liver	Brain	Cotyledon	Testes
Embra				9.00±0.55	8.93±0.44	8.60±0.40	6.35±1.44	
Embryo	-	-	-	(n=28)	(n=35)	(n=38)	(n=59)	-
Fetus	8.21±0.41	8.85±1.37	7.41±1.69	8.45±0.40	8.05±0.45	8.38±0.45	7.16±1.26	5.85±1.3
	(n=97)	(n=49)	(n=48)	(n=45)	(n=100)	(n=56)	(n=51)	(n=24)
Juvenile	7.16±0.77	7.43±0.76	4.16±1.72	7.67±0.17	7.54±0.67	6.74±0.48	5.49±1.82	
	(n=11)	(n=12)	(n=10)	(n=9)	(n=9)	(n=10)	(n=8)	-

Quantity and purity of extracted RNAs were assessed using NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Nano-Drop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA).

2.3 Complementary DNA synthesis

Complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesised from 500 or 2000 ng RNA using SuperScript[™] III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen, Life Technologies[™], Inc., Carlsbad, CA, USA) and random hexamer oligonucleotides according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each tissue, at each developmental stage, equal quantities of all individual cDNAs were then combined to generate a pooled representative cDNA sample as template cDNA for standard curve points.

2.4 Electrophoresis of DNA fragments

Electrophoresis of extracted DNA was done on a 0.7% agarose gel with TAE 1X running buffer for 45 min with voltage of 100 volt. Electrophoresis of PCR amplicons was done on 1.0-2.0% agarose gel with TBE 0.5X running buffer for approximately 30 min at 80 volt.

All agarose gels were stained by Biotium GelRed[™] Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Biotium, Hayward, CA, USA) and visualised by Gel Doc 1000 UV transilluminator (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA).

2.5 Primer design

All primers for standard PCR (Table 2.2) and quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) (Table 2.3) were designed using Primer Premier 5.0 software (Premier Biosoft International, Palo Alto, CA, SUA). Primer sequences were analysed with BLAST software (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/Blast.cgi) against *Bos primigenius taurus* and *Bos primigenius indicus* sub-species (Hiendleder et al., 2008) genomes to ensure specificity and to avoid possible SNPs in primer sequences.

Table 2.2 Primer sequences used for PCR amplification and sequencing of and IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis genes.

Primer name with target gene symbol	Primer sequence	Annealing temperature (°C)	Amplicon length (bp)	Target region	Accession No. of target sequence
IGF1-E1 (F)	CTCCCAGTGCCGAAACAATG	56	595	Exon 1	NW_003103925.1
IGF1-E1 (R)	TAATGTCTGCTCCTCTTGTCACTAAC			Exon 1	
IGF1-E2 (F)	CCACAGGCAGTCATTCAGTTCTTC	56	263	Exon 2	NW_003103925.1
IGF1-E2 (R)	AGATGACCCTCCTTCTGCTTTTTC			Exon 2	
IGF1-E3 (F)	GTATGAATTACTCTTCGGATGCTG	55	384	Exon 3	NW_003103925.1
IGF1-E3 (R)	GCAGTGAACACAGCCTATTATCC			Exon 3	
IGF1-E4 (F)	AACAGCAATCTACCAACTCCAG	54	412	Exon 4	NW_003103925.1
IGF1-E4 (R)	GTTGTCTATTAAACTGACTGGTGAGA			Exon 4	
GHR-Retro (F2)	CAT TCA GTT ACT TTC AGG TCT TGG C	57	2200 in Angus	Growth Hormone Receptor	NW_001493950.3
GHR-Retro (R3)	AAA AGA TTA GAG CAC ACA ACG CAT T		700 in Brahman	retrotransposon insertion	
Let7/miR98 1st (F)	CGA CAG ACA CTC AGG ACA CAA GGC	61	211	1 st Target site for Let-7/miR98	NW_001494007.3
Let7/miR98 1 st (R)	GCA GGT ATG TTC AGG GCA ATG TG			miRNA in IGF1 3'UTR	
Let7/miR98 2st (F)	ACA GGA GCG ACG CCA AAT GAG	59	486	2 st Target site for Let-7/miR98	NW_001494007.3
Let7/miR98 2 st (R)	TTG CTT ATC AGT AGT TTC AGT CCC AC			miRNA in IGF1 3'UTR	
Let7/miR98 3 st (F)	ACA ACC ACA GGT GAT GGA TGC T	57	409	3 st Target site for	NW_001494007.3
Let7/miR98 3 st (R)	TTT TCG GTA ATG TAA AGA ATC CAG AG			miRNA in IGF1 3'UTR	
Let7/miR98 loci (F)	ATA TTT GCC TCA CAC TAC ATA TCA CC	57	1375	Let-7/miR98 miRNA loci	NW_001508802.3
Let7/miR98 loci (R)	GCT TAT CCT CCA TCC AGG TCA TAT				
miR 483 locus (F)	CAG GAA GTG GCA CCG CAG T	56	500	IGF2-Intron3	NW_001494547.4
miR 483 locus (R)	CAG AAA GGA CAG AAG GGA CAG TG			IGF2-Intron3	
M13 (F)	GTA AAA CGA CGG CCAG	55	N/A	M13 universal	N/A
M13 (R)	CAG GAA ACA GCT ATG AC		N/A	r	

Table 2.3 Primer sequences used for quantitative real-time PCR amplification of IGF system

 and GH- IGF1 axis transcripts and housekeeper genes

Primer name with target gene symbol	Primer sequence	Annealing temperature (°C)	Amplicon length (bp)	Target region	Accession No. of target sequence
IGF1 (F)	GAT GCT CTC CAG TTC GTG TGC	58	140	Exon 2	NW 003103925.1
IGF1 (R)	TCC AGC CTC CTC AGA TCA CAG		-	Exon 3	
IGF1Class1 (F)	TTC AGA AGC AAT GGG AAA AAT CAG	58	115	Exon 1	NW_003103925.1
IGF1Class1 (R)	ATA GAA GAG ATG CGA GGA GGA TGT G			Exon 2	
IGF1Class2 (F)	TCA TAA TAC CCA CCC TGA CCT GC	58	105	Exons 1 & 2	NW_003103925.1
IGF1Class2 (R)	ATA GAA GAG ATG CGA GGA GGA TGT G			Exon 2	
IGF-1R (F)	GAT CCC GTG TTC TTC TAC GTT C	58	100	Exon 13	XM_606794.3
IGF-1R (R)	AAG CCT CCC ACT ATC AAC AGA A			Exon 14	
IR (F)	GGA GCC CAA GGA ACC CAA CG	62	105	Exon 13	NC_007305.4
IR (R)	AGA GCA TAA TGT CGG CGG GAG A			Exon 14	
IR-A (F)	TCC TCA AGG AGC TGG AGG AGT	59	89	Exon 10	AJ488553
IR-A (R)	TTT CCT CGA AGG CCT GGG GAT			Exons 10 and 12	
IR-B (F)	TCC TCA AGG AGC TGG AGG AGT	59	110	Exon 10	AJ320235
IR-B (R)	TAG CGT CCT CGG CAA CAG G			Exon 11	
IGFBP-1 (F)	ACC AGC CCA GAG AAT GTG TC	59	119	Exon 2	NW_003103902.1
IGFBP-1 (R)	CTG ATG GCA TTC CAG AGG AT			Exon 2	
IGFBP-2 (F)	CAC ATC CCC AAC TGT GAC AA	58	114	Exon 3	NW_001494682.3
IGFBP-2 (R)	GAT CAG CTT CCC GGT GTT AG			Exon 4	
IGFBP-3 (F)	CTA CGA GTC TCA GAG CAC AG	58	103	Exon 2	NT_181996.1
IGFBP-3 (R)	GTG GTT CAG CGT GTC TTC C			Exon 3	
IGFBP-4 (F)	ATG TGC CTG ATG GAG AAA GG	57	106	Exon 4	NM_174557.3
IGFBP-4 (R)	GCC ATC CTG TGA CTT CCT GT			5' UTR	
IGFBP-5 (F)	CAA GCC AAG ATC GAA AGA GAC T	60	85	Exon 1	NM_001105327.1
IGFBP-5 (K)		(0)	100	Exon 2	ND4 001040405 1
IGFBP-0 (F)	GUA GAG AAT CCC AAG GAG AGT A	60	100	Exon 2	NM_001040495.1
IGFBP 7 (F)	CTG CGA GGT CAT CGG AAT CCC CAC	62	110	Exon 2	NW 0014051074
IGFBP-7 (R)	CCA GGT TGT CTC GGT CAC CAG GCA	02	110	Exon 3	14.001495197.4
IGFBP-8 (F)	GCT GAC CTG GAG GAG AAC ATT A	58	112	Exon 4	NT 182009.1
IGFBP-8 (R)	CTC GGT ATG TCT TCA TGC TGG			Exon 5	
GH (F)	TGG CTG CTG ACA CCT TCA AAG AGT T	57	174	Exon 2	NW_001493688.4
GH (R)	CCA AGC CAC GAC TGG ATG AGG AG			Exon 4	
GHR (F)	AGT AGG GGG TCC ACA CAG AGG TAT	60	150	Exon 4	NW_001493950.3
GHR (R)	CTA ATC ACA GTT TAC AGA GCC CAG G			Exon 3	
GHR-1A (F)	AGC GAC ATT ACA CCA GCA GGA A	60	173	Exon-10	DQ062716.1
GHR-1A (R)	GGC CAG GGC AAT GTA CTT TT			Exon-10	
GHR-1B (F)	GAG GCT CGG CTC GCA GGT CC	60	110	Exon-1B	NM_176608
GHR-1B (R)	AAA GCT GGT GTG GCT TCA CT	0	100	Exon-1B	
GHR-1C (F)	AAC TGC TCG AGG CAA GAG AG	60	120	Exon-IC	AF036292
GHR-IC (R)		(0)	100	Exon-IC	ND4 001046615 1
VPS4A (F)	ACA GAC AGA AGG CIA CIC GGG IG	00	106		NM_001040015.1
VF34A(K)		60	128		NM 001046084.2
$GAK(\mathbf{R})$	AGT TTG AGT ACA AGT CCA CAA TTT CC	00	120		1001040084.2
TBP (F)	GCA ACA GTT CAG TAG TTA TGA GCC AG	60	164		NM 001075742.1
TBP (R)	GAA TAG GGT AGA TGT TCT CAA AGG CT	00	10.		100107071201
H3F3A (F)	ACT GCT ACA AAA GCC GCT C	60	231		XM 003586223.1
H3F3A (R)	ACT TGC CTC CTG CAA AGC AC				
UBB (F)	AGA TCC AGG ATA AGG AAG GCA T	62	198		NM_174133.2
UBB (R)	GCT CCA CCT CCA GGG TGA T				
ACTB (F)	CTC TTC CAG CCT TCC TTC CT	62	245		NM_173979.3
ACTB (R)	CCA ATC CAC ACG GAG TAC TTG				
RPS9 (F)	TAG GCG CAG ACG GGC AAA CA	60	136		NM_001101152.2
RPS9 (R)	CCC ATA CTC GCC GAT CAG CTT CA				
GAPDH (F)	GGG TCA TCA TCT CTG CAC CT	60	264		NW_003103940.1
GAPDH (R)	CAT AAG TCC CTC CAC GAT GC				

2.6 Standard PCR and quantitative real-time PCR

Standard PCR amplification of exonic and regulatory regions of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis genes was carried out using AmpliTaq Gold (Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., Branchburg, NJ) according to the manufacturer's instructions in an Eppendorf Mastercycler® pro S thermal cycler (Eppendorf Inc., Hamburg, Germany). The reaction volume was 20 μ l and the ingredients consisted of 50-100 ng of genomic DNA, 2 μ l of 10X PCR buffer, 2-4 μ l of 25 mM MgCl₂, 0.4 μ l of 10 mM dNTPs, 3 μ l of primer mix (5 pMol/ μ l), 0.75 U of *Taq* polymerase and UltraPureTM DNase/RNase-Free Distilled Water (Gibco Laboratories) added as required up to the total reaction volume. All reactions were performed in duplicate.

Quantitative real-time PCR reactions were performed using Fast Start Universal SYBR Green Master (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) in an Eppendorf Mastercycler[®] ep realplex Real-time PCR System (Eppendorf Inc., Hamburg, Germany) following MIQE guidelines (minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments) (Bustin et al., 2009). Reactions were conducted in duplicate or triplicate in a total volume of 12 µl, containing 6 µl of SYBR master mix (2X), 5.2 µl of cDNA (20-fold diluted from stock cDNA, equivalent to 6^{*} or 24 ng of starting RNA) and 0.8 µl of mixed forward and reversed primers (5 pmol/µl). A non-template control was included in all experiments to confirm the absence of genomic DNA contamination of reagents used for amplification. Thermal cycling was carried out with a 5-minute initial denaturation/activation step at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 20 seconds (denaturation), 55-62°C for 30 seconds (annealing, depending on the primer pair), and 72°C for 20 seconds (extension). Product specificity was confirmed

Quantity of template cDNA used in qRT-PCR reactions was equal to 6 ng of starting RNA except in chapters 3 and 5 which was 24 ng.

by sequencing, plots of the melting curve derived by Mastercycler[®] ep Realplex software (Eppendorf Inc., Hamburg, Germany) and agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products.

An equal proportion of cDNA from all samples was pooled to generate a cDNA template for standard curve analysis. The standard curve included a 3-fold serial dilution of initial pooled cDNA template over 8 data points. Three replicates were used for each dilution of the cDNA template. The Cq (threshold cycle) values of the standards were used to derive a standard curve which shows the Cq values as a linear function of natural logarithm of the specified arbitrary amounts of cDNA. The relative abundance of each target transcript was calculated by the relative standard curve method using the following equation:

Relative transcript abundance (arbitrary units) =
$$\exp\left(\frac{Cq - intercept}{slope}\right)$$

where, exp indicates the exponential function, Cq is threshold cycle for each sample, intercept is the point at which the standard curve intersects with the Y-axis, and slope is the the slope of the standard curve plot.

PCR amplification efficiencies (E) were calculated by the following equation:

$$E = 10^{\left(\frac{-1}{\text{slope}}\right)} - 1$$

Cq values and transformed quantities (relative transcript abundances, in terms of standard curve), as well as standard curve parameters including amplification efficiency and coefficient of determination (R-squared) were automatically calculated by Mastercycler[®] ep Realplex software (Eppendorf Inc., Hamburg, Germany). Amplification efficiency and coefficient of determination for the experiments were higher than 0.90 and 0.99, respectively.

Eight housekeeping genes from different pathways were selected (Hruz et al., 2011; Lisowski et al., 2008) and all housekeeper transcripts were determined for all analysed individuals and in all studied tissues. House keeper genes were actin beta (ACTB), ribosomal protein S9 (RPS9), ubiquitin B (UBB), H3 histone family 3A (H3F3A), TATA box binding protein (TBP), vacuolar protein sorting 4 homolog A (VPS4A), cyclin-G associated kinase (GAK) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). Reactions were done in duplicate or triplicate. To choose the best housekeeper genes, average expression stability values (M) and pair wise variation (V) of all housekeeping genes were calculated using geNorm version 3.5 software for each tissue (Vandesompele et al., 2002). In this approach, the M value is defined as the mean pairwise variation of a gene with all the other reference genes in a given set of samples so that a low M value is indicative of more stable expression. A limit of M =1.5 was defined as an acceptable cut-off for selection of reference genes. A cut off of 0.15 was considered for pairwise variation where inclusion of an additional control gene was not required (Vandesompele et al., 2002). In cotyledon, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehvdrogenase (GAPDH) was assessed, instead of H3F3A, due to initial studies that indicated that H3F3A expression was not constant in cotyledon. The geometric mean of the housekeeper genes identified as most stable was calculated for normalisation of the gene expression data. GAK and RSP9 were identified as the two genes with the most stable, and readily detectable, expression. Since expression levels of GAK transcript was low as a consequence high value of threshold cycles achieved in all tissues which did not meet the MIQE standards (Bustin et al., 2009), the RPS9 was used as the next best housekeeper gene after GAK. Therefore, we decided to use VPS4A and RPS9 as our two best housekeeper genes.

2.7 Cloning and sequencing

Cloning of PCR products was done using TOPO® TA Cloning® Kit for Subcloning, with TOP10 *E. coli* (Applied Biosystems Inc., Foster City, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Transformation was done with competent *E. coli* TOP10 cells provided by the manufacturer. The transformed cells were then plated onto Luria-Bertani agar (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) plates supplemented with kanamycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) and incubated overnight at 37°C. Recombinant and native (negative control) plasmids were extracted by PureLink[™] Quick Plasmid Miniprep Kit provided by the manufacturer. The size of inserts was determined by PCR with flanking vector M13 forward primer and reverse primers provided by manufacturer followed by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel.

All PCR products were sequenced using the BigDye® Terminator Sequencing Cycle Kit (Applied Biosystems Inc., Foster City, CA) on an ABI PRISM Model 3700 Genetic Analyser (Applied Biosystems Inc., Foster City, CA) and chromatograms were analysed using Chromas lite version 2.1.1 software (Technelysium Pty Ltd, QLD, Australia). Sequenced fragments were subjected to sequence alignment with the computer program BioEdit 7.0.0 (Hall, 1999) and "Blast 2 sequences" (Zhang et al., 2000).

2.8 Microarray assessment of microRNAs

GeneChip® miRNA 3.0 (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was used to profile the bovine microRNAs in fetal liver samples. This new chip contains 19724 miRNA probes including mature and pre-miRNA belonging to 153 organisms including bovine. Probe design of this chip is based on miRBase version 17 (http://www.mirbase.org). Cell data were normalised

and transformed to text file by Affymetrix® Expression Console[™] Software 1.3 (Affymetrix, Inc.). Data was analysed by BRB-Array tools 4.3 software package (Simon et al, 2007).

2.9 Data analysis

Gene expression data and fetal phenotype, including fetal weight and organ weights, were analysed by Univariate Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) using the general linear model procedure of JMP statistical package version 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.). As the normalised gene expression data were not normally distributed, statistical analysis was performed after logarithmic transformation of the data. The results for least square means and standard errors of means are presented after back-transformation. Data were fitted into the following linear model to analyse the effects of fetal genetics, sex and interactions:

$$y_{ijk} = G_i + S_j + (G^*S)_{ij} + e_{ijk}$$

where y_{ijk} is the normalised relative gene expression level or fetal phenotype, G_i is fetal genetic effect (i = AA, BA, AB, BB)[†], S_j is fetal sex effect (j = male, female), (G*S)_{ij} is fetal genetic by sex interaction and e_{ijk} is the residual effect.

The following model was used to estimate heterosis effects on gene expression and fetal phenotype:

 $y_{ijkl} = H_i + G_j(H_i) + S_k + (H^*S)_{ik} + e_{ijkl}$

where y_{ijkl} is the normalised relative gene expression level or fetal phenotype, H_i is heterosis effect (i = purebred, crossbred), $G_j(H_i)$ is fetal genetic effect nested within heterosis effect (j =

[†] A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicating the breed of sire and dam, respectively.

AA, BB nested within purebred, j = BA, AB nested within crossbred), S_k is fetal sex (k = male, female), (H*S)_{ik} is heterosis effect-by-sex interaction and e_{ijkl} is the residual effect.

Values are presented as least square means and their associated standard errors. To illustrate where group differences existed, individual pairwise comparison of least-squares means was performed using Student's t-tests.

Associations between fetal phenotypic traits and relative gene expression levels were analysed using simple linear regression models. Dependent and/or independent variables were subjected to logarithmic transformation in order to meet assumptions of regression analysis including linearity, normality and homoscedasticity.

Pearson correlation coefficients among different gene expression measurements were determined using JMP version 4.0 (SAS Inc.).

Graphs were plotted using GraphPad Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software Inc, San Diego, CA, USA). For presentation, least square means and their associated standard errors for IGFBP2, IGFBP3, IGFBP4, IGFBP5, IGFBP6, INSR-A and INSR-B in liver tissue; IGF1 class1 and IGF1 class2 in skeletal muscle tissue; and GHR-1B and GHR-1C in heart and brain tissues have been divided by 100.

2.10 References

Anand-Ivell R, Hiendleder S, Vinoles C, Martin G B, Fitzsimmons C, Eurich A, Hafen B and Ivell R. 2011. INSL3 in the Ruminant: A Powerful Indicator of Gender- and Genetic-Specific Feto-Maternal Dialogue. PLoS ONE, 6(5): e19821.

Bustin S A, Benes V, Garson J A, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, Mueller R, Nolan T, Pfaffl M W, Shipley G L, Vandesompele J and Wittwer C T. 2009. The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin Chem, 55: 611–622.

Hall T A. 1999. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucleic Acids Symp Ser, 41: 95.

Heyen D W, Beever J E, Da Y, Green C, Bates S R E, Ziegle J S and Lewin H A.1997. Exclusion probabilities of 22 bovine microsatellite markers in fluorescent multiplexes for semi-automated parentage testing. Anim Genet, 28: 21–7.

Hiendleder S, Lewalski H and Janke A. 2008. Complete mitochondrial genomes of *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* provide new insights into intra-species variation, taxonomy and domestication. Cytogenet Genome Res, 120: 150–6.

Hruz T, Wyss M, Docquier M, Pfaffl M W, Masanetz S, Borghi L, Verbrugghe P, Kalaydjieva L, Bleuler S, Laule O, Descombes P, Gruissem W and Zimmermann P. 2011. RefGenes: identification of reliable and condition specific reference genes for RT-qPCR data normalization. BMC Genomics, 12: 156.

80

Lisowski P, Pierzchala M, Gooecik J, Pareek C S and Zwierzchowski L. 2008. Evaluation of reference genes for studies of gene expression in the bovine liver, kidney, pituitary, and thyroid. J Appl Genet, 49(4): 367–372.

Simon R, Lam A, Li M C, Ngan M, Menenzes S and Zhao Y. 2007. Analysis of Gene Expression Data Using BRB-Array Tools. Cancer Inform, 3: 11–17.

Sambrook J, Fritisch E F and Maniatis T. 1989. Molecular cloning, 2nd edn. Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory, New York.

Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A and Speleman F. 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol, 3: 34.

Yu Y, Xu T, Yu Y, Hao P and Li X. 2010. Association of tissue lineage and gene expression: conservatively and differentially expressed genes define common and special functions of tissues. BMC Bioinformatics, 11(Suppl 11): S1.

Zhang Z, Schwartz S, Wagner L and Miller W. 2000. A greedy algorithm for aligning DNA sequences. J Comput Biol, 7(1-2): 203-214.

Expression of genes from the insulin-like growth factor system and growth hormone – insulin-like growth factor 1 axis in embryonic, fetal and postnatal bovine tissues

3.1 Introduction

The insulin-like growth factor (IGF) system and growth hormone – insulin-like growth factor 1 (GH-IGF1) axis play key roles in regulating fetal and postnatal growth and development. This complex consist of three ligands, GH, IGF1 and IGF2, four receptors, growth hormone receptor (GHR), IGF type 1 (IGF1R), IGF type 2 (IGF2R) and insulin (IR) receptors, six IGF binding proteins (IGFBP1-6) (Rosenfeld and Roberts, 1999) and also low affinity IGFBPs including IGFBP7 to IGFBP10 (Kim, 1997). The tissue and developmental stage specific expression of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis in cattle is poorly understood.

The IGF1 peptide has endocrine and paracrine actions to promote growth and development in a range of pre and postnatal tissues (Nakae et al., 2001). *IGF1* is expressed in preimplantation embryo in cattle (Lonergan et al., 2000), human (Lighten et al., 1997) and mouse (Rao et al., 1990). Mice with an *IGF1* null allele have lower birth weight than their wild-type littermates and most of them die early after birth. Surviving mice grow poorly during postnatal development (LeRoith et al., 2001a). In several species, including rat (Fu et al., 2009), human (Jansen et al., 1992) and sheep (Dickson et al., 1991), *IGF1* transcription is initiated from both exon 1 and 2, generating *IGF1* mRNA containing either exon 1 (*IGF1 class 1* mRNA) or exon 2 (*IGF1 class 2* mRNA) as the leader exon. Thus, the two classes of *IGF1* mRNA

encode prepro-IGF1 proteins differing in the length of the signal peptide; however mature IGF protein produced by either of them is identical (LeRoith and Roberts, 1991).

The type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF1R) belongs to the tyrosine kinase receptor family has been found to be expressed in all normal adult and fetal human tissues and cell types (LeRoith et al., 2001b). The IGF1R receptor binds IGF1 with high affinity and can also binds to IGF2 and insulin, but with a six- and 100-fold lower affinity than IGF1, respectively (LeRoith, 2003). The structure of IGF1R and IR is similar and they can form a hybrid receptor which has higher affinity for IGF1 than IGF2 (Arnaldez and Helman, 2012).

The IGF1R gene is expressed ubiquitously among tissues and its main role is maintaining tissue growth and development (Leventhal and Feldman, 1997). It is known that mutations in *IGF1R* can lead to growth retardation in human postnatally (Hwa et al., 2013). In mouse models, *IGF1R* deletion results in more severe growth failure than *IGF1* deletion, and *IGF1R* null mice die of respiratory failure at birth (Liu et al., 1993), showing the important role of IGF1R for prenatal development.

Insulin and IR signalling pathways are very similar to IGF1 and IGF1R pathways (Belfiore et al., 2009). In human and cattle, alternative splicing of the IR transcript produces two splice variants or isoforms, IR-A and IR-B that either exclude or include exon 11 at the carboxyl terminus of the IR α -subunit (Moller et al., 1989). Each of the IR isoforms is equally able to form hybrids with IGF1R, but the IR-A isoform has 1.7 fold more affinity for insulin than the IR-B isoform (Mosthaf et al., 1990). The IR-A isoform displays higher affinity for IGF2 than IGF1 and can be considered as a second physiological receptor for IGF2 while IR-B is very specific to insulin (Pandini et al., 2002). There is also a heterodimer receptor which consists of both IR-A and IR-B (HIR-AB) (Pollak, 2012). The contribution of IR-A to embryo

development has been studied in mouse, where IGF2 acts as an IR ligand in the promotion of embryonic growth. Mice lacking IR achieved approximately 80-90% growth of normal mice (Louvi et al., 1997). Humans lacking functional IR due to a mutation showed more severe intrauterine growth retardation as compared to mouse (Jospe et al., 1996). This difference between growth retardation in human and mouse due to IR deficiency might be caused by differences in developmental timing. Rodents are born at a developmental age equal to an approximately 26 week old human fetus (Otis and Brent, 1954).

Insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs) are thought to modulate actions of IGFs since they have 2-50 fold higher affinity to IGF1 and 2 than IGF1 receptor (Allan et al., 2001; Hwa et al., 1999). A number of *IGFBP* deletion models have been used to further investigate the roles of IGFBPs during development. It appears that IGFBP deletion in mice does not have severe effects similar to those resulting from deletion of other IGF components (Firth and Baxter, 2002). IGFBP2 knockout mice showed no overall growth retardation but they had smaller spleen and larger liver size than controls (Wood et al., 2000). Interestingly, IGFBP3 and IGFBP5 double knockout mice showed lower plasma IGF1 concentration, but heavier body weights with greater relative organ weights, including kidneys and spleen, compared with control adult mice (Murali et al., 2012). Overexpression of IGFBP1, IGFBP2 and IGFBP3 led to reduction in brain weight and abnormal brain development in mice (Silha and Murphy, 2002). IGFBP1-6 are expressed in all normal tissues at mid-gestation in mouse and rat (Cerro et al., 1993). Each IGFBP has a distinct expression pattern in rat and mouse fetal tissues and appears to be tightly regulated during development of specific tissues (Allan et al., 2001). In addition to the IGFBPs, IGFBP-related proteins have been described, leading to the proposal of an IGFBP superfamily (Kostecka and Belahovec, 2002; Hwa and Rosenfeld 1999; Kim, 1997). These lower affinity IGFBPs are also considered as IGFBP related proteins (Figure 1.4). There are a number of recognised members in the IGFBP-related protein family,

including IGFBP-rP1 (mac25 or IGFBP7), IGFBP-rP2 (connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) or IGFBP8), IGFBP-rP3 (NovH or IGFBP9) and IGFBP-rP4 (Cyr61 or IGFBP10) (Kim et al., 1997), all of which are considered low affinity IGFBPs. The IGFBP7 is a high-affinity insulin binding protein and it blocks insulin binding to the insulin receptor and insulin action (Yamanaka et al., 1997). IGFBP8 is considered to be a key cytokine in fibrogenesis of tissues and organs (Hwa et al., 1999). Mice deficient in IGFBP8 died in the perinatal period due to respiratory failure and showed generalised chondrodysplasia (Ivkovic et al, 2003). An IGFBP10 knocked out mouse model showed lethality in the embryonic period or shortly after birth (Mo et al., 2002).

Growth hormone (GH) gene expression is mainly from the pituitary gland, and pituitary GH is a key stimulator of IGF1 production, but also affects IGF2 production in liver (von Horn et al., 2002). Evidence for GH expression has been found in some extra-pituitary tissues, where it may act as an autocrine or paracrine growth factor (Harvey, 2010). Among those tissues, placental GH seems to be very important for growth and development of the fetus. Since in human placental GH cannot be detected in the fetal circulation, and only presents in maternal blood and amniotic fluid, a direct role of GH in prenatal development is still controversial (Skottner, 2012; Osafo et al., 2005; Edmonson et al., 1995; Garcia-Aragon et al., 1992). However, mice deficient in GH due to mutations in the genes encoding GH-releasing hormone receptor, showed normal birth weight (Efstratiadis, 1998). In sheep, a transcript identical to pituitary GH mRNA is expressed from the placenta after D-27 of the first trimester of pregnancy (Lacroix et al., 1999). In humans, the pituitary GH gene (GH1) is not expressed in the placenta, but a placental GH gene (GHV or GH2) is transcribed and translated into several placental GH proteins (Harvey, 2010). In humans both GH1 and GH2 genes are located next to each other on chromosome 17 with 98% homology (Vnencak-Jones et al., 1988); this is similar to sheep, where both GH genes are found on chromosome 11

(Vacca et al., 2013; Lacroix et al., 2002), and also goat (Wallis et al., 1998). Interestingly, there is so far no evidence for a duplicated *GH* gene (or *GH2*) in mice and cattle (Skottner, 2012).

GH exerts its biological effects by binding to specific cell surface growth hormone receptors (GHRs) (Kelly et al., 1991). Expression of GHR is regulated by age, nutritional intake, GH itself, steroid hormones and insulin. The GHR belongs to the cytokine/hematopoietin receptor family that includes the receptors for prolactin (PRL), erythropoietin, leptin, interferons, granulocyte colony stimulating factor and interleukins (Horseman and Yu-Lee, 1994; Cosman et al., 1990). It has a long 5' non-coding region that includes nine untranslated exons, 1A-1I resulting in up to nine variants of GHR mRNA (Jiang and Lucy, 2001). Only variants 1A, 1B and 1C are well characterised, the description of exons 1D–1I is based on rapid amplification of cDNA end analyses. Variants 1D-1I altogether account for only 10% of overall GHR transcripts (Jiang and Lucy, 2001). GHR transcripts have been detected in a variety of bovine adult tissues, including liver, muscle, kidney, lung, mammary gland, adipose tissue, and fetal tissues of placenta, liver, lung, kidney and skeletal muscle with the highest level of expression detected in liver (Jiang and Lucy, 2001). Knockout mouse models showed no significant body size or weight differences between normal and GHR knockout newborns. However, GHR deficient mice (Laron mice) were significantly smaller 3 weeks after birth (Zhou et al., 1997). Laron mice showed 90% less circulating IGF1 and significant reduction of IGFBP3. Interestingly, these mice live up to 50% longer than control mice (Coschigano et al., 2000). This research clearly indicated the role of GH/GHR in expression of IGF1 and the important role of the GH-IGF1 axis in postnatal growth and development.

Expression of IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis transcripts have been extensively studied in cattle, human and mouse tissues; however, tissue-specific expression of IGF system and GH-

IGF1 axis transcripts has not been conducted systematically across key developmental time points in bovine or other species.

The aims of this chapter were to investigate the expression of *IGF1*, *IGF1 class 1* and *class 2*, *IGF1R*, *IGFBP1* to 8, *IR*, *IR-A*, *IR-B*, *GH*, *GHR*, *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* transcript in different tissues of cattle and to compare developmental changes in transcript abundances between D-48 embryos, D-153±1 fetuses, D-277/278 caesarean section calves and 12-14 month old juveniles.

3.2 Materials and methods

All animal experiments and procedures described in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee (No. S-094-2005 and S-094-2005A).

Tissues were selected to represent the three germ layers ectoderm, mesoderm, endoderm, and extraembryonic tissue, originating from trophectoderm (Yu et al., 2010). Tissues were collected from 60 D-48 embryos, 73 D-153±1 fetuses, 6 D-277/278 caesarean section calves and 23 juveniles aged 12-14 months as described in Chapter 2, section 2.1. Heart, brain, and liver were collected at all developmental stages. Lung, kidney and skeletal muscle (*M. semimembranosus*) were collected from D-153 fetuses and from 12 month old juveniles. Testicular tissue was collected only from fetuses. Cotyledon was collected at D-48, D-153 and following caesarean section delivery at D-277/278. Total RNA was extracted and cDNA synthesised as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.

For each tissue, at each developmental stage, equal quantities of all individual cDNAs were combined to generate pooled cDNA representing tissue and developmental stage specific cDNA samples (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1 Summary of pooled cDNA samples representative of every tissue at each developmental stage used to investigate transcript abundances.

Tissues Developmental Stage	Liver	Brain	Heart	Cotyledon	Lung	Kidney	Skeletal muscle	Testis
Embryo Day 48 (n=60)	1	1	1	1				
Fetus Day 153 (n=73)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Caesarean section Day 277/278(n=6)				1				
Juvenile 12-14 months (n=23)	1	1	1		1	1	1	

Relative abundances of the following transcripts were analysed: *IGF1* overall transcript and *class 1* and *class 2* transcripts; *IGF1R*, *IGFBP1*, *IGFBP2*, *IGFBP3*, *IGFBP4*, *IGFBP5*, *IGFBP6*, *IGFBP7*, *IGFBP8*; *IR* overall transcript and variants *IR-A* and *IR-B*; *GH*, *GHR* overall transcript and variants *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C*. Primer details are shown in Table 2.3 in Chapter 2.

Quantitative real time PCR reactions were performed in triplicate using pooled cDNA representing every tissue across all developmental stages sampled (Table 3.1). The relative abundance of each target transcript was calculated using the standard curve method with determination of PCR amplification efficiency. In this experiment, since each analysed sample was a mixture of a large number of individuals (see Chapter 2, section 2), and all developmental stages were analysed in parallel, we assumed differences in individual RNA quality and quantity would not impact on results. Thus, we did not use housekeeper genes to normalise relative gene expression data. The cDNA template used to generate the standard

curve was a mixture containing equal proportions of all pooled cDNAs which included all tissues and all developmental stages.

Data was analysed with a general linear model in JMP version 4.0 (SAS Inc.). Values are reported as means \pm standard deviation of the mean.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) overall transcript expression

IGF1 mRNA expression was detected in all tissues examined at each developmental stage (Figure 3.1). In embryos, *IGF1* expression was highest in liver and lowest in brain. At D-153 of gestation, *IGF1* expression was the highest in skeletal muscle, kidney and cotyledon had the lowest expression levels. In juveniles, liver had the highest expression of *IGF1*, which was about 35-fold higher than muscle and kidney tissues. Lung and cotyledon showed the lowest *IGF1* expression. Hepatic *IGF1* expression level appeared to remain constant from D-48 to 153 of gestation, but increased 40-fold after birth. *IGF1* transcript abundance in cotyledon showed a progressive decrease as gestation advanced. The greatest change in *IGF1* expression occurred between mid-gestation and 12 months of age in lung, where a 60-fold decrease occurred. The lowest fold change, a 3-fold decrease, was observed in heart from mid-gestation to 12 months of age.



Figure 3.1 Means and standard deviations of means for 3 technical replicates of measured transcript abundances of insulin-like growth factor 1 (*IGF1*), type 1 insulin-like growth factor (*IGF1R*), *IGF1 class 1* and *IGF1 class 2* in bovine tissues of different developmental stages. Tissue and developmental stage specific transcript abundance was calculated by the standard curve method and expressed in arbitrary logarithmic units (*: measured but not expressed in this tissue/developmental stage).

3.3.2 Insulin-like growth factor class 1 and 2 (IGF1 class 1 and 2) expressions

We showed that the *IGF1 class 1* transcript was expressed in all tissues and developmental stages studied, with similar trends as for *IGF1* overall transcript (Figure 3.1). The highest expression of *IGF1 class 1* transcript was observed in the liver of embryos and juveniles, where in fetuses, skeletal muscle showed the highest level of *IGF1 class 1* transcript followed by liver. At D-48 of gestation, the *IGF1 class 2* transcript was expressed in liver, heart and cotyledon, but was not detected in embryonic brain (Figure 3.1). In the fetus, *IGF1 class 2* transcript was expressed in long and cotyledon. Postnatally, this transcript showed tissue-specific expression restricted to liver and skeletal muscle.

3.3.3 Type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF1R) expression

IGF1R was expressed in all studied tissues and at all developmental stages (Figure 3.1). At D-48 of gestation, *IGF1R* expression was highest in brain and liver and lowest in cotyledon. In the fetus, *IGF1R* was expressed in all studied tissues, with the lowest expression in cotyledon. In the juvenile, *IGF1R* was highly expressed in heart and muscle tissue and expressed at 4-5 times lower levels in lung and kidney. Similar to *IGF1*, *IGF1R* had higher expression prenatally in all studied tissues and the biggest decrease in postnatal tissues (16-fold) was observed in kidney.

3.3.6 Insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP) expression

Relative transcript abundances of high affinity (*IGFBP1* to *IGFBP6*) and low affinity IGFBPs (*IGFBP7* and *IGFBP8*) transcripts are shown in Figures 3.2 and 3.3, respectively.

3.3.6.1 High affinity *IGFBP* expression

We showed that liver was the main tissue producing *IGFBP1* transcript at all developmental stages. On average, liver had 500-1000 fold higher expression in comparison to other tissues. Very low expression of *IGFBP1* was observed in fetal skeletal muscle and kidney. In juveniles, *IGFBP1* was expressed at very low levels in kidney at ~ 500 fold lower levels than in liver. Brain, heart, lung and skeletal muscle did not reveal *IGFBP1* expression in juveniles as well as fetal lung and testes.





IGFBP2 was expressed ubiquitously in all embryonic and fetal tissues studied. Embryos showed high levels of *IGFBP2* expression in brain, followed by liver and heart. In the fetus, liver and kidney had the highest level of expression of *IGFBP2*. In the juvenile, *IGFBP2* was expressed at readily detectable levels in liver, brain, lung and kidney, with lower levels of expression in heart and skeletal muscle. In general, *IGFBP2* expression level was higher in fetal tissues and decreased after birth. However, liver *IGFBP2* expression remained high.

IGFBP3 was expressed in all studied tissues. Liver, cotyledon and testis had the highest and brain had the lowest levels of expression at all developmental stages. Prenatally, most tissues expressed a high level of *IGFBP3*, but liver and skeletal muscle showed the highest level of expression.

Liver had the highest and brain and cotyledon had the lowest levels of *IGFBP4* transcript abundance in all developmental stages. The level of this transcript decreased postnatally in all tissues but liver had the reverse pattern, with an increase observed postnatally.

Heart, kidney and muscle had the highest, and cotyledon the lowest, expression levels of *IGFBP5* at all developmental stages with a decrease in transcript abundance postnatally. Heart had the highest and liver the lowest level of *IGFBP6* transcript in embryos. Testicular tissue had the highest expression and cotyledon had the lowest transcript abundance in fetuses. Muscle had the highest and liver the lowest level of *IGFBP6* transcript in juveniles.

3.3.6.1 Low affinity *IGFBPs* expression

Skeletal muscle, followed by heart, showed the highest levels of *IGFBP7* expression in all developmental stages. Cotyledon always had the lowest level of expression of *IGFBP7*.

IGFBP8 transcript was expressed at relatively high levels in embryos, fetuses and juvenile tissues. Heart followed by skeletal muscle and testis had the highest level of *IGFBP8* expression.



Figure 3.3 Means and standard deviation of means for 3 technical replicates of measured transcript abundances of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 7 (*IGFBP7*) and *IGFBP8* in bovine tissues of different developmental stages. Tissue and developmental stage specific transcript abundance was calculated by the standard curve method and expressed in arbitrary logarithmic units.

3.3.4 Insulin receptor (IR) expression

3.3.4.1 IR overall transcript expression

The insulin receptor was highly expressed in all tissues at all developmental stages studied (Figure 3.4). Liver, followed by skeletal muscle and heart, showed the highest level of expression at all developmental stages. Kidney showed the lowest *IR* expression in juveniles; 2-fold less than liver. Cotyledon had the lowest *IR* expression prenatally. Levels of expression in fetal and embryonic tissues were similar to those observed in juveniles, with a small decrease in some tissues, especially lung and kidney, postnatally.



Figure 3.4 Means and standard deviation of means for 3 technical replicates of measured transcript abundances of insulin receptor (*IR*), *IR variant A* (*IR-A*) and *IR-B* in bovine tissues of different developmental stages. Tissue and developmental stage specific transcript abundance was calculated by the standard curve method and expressed in arbitrary logarithmic units.

3.3.4.2 IR-A and B expressions

The expression pattern of *IR-A* was very similar to *IR* overall transcript in all tissues, but slightly higher in embryonic cotyledon, compared to other developmental stages.
Developmental change did not bring about a dramatic change in expression level of *IR-A*. Also, *IR-A* was expressed at high levels among all tissues pre and postnatally. *IR-B* expression in some postnatal tissues such as brain and cotyledon was lower than in other tissues and it was almost 10-fold less than in liver or skeletal muscle and heart.

IR-B was expressed in all studied tissues. In contrast to *IR-A*, *IR-B* showed a decrease in some tissues postnatally, such as kidney, lung, heart and brain. Liver, skeletal muscle and cotyledon did not show notable change during development.

3.3.5 Growth hormone (GH) and Growth hormone receptor (GHR) expression

3.3.5.1 GH expression

Growth hormone mRNA was not detected in any of the studied tissues at any developmental stage.

3.3.5.2 GHR overall transcript expression

Cotyledon showed the lowest level of *GHR* transcript at all stages. Liver in embryos and juveniles had the highest levels of *GHR* mRNA, although adult skeletal muscle also showed relatively high levels of *GHR* transcript. In the fetal stage, skeletal muscle had the highest level of *GHR* expression, followed by liver.



Figure 3.5 Means and standard deviation of means for 3 technical replicates of measured transcript abundances of growth hormone receptor (*GHR*), *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and GHR-1C in bovine tissues of different developmental stages. Tissue and developmental stage specific transcript abundance was calculated by the standard curve method and expressed in arbitrary logarithmic units (*: measured but not expressed).

3.3.5.3 GHR-1A, -1B and -1C expression

GHR-1A showed a liver specific expression pattern in fetal and juvenile tissues. However, it could not be detected in embryonic liver.

GHR-1B and *-1C* transcripts showed very similar patterns to the overall transcript but there was no detectable transcript in fetal cotyledon and cotyledon near term (C-sectioned calves). Liver and skeletal muscle showed higher mRNA levels for *GHR-1B* and *1C* than other tissues.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 *IGF1*

We showed that *IGF1* transcript was expressed in all of the tissues examined at each developmental stage. This is in accordance with other reports in cattle (Wang et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2011). Skeletal muscle showed the highest level of *IGF1* expression at D-153 of gestation, whereas kidney and cotyledon had the lowest expressions at the fetal stage. Similar results have been reported for the late gestation sheep and pig fetuses, with highest *IGF1* expression found in ovine and porcine skeletal muscle and fat, and lowest expression levels in kidney and placenta (Kind et al., 1995; Ramsay et al., 1994). In accordance with our results, kidney had the lowest level of *IGF1* mRNA in the human fetus at week 14-16 of gestation (Hill, 1990). The present data suggested that hepatic *IGF1* expression levels could remain constant from D-48 to 153 of gestation in the bovine fetus. Gore et al (1994) studied hepatic IGF1 expression in bovine fetuses at D-100 and 200 gestation, and in one month old calves, and also reported no differences in expression across these development stages. The latter study investigated bovine D-100 and D-200 fetuses and one month old calves. Furthermore, fetal serum IGF1 showed an increase of 5-fold from D-85 to D-240 in the normal developing bovine fetus (Holland et al., 1997).

In juveniles, liver had the highest expression of *IGF1*, which was almost 40-fold higher than in skeletal muscle and lung had the lowest *IGF1* expression. Similar findings have been reported in other species. It was shown in steers, cows and bulls that adult liver had the highest level of *IGF1* transcript (Wang et al., 2003; Cordano et al., 2000; Gore et al., 1994). Similar results were obtained in human (Bornfeldt et al., 1989) mouse (Williams et al., 2011; Yakar et al., 1999; Baker et al., 1993), rat (Cohick and Clemmons, 1993), sheep (Pell et al., 1993; Dickson et al., 1991), chicken (McMurtry et al., 1997) and fish (Shamblott and Chen, 1993; Duguay et al., 1996). Liver is the main source of circulating IGF1, compared to other tissues of adult mammals (Sjogren et al., 1999; Yakar et al., 1999; Phillips et al., 1998), although we showed that *IGF1* expression in skeletal muscle was at relatively high levels in comparison to liver in fetuses and juveniles.

IGF1 transcript level decreased postnatally in all studied tissues except liver, supporting the suggested role for autocrine/paracrine actions of IGF1 in regulating growth and development of prenatal tissues (Clemmons, 2007).

In juveniles we showed that liver expressed the highest level of *IGF1 class 1* transcript. It was previously shown that liver had the highest *IGF1 class 1* mRNA levels in adult cattle (Wang et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2011), sheep (Dickson et al., 1991), mouse (Ohtsuki et al., 2005) and pig (Xiao et al., 2009).

The *IGF1 class 2* transcript also showed a tissue specific expression, which was in accordance with data obtained by Shemer et al. (1992) in rats and Jensen et al. in human (1991). We demonstrated that *IGF1* mRNA variants are differentially expressed during development in bovine. Tissue specific expression of *IGF1 class 1* and *class 2* mRNA has also been demonstrated in other species including human (Nagaoka et al., 1991), mouse (Ohtsuki et al., 2005), rat (Adamo et al., 1989), fish (Shamblott and Chen, 1993) and rabbit (Yang et al., 1996). In general, *IGF1 class 1* transcript showed relatively higher abundances than *IGF1*

class 2 transcript in our experiment. A similar relationship between these two transcripts was shown in adult cattle (Wang et al., 2003), human (Nagaoka, 1991), pig (Xiao, 2009) and mouse (Ohtsuki et al., 2005). *IGF1 Class 1* transcript was expressed at 10 times higher levels than *IGF1 class 2* in adult human liver (Nagaoka et al., 1991) and mouse liver (Ohtsuki et al., 2005). It has been shown that both *IGF1 class 1* and 2 levels increased in liver after administration of GH in cattle. However, *IGF1 class 2* showed a significantly greater increase than *IGF1 class 1* (Wang et al., 2003). Similar result have been reported in sheep (Pell et al., 1993), showing that *IGF1 class 2* transcript is more responsive to GH than *IGF1 class 1*.

3.4.2 IGF1R

We found that *IGF1R* was expressed in all studied tissues at all developmental stages, but with higher expression in all studied prenatal tissues. A limited number of studies have investigated developmental stage specific expression of *IGF1R*. It has been demonstrated that *IGF1* receptor mRNA was present in pre-implantation bovine embryos (Wang et al., 2009) as well as 4-6 weeks old human embryos (Coppola, 2009), which shows the very early potential role of *IGF1R* in prenatal development. At the embryonic stage, *IGF1R* expression was the highest in brain and liver. In the fetus, *IGF1R* was expressed in all studied tissues, with cotyledon showing the lowest expression. Similar results were published for chicken, where kidney and brain had relatively high expression levels of *IGF1R*, while no transcript could be detected in heart and skeletal muscle tissues at the E16 stage (Holzenberger et al., 1996). *IGF1R* was shown to be very important in normal brain growth and development during prenatal period. In several studies it was shown that *IGF1R* knockout mice developed severe brain growth retardation (Okusky and Ye, 2012; Dupont and Holzenberger, 2003; Liu et al., 1993).

In the juvenile, *IGF1R* was highly expressed in heart and muscle tissues, and expressed at 4-5 fold lower levels in lung and kidney. In addition to its essential role in brain development, *IGF1R* is critical for muscle growth. Mice lacking *IGF1R* showed lower muscle mass than control mice and 50-60% growth retardation (Louvi et al., 1997).

3.4.3 IGFBPs

3.4.3.1 High affinity IGFBPs

The present data showed that liver was the major source of *IGFBP1* transcript at all developmental stages. However, there was very low expression of *IGFBP1* in fetal muscle and kidney. Similar findings are reported for rat which showed that *IGFBP1* is expressed predominantly from liver in fetuses at 21 days of gestation, followed by kidney (Ooi et al., 1990). Postnatally, Ooi et al. (1990) showed similar *IGFBP1* expression pattern in rats at the age of 65 days. In another study in adult rats, the highest level of *IGFBP1* mRNA was found in the liver, followed by kidney (Murphy et al., 1990). In contrast to our results, it has been reported that *IGFBP1* is exclusively expressed in human fetal liver during week 10-16 post conception (Han et al., 1996) and mouse liver from mid to late gestation (Cerro et al., 1993). The liver-specific expression pattern of *IGFBP1* was only observed in mouse and human. We might expect mouse and rat to have similar gene expression patterns. However, it was shown that *IGFBP1* expression is specific to mouse liver, but this pattern was not observed in rat. We need to consider that these data were obtained by *in situ* hybridisation which may not be as accurate as qPCR (Rosa et al., 2009; Marino et al., 2003).

Expression of *IGFBP2* was detected in all tissues studied. Embryos showed high levels of *IGFBP2* expression in brain, followed by liver and heart. The developmental expression patterns observed in liver and muscle in the present study were quite similar to those

described by Gerrard et al. (1999) in pig, where the fetal liver and kidney had the highest level of *IGFBP2* expression. In the human fetus, *IGFBP2* mRNA was present in moderate abundance in every tissue with the highest level observed in liver (Han, 1996). Fetal liver was also the predominant site of *IGFBP2* expression in the rat, although kidney, stomach, lung, and brain also expressed moderate levels. Levels of *IGFBP2* mRNA was higher in prenatal than in adult rat tissues (Orlowski et al., 1990). In the juvenile, *IGFBP2* was readily detectable in liver, brain, lung and kidney, with lower levels of expression in heart and skeletal muscle. Even in fish such as the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), *IGFBP2* was reported to be expressed at the highest level in liver amongst studied tissues, followed by testes and ovary, while kidney showed very low expression of *IGFBP2* transcript (Chen et al., 2009). In general, bovine *IGFBP2* expression remained high. This was in accordance with *IGFBP2* expression studies in prenatal tissues in sheep (Delhanty and Han, 1993), rat (Batchelor et al., 1995) and pig (Gerrard et al., 1999).

Liver, cotyledon and testis had the highest and brain had the lowest level of *IGFBP3* expression in all developmental stages. High levels of *IGFBP3* mRNA were found in adult rat liver while brain showed very low levels of *IGFBP3* mRNA (Albiston and Herington, 1992). This is similar to results of the present study. In human fetuses at weeks 10-16, *IGFBP3* was reported as highly expressed in muscle and heart but not liver, which contrasts with our results (Han et al., 1996).

Liver showed the highest, and brain and cotyledon the lowest, levels of *IGFBP4* transcript at all developmental stages. *IGFBP4* was expressed in multiple tissues of adult rats, with liver exhibiting the highest expression (Cohick and Clemmons, 1993). We showed that transcript levels decreased postnatally in all tissues with the exception of liver, which showed the

reverse pattern. Han et al. (1996) reported that *IGFBP4* was expressed moderately and equally from all tissues, including liver, heart, muscle, skin, spleen and stomach in human fetuses at weeks 10-16. In addition, Carr et al. (1995) showed that IGFBP4 protein levels in fetal sheep plasma increased linearly from D-40 of gestation until birth. The fact that liver *IGFBP4* expression dramatically increased (4-fold) postnatally compared to prenatal liver, and that it was expressed 10-fold higher than other adult tissues, may suggest that liver is a major source of circulating IGFBP4. In contrast to our results, Batchelor et al. (1995) showed that *IGFBP4* mRNA increased in postnatal lung tissue of rat in comparison to the fetal stage. However, comparing late prenatal and early postnatal differences of murine models to bovine might not be appropriate since newborn rodents are not as well developed as the new born calf (Otis and Brent, 1954). Therefore, developmental timing differences between rodents and cattle would impact gene expression comparisons, especially for transcripts involved in prenatal development.

The present data showed that heart, kidney and muscle had the highest levels of expression of *IGFBP5* at all developmental stages. *IGFBP5* has an important role in skeletal muscle growth and differentiation (Mukherjee et al., 2008). It has been shown that increased *IGFBP5* expression in mice caused a reduction of whole-body growth and retarded muscle development (Salih et al., 2004). These phenotypic changes are mainly caused by the blocking of IGFs by excess *IGFBP5* (Mukherjee et al., 2008). In the human fetus, skin and muscle tissues had the highest, and brain the lowest, *IGFBP5* expression (Han et al., 1996). Similar to our results, *IGFBP5* mRNA transcript has been detected in all examined tissues of adult rats and several tissues have higher levels of *IGFBP5* mRNA compared to liver tissue, with the highest expression in kidney (Shimasaki and Ling, 1991b). Similar results were reported in adult goats where kidney had the highest level of *IGFBP5* transcript followed by spleen, brain, lung and liver (Wang et al., 2012).

105

Bovine *IGFBP6* was expressed in all studied tissues, which is similar to data reported for adult rat (Shimasaki et al., 1991a). We showed that in contrast to other *IGFBPs*, liver did not have the highest level of *IGFBP6* transcript. *IGFBP6* also has the highest affinity for IGF2 in comparison to other IGFBPs. Transgenic mice with overexpression of *IGFBP6* showed significantly smaller body size and smaller size of cerebellum and lower male reproduction rate compared to controls (Bienvenu et al., 2004).

3.4.3.2 Low affinity IGFBPs

The IGFBP7 gene was expressed in all studied bovine tissues. Transcripts of this gene have been found in a variety of human tissues, including liver, uterus, testis, skeletal muscle, brain and kidney, but not in fat (Adachi et al., 2001; Degeorges et al., 2000). We showed that skeletal muscle showed the highest levels of *IGFBP7* expression, followed by heart, at all developmental stages. It has been shown that *IGFBP7*, as expressed by skeletal myoblasts, may have a role in stimulating myoblast proliferation in responses to IGFs (Haugk et al., 2000).

The *IGFBP8* transcript was expressed at relatively high levels in embryos, fetuses and juvenile tissues. Heart, followed by skeletal muscle and testicular tissue, had the highest level of *IGFBP8* transcript. This was similar to expression of *IGFBP7*. The *IGFBP8* gene is widely expressed in human tissues and has critical roles in embryonic development, impacting on cell proliferation (De Winter et al., 2008).

Fewer studies have been conducted regarding the developmental stage specific expression of low affinity IGFBPs in comparison to IGFBPs 1-6. We showed that *IGFBP* transcripts in most tissues decreased postnatally and this reduction was greater in kidney and lung than in other tissues. Postnatal reduction of *IGFBP* transcription may highlight the importance of IGFBPs during prenatal growth and development in cattle. We found that, except for *IGFBP1*, all studied *IGFBPs* were expressed across all tissues and all developmental stages. IGFBP knockout in mouse models showed relatively modest phenotypic effects on growth and development (Silha and Murphy, 2002) in comparison to IGF knockout or knockout of their receptors (Louvi et al., 1997). These modest effects may be due to the compensating effect of other members of the large IGFBP family rather than IGFBPs being of lesser importance for growth and development.

3.4.4 IR

The insulin receptor was highly expressed in all bovine tissues and across all developmental stages studied. Liver, skeletal muscle and heart tissue had the highest levels of expression in all developmental stages. It was shown that the major tissues targeted by insulin in adult human are skeletal muscle, liver and fat (Pezzino et al., 1989).

The bovine *IR-A* expression patterns were very similar to the pattern of *IR* overall transcript. The *IR-A* was expressed at high levels among all tissues pre- and postnatally, while postnatal *IR-B* expression was almost 10-fold less in some tissues, such as brain and cotyledon, as compared with liver or skeletal muscle and heart. It was also shown that *IR-A* in adult rats was highly expressed in muscle and had the lowest expression level in kidney; liver showed the highest levels of *IR-B* expression (Serrano et al., 2005).

The *IR-A* (fetal IR in human) is a high affinity receptor for IGF2 in the human fetus and essential for prenatal growth and development (Frasca et al., 1999). In human, *IR-A* is the predominant prenatal transcript, suggesting *IR-A* might play a role in mediating IGF2 effects (Belfiore et al., 2009). However, our findings in the bovine model showed that both IR-A and IR-B were expressed at all developmental stages at relatively high levels and do not suggest

that *IR-A* is predominant over *IR-B* in prenatal life. We showed that levels of *IR-B* expression in fetal and embryonic tissues are similar to juvenile, with small decreases in some tissues, especially lung and kidney, postnatally.

3.4.5 GH

Pituitary gland is the primary source of GH in mammals but GH can be expressed from a duplicated *GH* gene, *GH2* or *GH-V*, which is active in the placenta of some mammals including human, goat and sheep (Gootwine, 2004). There is no known duplicated gene in cattle to produce placental GH, although small amounts of GH can be produced from other tissues including reproductive, respiratory and skeletal muscle tissues (Harvey, 2010).

Since we did not measure GH transcript from the pituitary gland as a primary source of GH, there cannot be any statement on the potential roles of GH transcription in bovine prenatal growth and development from this research. However, we did not find any extra-pituitary GH transcripts in our studied tissues.

3.4.6 GHR

The expression of *GHR* has been studied in a variety of mammals and transcript was detected in a range of embryonic and fetal tissues (Waters and Kaye, 2002). In accordance with the present results, it has been shown that in adult human, liver and skeletal muscle had the highest levels of *GHR* expression (Ballesteros et al., 2000). Liver, heart and skeletal muscle also showed highest levels of *GHR* expression in adult rabbit (Ymer and Herington, 1992). A study of bovine *GHR* expression showed that liver followed by skeletal muscle and kidney had the highest level of expression in adults and in 8-month old fetuses (Jiang et al., 1999). In our study, *GHR* overall transcript was expressed at low levels in fetal cotyledon and cotyledon obtained by C-section close to term, but none of the measured *GHR* transcripts including *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* were detectable. This might indicate that other possible transcript variants of *GHR* might be more expressed in cotyledon. Variants A, B and C are responsible for 90% of total *GHR* transcription (Jiang and Lucy, 2001).

GHR-1A showed a liver specific expression pattern in bovine fetal and juvenile tissues. However, this transcript could not be detected in embryonic liver. It has been shown that *GHR-1A* is exclusively expressed in liver of mammals, including human (Zhou et al., 1997), mouse (Menon et al., 1995) and cattle (Jiang and Lucy, 2001). In contrast to our result, Lucy et al. (1998) reported that *GHR-1A* was not expressed in 8-month old bovine fetal liver. It has been demonstrated that administration of recombinant bovine somatotropin increased expression of *GHR-1A*, but not of the other *GHR* transcripts in cattle liver (Kobayashi et al., 1999). This may suggest GH-dependent IGF1 action in liver is more correlated with liver *GHR-1A* mRNA and not with other liver transcripts of *GHR* (Kobayashi et al., 1999).

GHR-1B and *-1C* transcripts showed very similar patterns to overall transcript abundance but there were no detectable transcripts in fetal cotyledon or near term (C-section) cotyledon. Liver and skeletal muscle showed higher mRNA levels for *GHR-1B* and *1C* than other tissues. Jiang and Lucy (2001) reported that bovine fetal and adult liver expressed the highest levels of *GHR-1B* and *1C*. However, in contrast to our result, they showed that fetal kidney expressed the second highest level of *GHR-1B* and not skeletal muscle. We showed that bovine adult liver has the highest level of *GHR* mRNA expression which was ~5.5 fold higher than in skeletal muscle. Since *GHR-1B* and *1C* had almost 2-fold higher expression levels in liver than in skeletal muscle, it appears that *GHR-1A* contributes a significant proportion of total GHR transcript in adult liver. GHR and GH are closely related to a family of hormones and receptors including prolactin (PRL), prolactin receptor (PRLR) and placental lactogen (PL). There is a high degree of similarity between GH and PRL and their receptors (GHR and PRLR) amino acid sequences, gene structures, and functions (Goffin and Kelly, 1997). It has been shown that GHR can be a receptor for PRL and PL hormones and GHR and PRLR can form a functional heterodimer receptor (Goffin and Kelly, 1997). Upon binding either of GH, PRL or PL to GHR, signal transduction initiates with phosphorylation of cytosolic Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) which activates STAT pathways. STAT5b is directly involved in regulation of IGF1 transcription (Hwa et al., 2011).

GHR is the mediator of GH actions and binding of GH to GHR initiates the transcription of many genes including IGF1 (Jiang et al., 2007). Knockout mouse models showed no significant body size or weight differences among normal and GHR knockout newborns. However, GHR deficient mice (Laron mice) were significantly smaller 3 weeks after birth (Zhou et al., 1997). Laron mice had 90% less circulating IGF1 and lived up to 50% longer than controls (Coschigano et al., 2000). It has been shown that *GHR* expression is highly correlated with *IGF1* expression in cattle liver (Kobayashi et al., 1999). Liver tissue can be considered a key organ of the GH-IGF1 axis postnatally. However, a GH-independent role of IGF1 appears to be the predominant mechanism responsible for growth and development in the prenatal period (Osafo et al., 2005; LeRoith et al., 2001a).

The present data showed that GHR transcript was expressed in a variety of bovine fetal and embryonic tissues. Since there is no published evidence of a direct role of GH in prenatal growth and development (Osafo et al., 2005), and since the ability of binding other ligands such as PRL and PL, which are specific to gestational age, there could be other mechanisms contributing to differential GHR transcription during bovine fetal development.

References

Adachi Y, Itoh F, Yamamoto H, Arimura Y, Kikkawa-Okabe Y, Miyazaki K, Carbone D P and Imai K. 2001. Expression of angiomodulin (tumor-derived adhesion factor/mac25) in invading tumor cells correlates with poor prognosis in human colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer, 95(4): 216-22.

Adamo M, Lowe W L, LeRoith D and Roberts Jr C T. 1989. Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Messenger Ribonucleic Acids with Alternative 5'-Untranslated Regions Are Differentially Expressed during Development of the Rat. Endocrinology, 124(6): 2737-2744.

Allan G J, Flint D J and Patel K. 2001. Insulin-like growth factor axis during embryonic development. Reproduction, 122: 31-39.

Albiston A L and Herington A C. 1992. Tissue distribution and regulation of insulin-like growth factor (IGF) binding protein-3 messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) in the rat: comparison with IGF-I mRNA expression. Endocrinology, 130: 497-502.

Arnaldez F I and L J Helman. 2012. Targeting the Insulin Growth Factor Receptor 1. Hematology/oncology clinics of North America, 26(3): 527-542.

Baker J, Liu J P, Robertson E J and Efstratiadis A. 1993. Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth. Cell, 75: 73–82.

Ballesteros M, Leung K C, Ross R J, Iismaa T P and Ho K K. 2000. Distribution and abundance of messenger ribonucleic acid for growth hormone receptor isoforms in human tissues. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 85: 2865–2871.

Batchelor D C, Hutchins A-M, Klempt M and Skinner S J M. 1995. Developmental changes in the expression patterns of IGFs, type 1 IGF receptor and IGF-binding proteins-2 and -4 in perinatal rat lung. J Mol Endocrinol, 15: 105-115.

Belfiore A, Frasca F, Pandini G, Sciacca L and Vigneri R. 2009. Insulin receptor isoforms and insulin receptor/insulin-like growth factor receptor hybrids in physiology and disease. Endocr Rev, 30(6): 586-623.

Bienvenu G, Seurin D, Grellier P, Froment P, Baudrimont M, Monget P, Le Bouc Y and Babajko S. 2004. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-6 transgenic mice: postnatal growth, brain development, and reproduction abnormalities. Endocrinology, 145: 2412–2420.

Bornfeldt K E, Arnqvist H J, Enberg B, Mathews L S and Norstedt G. 1989. Regulation of insulin-like growth factor-I and growth hormone receptor gene expression by diabetes and nutritional state in rat tissues. Endocrinology, 122(3): 651-656.

Carr J M, Owens J A, Grant P A, Walton P E, Owens P C and Wallace J C. 1995. Circulating insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), IGF-binding proteins (IGFBPs) and tissue mRNA levels of IGFBP-2 and IGFBP-4 in the ovine fetus. Endocrinology, 145: 545–557.

Cerro J A, Grewal A, Wood T L and Pintar J E. 1993. Tissue-specific expression of the insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP) mRNAs in mouse and rat development. Regulatory Peptides, 48: 189–198.

Chen W, Li W and Lin H. 2009. Common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2 (IGFBP-2): Molecular cloning, expression profiles, and hormonal regulation in hepatocytes. Gen Comp Endocrinol, 161(3): 390–399.

112

Clemmons D R. 2007. Modifying IGF1 activity: an approach to treat endocrine disorders, atherosclerosis and cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 6(10): 821-33.

Cohick W S and Clemmons D R. 1993. The Insulin-Like Growth Factors. Annu Rev Physiol, 55(1): 131-153.

Coppola D, Ouban A and Gilbert-Barness E. 2009. Expression of the insulin-like growth factor receptor 1 during human embryogenesis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol, 28(2): 47-54.

Cordano P, Hammon H M, Morel C, Zurbriggen A and Blum J W. 2000. mRNA of insulinlike growth factor (IGF) quantification and presence of IGF binding proteins, and receptors for growth hormone, IGF-I and insulin, determined by reverse transcribed polymerase chain reaction, in the liver of growing and mature male cattle. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 19(3): 191-208.

Coschigano K T, Clemmons D, Bellush L L and Kopchick J J. 2000. Assessment of growth parameters and life span of GHR/BP gene-disrupted mice. Endocrinology, 141: 2608–2613.

Cosman D, Lyman S D, Idzerda R L, Beckmann M P, Park L S, Goodwin R G and March C J. 1990. A new cytokine receptor superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci, 15(7): 265–270.

Degeorges A, Wang F, Frierson H F, Seth A and Sikes R A. 2000. Distribution of IGFBP-rP1 in normal human tissues. J Histochem Cytochem, 48: 747–754.

Delhanty P J and Han V K. 1993. The expression of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-binding protein-2 and IGF-II genes in the tissues of the developing ovine fetus. Endocrinology, 132(1): 41-52.

De winter P, Leoni P and Abraham D. 2008. Connective tissue growth factor: Structure– function relationships of a mosaic, multifunctional protein. Growth Factors, 26(2): 80–91.

Dickson M C, Saunders J C and Gilmour R S. 1991. The ovine insulin-like growth factor-I gene: characterization, expression and identification of a putative promoter. J Mol Endocrinol, 6(1): 17-31.

Duguay S J, Lai-Zhang J, Steiner D F, Funkenstein B and Chan S J. 1996. Developmental and tissue-regulated expression of IGF-I and IGF-II mRNAs in Sparus aurata. J Mol Endocrinol, 16(2): 123-132.

Dupont J and Holzenberger M. 2003. Biology of insulin-like growth factors in development. Birth Defects Res. C Embryo Today, 69: 257–271.

Edmonson S R, Werther G A, Russell A, Leroith D, Roberts Jr. CT and Beck F. 1995. Localization of growth hormone receptor/binding protein messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) during rat fetal development: Relationship to insulin-like growth factor-I mRNA. Endocrinology, 136: 4602–4609.

Farin C E, Alexander J E and Farin P W. 2010. Expression of messenger RNAs for insulinlike growth factors and their receptors in bovine fetuses at early gestation from embryos produced in vivo or in vitro. Theriogenology 74(7): 1288-1295.

Firth S M and Baxter R C. 2002. Cellular actions of the insulin-like growth factor binding proteins. Endocr Rev, 23: 824–854.

Frasca F, Pandini G, Scalia P, Sciacca L, Mineo R, Costantino A, Goldfine I D, Belfiore A and Vigneri R. 1999. Insulin receptor isoform A, a newly recognized, high-affinity insulinlike growth factor II receptor in fetal and cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol, 19: 3278–3288.

Fu Q, Yu X, Callaway C W, Lane R H, and McKnight R A. 2009. Epigenetics: intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) modifies the histone code along the rat hepatic IGF-1 gene, The FASEB Journal, (23)8: 2438–2449.

Garcia-Aragon J, Lobie P E, Muscat G E O, Gobius K S, Norstedt G and Waters M J. 1992. Prenatal expression of the growth hormone receptor/binding protein in the rat: a role for growth hormone in embryonic and fetal development. Development, 114: 869–876.

Gerrard D E, Okamura C S and Grant A L. 1999. Expression and location of IGF binding proteins-2, -4, and -5 in developing fetal tissues. J Anim Sci, 77(6): 1431-1441.

Goffin V and Kelly P A. 2001. Prolactin receptor. Cytokine Reference. Academic Press, USA: 1547-1562.

Goodall J J and Schmutz S M. 2007. IGF2 gene characterization and association with rib eye area in beef cattle. Anim Genet, 38(2): 154-161.

Gootwine E. 2004. Placental hormones and fetal-placental development. Anim Rep Sci. 82– 83: 551–566.

Gore M T, Young R B, Claeys M C, Chromiak J A, Rahe C H, Marple D N, Hough J D, Griffin J L and Mulvaney D R. 1994. Growth and development of bovine fetuses and neonates representing three genotypes. J Anim Sci, 72(9): 2307-2318.

Han V K M, Matsell D G and Lund P K. 1996. IGF-Binding Protein mRNAs in the Human Fetus: Tissue and Cellular Distribution of Developmental Expression. Horm Res Paediatr, 45(3-5): 160-166.

Harvey S. 2010. Extrapituitary growth hormone. Endocr, 38: 335–359.

Haugk K L, Wilson H M, Swisshelm K and Quinn L S. 2000. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-binding protein-related protein-1: an autocrine/paracrine factor that inhibits skeletal myoblast differentiation but permits proliferation in response to IGF. Endocrinology, 141(1): 100-110.

Hill D J. 1990. Relative abundance and molecular size of immunoreactive insulin-like growth factors I and II in human fetal tissues. Early Hum Dev, 21(1): 49-58.

Holland M D, Hossner K L, Williams S E, Wallace C R, Niswerder G D and Odde K G. 1997. Serum concentrations of insulin-like growth factors and placental lactogen during gestation in cattle I. Fetal profiles. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 14(4): 231-239.

Holzenberger M, Lapointe F, Leibovici M and Lievre C A. 1996. The avian IGF type 1 receptor: cDNA analysis and in situ hybridization reveal conserved sequence elements and expression patterns relevant for the development of the nervous system. Brain Res Dev Brain Res, 97: 76-87.

Horseman N D and Yu-Lee L-y. 1994. Transcriptional regulation by the helix bundle peptide hormones: GH, PRL, and hematopoietic cytokines. Endocrine Rev, 15: 627–649.

Hwa V, Fang P, Derr M A, Fiegerlova E and Rosenfeld R G. 2013. IGF-I in Human Growth: Lessons from Defects in the GH-IGF-I Axis. Recent Advances in Growth Research: Nutritional, Molecular and Endocrine Perspectives, 71: 43–55.

Hwa V, Oh Y and Rosenfeld R G. 1999. The insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP) superfamily. Endocr Rev, 20: 761-787.

Hwa V, Nadeau K, Wit J M and Rosenfeld R G. 2011. STAT5b deficiency: lessons from STAT5b gene mutations. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 25: 61–75.

Ivkovic S, Yoon B S, Popoff S N, Safadi FF, Libuda D E, Stephenson R C, Daluiski A and Lyons K M. 2003. Connective tissue growth factor coordinates chondrogenesis and angiogenesis during skeletal development. Development, 130 (12): 2779–91.

Jansen E, Steenbergh P, Van Schaik F and Sussenbach J. 1992. The human IGF-I gene contains two cell type-specifically regulated promoters. Biochem. Biophys Res Commun, 187: 1219–1226.

Jensen L T, Jorgensen J O L, Risteli J, Christiansen J S and Lorenzen I. 1991. Type I and III procollagen propeptides in growth hormone-deficient patients: effects of increasing doses of GH. Acta Endocrinologica, 124: 278–282.

Jiang H and Lucy M C. 2001. Variants of the 5'-untranslated region of the bovine growth hormone receptor mRNA: isolation, expression and effects on translational efficiency. Gene, 265: 45-53.

Jiang H, Okamura C S and Lucy M C. 1999. Isolation and characterization of a novel promoter for the bovine growth hormone receptor gene. J Biol Chem, 274: 7893–7900.

117

Jiang L I, Collins J, Davis R, Lin K-M, Decamp D and Roach T. 2007. Use of a cAMP BRET sensor to characterize a novel regulation of cAMP by the sphingosine 1-phosphate/G13 pathway. J Biol Chem, 282: 10576–10584.

Jospe N, Kaplowitz P B and Furlanetto R W. 1996. Homozygous nonsense mutation in the insulin receptor gene of a patient with severe congenital insulin resistance: leprechaunism and the role of the insulin-like growth factor receptor. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf), 45: 229–235.

Kelly P A, Ali S, Rozakis M, Goujon L, Nagano M, Pellegrini I, Gould D, Djiane J, Edery M, Finidori J and Postel-Vinay M C. 1991. The growth hormone/prolactin receptor family. Recent Prog Horm Res, 48: 123–164.

Kim H-S. 1997. Identification of a family of low-affinity insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs): Characterization of connective tissue growth factor as a member of the IGFBP superfamily. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 95(10): 5841.

Kind K L, Owens J A, Robinson J S, Quinn K J, Grant P A, Walton P E, Gilmour R S and Owens P C. 1995. Effect of restriction of placental growth on expression of IGFs in fetal sheep: relationship to fetal growth, circulating IGFs and binding proteins. Journal of Endocrinology, 146(1): 23-34.

Kobayashi Y, Boyd C K, Bracken C J, Lamberson W R, Keisler D H and Lucy M C. 1999. Reduced growth hormone receptor (GHR) messenger ribonucleic acid in liver of periparturient cattle is caused by a specific down regulation of GHR 1A that is associated with decreased insulin-like growth factor I. Endocrinology, 140: 3947–3954. Kostecka Z and Blahovec J. 2002. Animal insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and their biological functions. Vet Med Czech, 47(2-3): 75-84.

Lacroix M-C, Devinoy E, Cassy S, Servely J L, Vidaud M and Kann G. 1999. Expression of growth hormone and its receptor in the placental and feto-maternal environment during early pregnancy in sheep. Endocrinology, 140: 5587–5597.

Lacroix M C, Guibourdenche J, Frendo J L, Pidoux G and Evain-Brion D. 2002. Placental growth hormones. Endocrine, 19: 73-79.

LeRoith D, Bondy C, Yakar S, Liu J L and Butler A. 2001a. The somatomedin hypothesis: 2001. Endocr Rev, 22: 53–74.

LeRoith D. 2003. The Insulin-Like Growth Factor System. Experimental Diabesity Research, 4(4): 205-212.

LeRoith D and Roberts C T Jr. 1991. Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I): a molecular basis for endocrine versus local action? Mol Cell Endocrinol, 77(1-3): C57-61.

LeRoith D, Scavo L and Butler A. 2001b. What is the role of circulating IGF-I? Trends Endocrinol Metab, 12(2): 48-52.

Leventhal P S and Feldman E L. 1997. Insulin-like growth factors as regulators of cell motility: signalling mechanisms. Trends Endocrinol Metab, 8: 1-6.

Lighten A D, Hardy K, Winston RM and Moore G E. 1997. Expression of mRNA for the insulin-like growth factors and their receptors in human preimplantation embryos. Mol Reprod Dev, 47(2): 134-9.

Liu J P, Baker J, Perkins A S, Robertson E J and Efstratiadis A. 1993. Mice carrying null mutations of the genes encoding insulin-like growth factor I (Igf-1) and type-1 IGF receptor (Igf1r). Cell 75, 59–72.

Lonergan P, Gutiérrez-Adán A, Pintado B, Fair T, Ward F, Fuente J D and Boland M. 2000. Relationship between time of first cleavage and the expression of IGF-I growth factor, its receptor, and two housekeeping genes in bovine two-cell embryos and blastocysts produced in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev, 57(2): 146-152.

Louvi A, Accili D and Efstratiadis A. 1997. Growth-promoting interaction of IGF-II with the insulin receptor during mouse embryonic development. Dev Biol, 189: 33–48.

Marino J H, Cook P and Miller K S. 2003. Accurate and statistically verified quantification of relative mRNA abundances using SYBR Green I and real-time RT-PCR. J Immunol Methods, 283(1-2): 291-306.

McMurtry J P, Francis G L and Upton Z. 1997. Insulin-like growth factors in poultry. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 14(4): 199-229.

Menon R K, Stephan D A, Singh M, Morris Jr. S M and Zou L. 1995. Cloning of the Promoter-Regulatory Region of the Murine Growth Hormone Receptor Gene: Identification of a developmentally regulated enhancer element. J. Biol. Chem., 270: 8851-8859.

Mo F E, Muntean A G, Chen C C, Stolz D B, Watkins S C and Lau L F. 2002. CYR61 (CCN1) is essential for placental development and vascular integrity. Mol Cell Biol, 22: 8709–8720.

Moller D E, Yokota A, Caro J F and Flier J S. 1989. Tissue-specific expression of two alternatively spliced insulin receptor mRNAs in man. Mol Endocrinol, 3: 1263–1269.

Mosthaf L, Grako K, Dull T J, Coussens L, Ullrich A, McClain D A. 1990. Functionally distinct insulin receptors generated by tissue-specific alternative splicing. EMBO J, 9: 2409 – 2413.

Mukherjee A, Wilson E M and Rotwein P. 2008. Insulin-Like Growth Factor (IGF) Binding Protein-5 Blocks Skeletal Muscle Differentiation by Inhibiting IGF Actions Mol. Endocrinol, 22 (1): 206-215.

Murali S G, Brinkman A S, Solverson P M, Pun W, Pintar J E and Ney D M. 2012. Exogenous GLP-2 and IGF-I induce a differential intestinal response in IGF binding protein-3 and -5 double knockout mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 302: G794–G804.

Murphy L M, Seneviratne C, Ballejo G, Croze F and Kennedy T G. 1990. Identification and characterization of a rat decidual insulin-like growth factor binding protein complementary DNA. Mol Endocrinol, 4: 329-336.

Nagaoka I, Someya A, Iwabuchi K and Yamashita T. 1991. Expression of insulin-like growth factor-IA and factor-IB mRNA in human liver, hepatoma cells, macrophage-like cells and fibroblast. FEBS Letters, 280(1): 79-83.

Nakae J, Kido Y and Accili D. 2001. Distinct and Overlapping Functions of Insulin and IGF-I Receptors. Endocr Rev, 22(6): 818-835.

Ohtsuki T, Otsuki M, Murakami Y, Maekowa T, Yamamoto T, Kasaka K, Takenchi S and Takahashi S. 2005. Organ-Specific and Age-Dependent Expression of Insulin-like Growth

Factor-I (IGF-I) mRNA Variants: IGF-IA and IB mRNAs in the Mouse. Zoolog Sci, 22(9): 1011-1021.

Okusky J and Ye P. 2012. Neurodevelopmental effects of insulin-like growth factor signaling. Front Neuroendocrinol, 33(3): 230-251.

Ooi G T, Orlowski C C, Brown A L, Becker R E, Unterman T G and Rechler M M. 1990. Different tissue distribution and hormonal regulation of messenger RNAs encoding rat insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins-1 and -2, Mol Endocrinol, 4: 321-328.

Orlowski C C, Ooi G T, Brown D R, Yang Y W and Tseng L Y. 1991 . Insulin rapidly inhibits insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-I gene expression in H4-II-E rat hepatoma cells. Mol Endocrinol, 5: 1180-87.

Osafo J, Wei Y, Kenth G and Goodyer C G. 2005. Growth hormone during development. Rev Endocr Metab Disord, 6: 175–182.

Otis E M and Brent R. 1954. Equivalent ages in mouse and human embryos. Anat Rec, 120: 33-63.

Pandini G, Frasca F, Mineo R, Sciacca L, Vigneri R and Belfiore A. 2002. Insulin/insulin-like growth factor I hybrid receptors have different biological characteristics depending on the insulin receptor isoform involved. J Biol Chem, 277: 39684–39695.

Pell J M, Saunders J C and Gilmour R S. 1993. Differential regulation of transcription initiation from insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) leader exons and of tissue IGF-I expression in response to changed growth hormone and nutritional status in sheep. Endocrinology, 132(4): 1797-1807.

Pezzino V, Papa V and, Trischitta V. 1989. Human insulin receptor radioimmunoassay: applicability to insulin-resistant states. Am J Physiol, 257: E451–457.

Phillips L S, Pao C-I and Villafuerte B C. 1998. Molecular Regulation of Insulin-like Growth Factor-I and Its Principal Binding Protein, IGFBP-3. Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology. Academic Press, 60: 195-265.

Pollak M. 2012. The insulin and insulin-like growth factor receptor family in neoplasia: an update. Nat rev: Cancer, 12: 158-169.

Ramsay T G, Wolverton C K and Steele N C. 1994. Alteration in IGF-I mRNA content of fetal swine tissues in response to maternal diabetes. Am J Physiol-Reg I, 267(5): R1391-R1396.

Rao L V, Wikarczuk M L and Heyner S. 1990. Functional roles of insulin and insulinlike growth factors in preimplantation mouse embryo development. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol, 26(11): 1043-8.

Rosa F E, Silveira S M, Silveira C G, Bérgamo N A, Neto F A, Domingues M A, Soares F A, Caldeira J R and Rogatto S R. 2009. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR and chromogenic in situ hybridization: precise methods to detect HER-2 status in breast carcinoma. BMC Cancer, 9: 90.

Rosenfeld R G and Roberts C T Jr. 1999. The IGF system: Molecular biology, physiology, and clinical applications. Humana Press. ISBN-10: 0896036928.

Rotwein P, Pollock K M, Watson M and Milbrandt J D. 1987. Insulin-Like Growth Factor Gene Expression during Rat Embryonic Development. Endocrinology, 121(6): 2141-2144.

Salih DA, Tripathi G, Holding C, Szestak T A, Gonzalez M I, Carter E J, Cobb L J, Eisemann J E and Pell J M. 2004. Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 5 (Igfbp5) compromises survival, growth, muscle development, and fertility in mice. PNAS USA, 101: 4314–4319.

Serrano R, Villar M, Martínez C, Carrascosa J M, Gallardo N and Andrés A. 2005. Differential gene expression of insulin receptor isoforms A and B and insulin receptor substrates 1, 2 and 3 in rat tissues: modulation by aging and differentiation in rat adipose tissue. J Mol Endocrinol, 34(1): 153-61.

Shamblott M J and Chen T T. 1993. Age-related and tissue-specific levels of five forms of insulin-like growth factor mRNA in a teleost. Mol Mar Biol Biotechnol, 2(6): 351-361.

Shemer J, Adamo M L, Roberts C T and LeRoith D. Tissue-specific transcription start site usage in the leader exons of the rat insulin-like growth factor I gene: evidence for differential regulation in the developing kidney. Endocrinology, 131: 2793-2799.

Shimasaki S, Gao L, Shimonaka M and Ling N. 1991. Isolation and molecular cloning of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-6. Mol Endocrinol, 5: 938-948.

Shimasaki S and Ling N. 1991. Identification and molecular characterization of insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBP-1,-2,-3,-4,-5 and-6). Prog Growth Factor Res, 3(4): 243 – 266.

Silha J V and Murphy L J. 2002. Minireview: Insights from insulin-like growth factor binding protein transgenic mice. Endocrinology, 143(10): 3711–3714.

Sjogren K, Liu J, Blad K, Skrtic S, Vidal O, Wallenius V, LeRoith D, Törnell J, Isaksson O, Jansson J and Ohlsson C. 1999. Liver-derived insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) is the

principle source of IGF-I in blood but is not required for postnatal body growth in mice. PNAS USA, 96: 7088–7092.

Skottner A. 2012. Biosynthesis of Growth Hormone and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I and the Regulation of their Secretion. Open Endocrinol J, 6(Suppl 1: M2): 3-12.

Vacca G M, Dettori M L, Balia F, Luridiana S, Mura C M, Carcangiu V and Pazzola M. 2013. Sequence polymorphisms at the growth hormone GH1/GH2-N and GH2-Z gene copies and their relationship with dairy traits in domestic sheep (*Ovis aries*). Mol Biol Rep. DOI 10.1007/s11033-013-2629-9.

Vnencak-Jones C L, Phillips J A, Chen E Y and Seeburg P H. 1988. Molecular basis of human growth hormone deletions. PNAS USA, 85: 5615-5619.

Von Horn H, Ekstrom C, Ellis E, Olivecrona H, Einarsson C, Tally M and Ekstrom T J. 2002. GH is a regulator of IGF2promoter-specific transcription in human liver. J Endocrinol, 172(3): 457-65.

Wallis M, Lioupis A and Wallis O C. 1998. Duplicate growth hormone genes in sheep and goat. J Mol Endocrinol, 21: 1–5.

Wang Y, Price S E and Jiang H. 2003. Cloning and characterization of the bovine class 1 and class 2 insulin-like growth factor-I mRNAs. Domestic Animal Endocrinology, 25(4): 315-328.

Wang L M, Feng H L, Cang M, Li H J, Yan Zh, Zhou P, Wen J X, Bou S and Liu D J. 2009. Expression of IGF receptors and its ligands in bovine oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Anim Reprod Sci, 114: 99–108. Wang X J, Shi J J, Yang J F, Liang Y, Wang Y F, Wu1 M L, Li S Y, Guo X D, Wang Z G and Liu D J. 2012. Molecular Characterization and Expression Pattern of Gene IGFBP-5 in the Cashmere Goat (Capra hircus). Asian-Aust J Anim Sci, 25(5): 606 - 612.

Waters M J and Kaye P L. 2002. The role of growth hormone in fetal development. Growth Hormone IGF Res, 12: 137–146.

Williams N G, Interlichia J P, Iackson M, Hwang D, Cohen P and Rodgers B. 2011. Endocrine Actions of Myostatin: Systemic Regulation of the IGF and IGF Binding Protein Axis. Endocrinology, 152(1): 172-180.

Wood T L, Rogler L E, Czick M E, Schuller A G and Pintar J E. 2000. Selective alterations in organ sizes in mice with a targeted disruption of the insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2 gene. Mol Endocrinol, 14: 1472–1482.

Xiao S, Li S, Parisien M, Jeng W, St-Pierre S A, Brubaker P L and Wheeler M B. 2009. Cloning and characterization of class 1 and class 2 insulin-like growth factor-I mRNA in Songliao black pig. Mol Biol Rep, 36(2): 415-421.

Yakar S, Liu J-L, Stannard B, Butler A, Accili D, Sauer B and LeRoith D. 1999. Normal growth and development in the absence of hepatic insulin-like growth factor I. PNAS, 96(13): 7324-7329.

Yakar S, Wu Y, Setser J and Rosen C J. 2002. The role of circulating IGF-I. Endocrine, 19(3): 239-248.

Yamanaka Y, Wilson E M, Rosenfeld R G and Oh Y. 1997. Inhibition of insulin receptor activation by insulin-like growth factor binding proteins. J Biol Chem, 272: 30729–30734.

Ymer S I and Herington A C. 1992. Developmental expression of the growth hormone receptor gene in rabbit tissues. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 83(1): 39-49.

Yang S, M Alnaqeeb, Simpson H and Goldspink G. 1996. Cloning and characterization of an IGF-1 isoform expressed in skeletal muscle subjected to stretch. J Muscle Res Cell Motil, 17(4): 487-495.

Yu Y, Xu T, Yu Y, Hao P and Li X. 2010. Association of tissue lineage and gene expression: conservatively and differentially expressed genes define common and special functions of tissues. BMC Bioinformatics, 11(Suppl 11): S1.

Zhang J, G Zhang, R Yang, S Niu, W Bai, D Liu and S Xing. 2011. Cloning and Characterization of Four New Splice Variants of Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I Gene in Chinese Red Steppes. Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances, 10(18): 2459-2464.

Zhou Y, Xu B C, Maheshwari H G and He H. 1997. A mammalian model for the Laron syndrome produced by targeted disruption of the mouse growth hormone receptor/binding protein gene (the Laron mouse). PNAS USA, 94: 13215–20.

Heterosis in insulin-like growth factor family member transcript abundance

4.1 Introduction

Heterosis or hybrid vigour is the superiority of crossbred animals over the average of purebred parents (Dickerson, 1973). From an evolutionary point of view, heterosis is defined as higher fitness of heterozygote individuals, compared to homozygotes in a population (Chen, 2011).

Heterosis has an important role in improving the productivity of plants and animals and has been used for centuries to obtain benefits in animal production industries (Simm, 1998; Dickerson, 1973). Despite the long history of using heterosis in industry, the molecular mechanisms underlying this phenomenon remain unclear. There are several hypotheses proposed from quantitative genetics, including dominance, over dominance and epistasis, but none are able to fully explain the mechanism of heterosis (Alexander et al., 2009; Birchler et al., 2003).

As a basic principle of crossbreeding, heterosis has been used extensively in the beef industry (Dickerson, 1973). In general, heterosis increases as the genetic distance of the parents increases (Chen, 2010). Thus, when breeds from two subspecies are crossed (e.g. *Bos taurus* \times *Bos indicus*), a higher level of heterosis is expected compared to a cross between two similar breeds. Cundiff et al. (1994) showed that performance in carcass and meat characteristics of *Bos indicus* and *Bos taurus* crossbred cattle is greater than purebreds. Similarly, Brown et al. (1993) demonstrated that Brahman-Angus hybrid calves had higher

129

birth weight compared to Angus or Brahman purebreds. Since heterosis in cattle can be detected as early as birth, the molecular mechanism driving heterosis may be initiated during embryonic and fetal development.

A number of studies have been performed to investigate possible physiological contributors to increased growth associated with heterosis in cattle. This includes assessment of the potential role of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) in heterosis (Caldwell et al., 2011). Plasma and serum concentrations of IGF1 have been linked to many economically important traits in cattle. Johnston et al. (2001) found positive correlations between the circulating concentration of IGF1 and traits such as birth weight and carcass weight in cattle. A significant linear correlation between plasma IGF1 and weight of D-80 bovine IVF and AI fetuses was demonstrated by Hiendleder et al. (2006). It has also been shown that circulating IGF1 is significantly higher at D-84 in Angus-Brahman crossbred calves compared to Angus or Brahman purebred individuals (Caldwell et al., 2011).

IGF1 is an anabolic and mitogenic hormone, that stimulates protein and glycogen synthesis, increases DNA synthesis, stimulates cell cycle progression and inhibits apoptosis (Jones and Clemmons, 1995). From a broader perspective, IGF1 belongs to the IGF family which plays an important role in regulating pre- and post-natal growth and development (Alexander et al., 2010). Translation and transcription of IGF system components has been extensively studied in mammals (Moore et al., 2007; Kind et al., 1995; Baker et al., 1993; Rotwein et al., 1987). The IGF family is composed of two ligands (IGF1, IGF2); two types of IGF receptors (IGF1R and IGF2R), the insulin receptor (IR) and six high affinity IGF binding proteins (IGFBP1-6) (Moore et al., 2007; Pandini et al., 2002) and at least two low affinity IGF binding proteins (IGFBP7-8) (Kim, 1998) (Refer to Figures 1.3 and 1.4).

A studies showed an association of IGF1 and heterosis in postnatal cattle (Caldwell et al., 2011), but tissue specific expression analyses of IGF family members, including different transcript variants, have not been conducted in prenatal stages in the context of heterotic phenotypes.

The aim of this chapter is to investigate potential heterosis effects in transcript abundance of IGF system components, including *IGF1*, *IGF1* class1, *IGF1* class2, *IGF1R*, *IGFBP1* to 6, *IR*, *IR-A* and *IR-B* in heart, brain, skeletal muscle, liver and cotyledon tissue of both reciprocal hybrid and purebred fetuses of *Bos indicus* (Brahman) and *Bos taurus* (Angus).

4.2 Materials and methods

All animal experiments and procedures described in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee (No. S-094-2005 and S-094-2005A). The two breeds used in this research are subspecies of domestic cow, commonly referred to as *Bos taurus* (or taurine) and *Bos indicus* (or indicine) (Hiendleder et al., 2008). Four different groups of D-153 fetuses were used in this study: purebred Angus (n=23) and Brahman (n=15) and the two reciprocal crosses (AB[†], n=13 and BA, n=22). Fetal tissues including heart, brain, skeletal muscle (*M. semimembranosus*), liver and cotyledon were collected as described in Chapter 2, section 2.1. RNA was extracted and cDNA synthesised as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2. The tissues were selected to represent all three germ layers, including ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. Cotyledon tissue represented the trophectoderm lineage (Yu et al., 2010).

[†] A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicating the breed of sire and dam, respectively.

Relative abundance of 13 transcripts from the IGF family, including *IGF1*, *IGF1* class1, *IGF1* class2, *IGF1R*, *IGFBP1* to 6, *IR*, *IR-A* and *IR-B*, were assessed by quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR). All reactions, including housekeeper genes, were conducted in duplicate or triplicate (Chapter 2, section 2.6).

To identify the most stable genes for purposes of normalising qPCR data for RNA/cDNA input, seven housekeeping genes were used. These were actin beta (*ACTB*), ribosomal protein S9 (*RPS9*), ubiquitin B (*UBB*), H3 histone family 3A (*H3F3A*), TATA box binding protein (*TBP*), vacuolar protein sorting 4 homolog A (*VPS4A*) and cyclin-G associated kinase (*GAK*) (Hruz et al. 2011; Lisowski et al., 2008). The qPCR reactions for housekeeper genes were performed in triplicate and all of desired genes were assessed in each of the tissue types, with the exception of cotyledon. In cotyledon, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*) was assessed, instead of *H3F3A*, due to initial studies that indicated that *H3F3A* expression was not stable in cotyledon. Computer software, geNorm version 3.5 was used to determine the most appropriate two housekeeper genes in each tissue, based on a method described by Vandesompele et al. (2002). *VPS4A* and *RSP9* were identified as the two genes with the most stable and readily detectable expression.

Gene expression data and fetal phenotype including fetal and organ weights were analysed by Univariate Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) using the general linear model procedure of JMP statistical package version 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.).

Data were fitted into following linear models:

1- To analyse the effects of fetal genetics, fetal sex and interactions between these factors:

$$y_{ijk} = G_i + S_j + (G^*S)_{ij} + e_{ijk}$$

where y_{ijk} is the normalised relative gene expression level, or fetal phenotype, G_i is fetal genetics effect (i = AA, BA, AB, BB)[†], S_j is fetal sex effect (j = male, female), (G*S)_{ij} is fetal genetics by sex interaction and e_{ijk} is the residual effect.

2- To estimate heterosis effects on gene expression:

$$y_{ijkl} = H_i + G_j(H_i) + S_k + (H^*S)_{ik} + e_{ijkl}$$

where y_{ijkl} is the normalised relative gene expression level or fetal phenotype, H_i is heterosis effect (i = purebred, crossbred), $G_j(H_i)$ is fetal genetics effect nested within heterosis effect (j = AA, BB nested within purebred, j = BA, AB nested within crossbred), S_k is fetal sex (k = male, female), (H*S)_{ik} is heterosis effect-by-sex interaction and e_{ijkl} is the residual effect.

Associations between fetal phenotypic traits and relative gene expression levels were analysed using simple linear regression models using JMP 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.).

Fetal phenotype traits included weights of fetus, liver, heart, brain, fetal placenta and combined muscles, including *M. supraspinatus, M. longissimus dorsi, M. quadriceps femoris and M. semimembranosus* (each measured as the average weight of both left and right muscles). Phenotype data were provided by Prof. Stefan Hiendleder and Ruidong Xiang (combined muscle weight). Values are presented as least square means and their associated standard errors. Group differences were tested by pairwise comparison of least-squares means using Student's t-tests.

Heterosis for phenotypic and molecular parameters was calculated as heterosis percentage:

Heterosis $\% = [(crossbred average-purebred average)/purebred average] \times 100$

[†] A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicating the breed of sire and dam, respectively.
Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on phenotype

There was no effect of heterosis on fetus weight or absolute fetal organ weights. Fetus weight and the weights of all fetal organs were significantly heavier in males than females, with the exception of fetal placenta (Figure 4.1). Fetal weight and all organ weights were affected by genetics, with the exception of fetal brain. Fetuses with BB and/or AB genotypes always had lower organ and fetus weights compared with individuals with AA or BA genotypes, except in brain. Also BA fetuses showed significantly higher weights for fetus and organs, compared with AB fetuses (except in brain).



Figure 4.1 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for fetal and absolute organ weights including brain, heart, liver, fetal placenta and combined skeletal muscles in D-153 fetuses with four different genetics. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13, and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Combined muscle weight was calculated as the combined weights of *M. supraspinatus*, *M. longissimus dorsi*, *M. quadraceps femoris*, *M. semimembranosus* (each of them measured as the average weight of both left and right muscles). Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (P<0.05). Genetic groups with different superscripts differ significantly (t-test P <0.05).

Effects of heterosis, genetics and sex on relative organ weights are shown in Figure 4.2. Females had significantly higher relative organ weights, except for heart and liver. Relative brain weight was significantly higher in BA and BB fetuses. None of the investigated factors were significant for relative heart weight. Purebred fetuses had a significantly higher relative liver weight than hybrid fetuses and AB fetuses had significantly lower liver relative weight than all other genetic groups. Relative fetal placenta weight showed a significant effect of genetics and BA individuals had significantly higher relative fetal placenta weights than all other genetic groups. Also BB fetuses showed a significantly lower relative (combined) skeletal muscle weight.



Figure 4.2 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative organ weights to fetus weight including brain, heart, liver, fetal placenta and combined skeletal muscles in in D-153 fetuses with four different genetics. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Combined muscle weight was calculated as the combined weights of *M. supraspinatus*, *M. longissimus dorsi*, *M. quadraceps femoris*, *M. semimembranosus* (each of them measured as the average weight of both left and right muscles). Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (P<0.05). Genetic groups with different superscripts differ significantly (t-test *P* <0.05).

4.3.2 Heterosis, genotype and sex effects on *IGF* family member transcript abundances

4.3.2.1 *IGF* and *IGF1R* expression

Expression levels of *IGF1*, *IGF1 class1* and *IGF1R* are shown in Figure 4.3. In fetal brain, transcript abundance of *IGF1* was significantly higher in purebred Angus individuals in comparison to hybrids. In fetal liver, *IGF1* expression was affected by heterosis and genetic effects. Hybrid AB and BA fetuses had significantly higher expression of *IGF1* in liver. Interestingly, male hybrids and female purebreds had higher levels of *IGF1* compared to the opposite sex. There was no effect of fetal genetics on *IGF1* expression in heart, skeletal muscle or cotyledon tissues.

Expression of *IGF1R* transcript was significantly higher in brain of purebred fetuses. *IGF1R* mRNA levels were higher in liver of AB fetuses. In liver, female hybrids and female AB fetuses also showed higher *IGF1R* expression. *IGF1R* transcript abundance was not significantly affected by hybrid, genetics or sex effects in other tissues.

IGF1 class1 transcript was only expressed in liver and skeletal muscle tissues at a quantifiable level and its expression in liver resembled that of *IGF1* general transcript. *IGF1 class1* mRNA was affected by heterosis, genotype and interaction effects. Hybrid fetuses expressed the highest, and BB genotype showed the lowest, level of *IGF1 class 1* transcript.

Expression level for *IGF1 class2* transcript was too low to be measured consistently in heart, brain and cotyledon. This transcript was affected significantly by heterosis and genetics in liver. The BB genotype showed significantly lower *IGF1 class 2* expression in liver. *IGF1 class 2* expression in skeletal muscle was not affected by heterosis or genetics.



Figure 4.3 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative transcript abundance of *IGF1*, *IGF1R* and *IGF1 class1* and 2 in brain, heart, liver, fetal placenta and skeletal muscles (*M. semimembranosus*) in D-153 fetuses with four different genetics. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22 sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (*P*<0.05). Genetic groups with different superscripts differ significantly (t-test *P* <0.05).

4.3.2.2 *IGFBP1* to 6 expression

Expression of *IGFBP1*, *IGFBP2* and *IGFBP3* is shown in Figure 4.4. *IGFBP1* could only be measured in liver and showed significant sex and genetic effects. Expression of *IGFBP1* was highest in liver of AA fetuses. Expression of *IGFBP1* was higher in males compared to females. *IGFBP2* expression was not affected by heterosis, fetal genetics or sex effects in heart, liver and skeletal muscle, but was affected by genetics in cotyledon tissue, where fetuses with BA genotype showed a significantly higher level of expression. *IGFBP3* expression was not affected by heterosis, genetic or sex effects in any of the studied fetal tissues.

Transcript abundances for *IGFBP4*, *IGFBP5* and *IGFBP6* are presented in Figure 4.5. *IGFBP4* was not affected by heterosis, genetic or sex effects, except in liver where female hybrids showed a significantly higher level of *IGFBP4* transcript. *IGFBP5* expression in fetal tissues was not affected by heterosis, fetal genetic or sex effects. *IGFBP6* transcript was affected by fetal genetic and heterosis effects in liver tissue. AB fetuses showed significantly lower *IGFBP6* expression in liver. *IGFBP6* mRNA abundance was higher in AA fetuses in skeletal muscle compared to other genetic groups. Purebred fetuses also showed higher *IGFBP6* expression in both liver and skeletal muscle, but only differences in liver was significant.

139



Figure 4.4 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative transcript abundance of *IGFBP1*, *IGFBP2* and *IGFBP3* in heart, liver, fetal placenta and skeletal muscles (*M. semimembranosus*) in D-153 fetuses with four different genetics. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (*P*<0.05). Genetic groups with different superscripts differ significantly (t-test *P* <0.05).



Figure 4.5 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative transcript abundance of *IGFBP4*, *IGFBP5* and *IGFBP6* in brain, heart, liver, fetal placenta and skeletal muscles (*M. semimembranosus*) in D-153 fetuses with four different genetics. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (*P*<0.05). Genetic groups with different superscripts differ significantly (t-test *P* <0.05).

4.3.2.3 IR, IR-A and IR-B expression

Fetal heterosis, genetic and sex effects on *IR*, *IR-A* and *IR-B* expression in different tissues are shown in Figure 4.6. In heart, expression of *IR* was significantly higher in AA fetuses. *IR-A* was not affected by sex, genotype and heterosis effects in any tissues. *IR-B* expression level was significantly lower in liver of AB fetuses in comparison to other groups.



Figure 4.6 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative transcript abundance of *IR*, *IR-A*, and *IR-B* in heart, liver, fetal placenta and skeletal muscles (*M. semimembranosus*) in D-153 fetuses with four different genetics. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (*P*<0.05). Genetic groups with different superscripts differ significantly (t-test *P* <0.05).

4.3.3 Summary of phenotypic heterosis and molecular heterosis effects

An overview of phenotypic and molecular heterosis effects is presented in Tables 4.1 and 4.2. The highest positive heterosis effect among fetal organ weights was observed for fetal placenta which increased by 10%. This heterosis effect was approaching significance (P=0.08). Fetus weight and fetal organ weight did not show heterosis effects.

Table 4.1 Overview of heterosis effects in fetus and organ weights of bovine D-153 fetuses (n=73). Positive and negative deviations of the reciprocal F_1 mean from the parental mean as estimated in linear models are shown. Combined muscle weight was calculated as the combined weights of *M. supraspinatus*, *M. longissimus dorsi*, *M. quadraceps femoris*, *M. semimembranosus* (each of them measured as the average weight of both left and right muscles).

	Brain	Heart	Liver	Fetal Placenta	Combined Muscle	Fetus weight
Heterosis	1.4	- 4.5	- 2.1	10.5	- 2.8	0.0

In general, brain showed considerable negative molecular heterosis for all transcripts and fetal placenta showed positive molecular heterosis for all of the transcripts.

Expression of *IGF1* showed a negative 20.2 % heterosis in brain, although it was not significant. Molecular heterosis for *IGF1* was found to be positive in heart (40%) and liver (26%). Heart *IGF1* transcript showed the highest level of molecular heterosis at 40.7 %. In contrast, brain *IGF1R* showed the biggest negative molecular heterosis with 32.7 %. Both *IGF1 class 1* and *class 2* transcripts only showed significant levels of heterosis in liver.

Table 4.2 Overview of molecular heterosis effects in organs of bovine D-153 fetuses. Positive and negative deviations of the reciprocal F_1 mean from the parental mean as estimated in linear models are shown. The significance level considered as *P*<0.05 and indicated with *. *P*-values are from ANOVA (see methods).

organs	Brain	Heart	Liver	Fetal	Skeletal Muscle				
Transcripts				Placenta					
IGF1	- 20.2	40.7*	26.2*	3.9	8.2				
IGF1 class1	-	-	26.6*	-	-8.2				
IGF1 class2	-	-	37.1*	-	22.9				
IGF1R	-32.7*	- 2.5	9.9	-	0.6				
IGFBP1	-	-	- 17.8	-	-				
IGFBP2	-	-11.5	- 12.8	26.7	8.9				
IGFBP3	-	12.2	0.0	12.3	- 1.4				
IGFBP4	-	-10.2	- 3.3	1.5	4.1				
IGFBP5	- 28.6	- 9.3	- 12.5	4.0	2.7				
IGFBP6	-	4.3	- 21.1*	-	- 11.7				
IR	-	-14.0	4.8	-	-				
IR-A	-	- 3.2	- 10.1	4.7	5.4				
IR-B	-	3.5	- 6.2	-	6.0				

4.4 Discussion

Brain showed a negative heterosis for expression of *IGF1* and its receptor, and for *IGFBP5*. However, we did not observe any concurrent negative heterosis in brain weight. Relative brain weight was affected by genetics and sex. Both AB and BB genotypes showed higher relative brain weight than other genotypes. Males had significantly higher absolute brain weight, but they showed lower relative brain weight than females. All liver *IGFBP* transcripts showed negative or no molecular heterosis effects. This could indicate low levels of IGF1 modulators and therefore higher free IGF1 availability, especially in hybrids, to bind to its receptors and initiate its wide range of actions.

The present study did not reveal any heterosis effects in D-153 fetus and organ weights. However, there were high levels of heterosis for *IGF1* transcripts. It was shown that a 10-12% heterosis can be achieved for birth weight in Brahman sired Angus-Brahman hybrids (Cundiff et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1993). Similar levels of heterosis can be observed in plasma IGF1 of calves (Caldwell et al., 2011). It was also shown that plasma IGF1 levels are correlated with fetus and birth weight (Hiendleder et al., 2006; Fowden, 2003).

Organ weights were significantly higher in male fetuses except for fetal placenta, but local *IGF1* transcripts did not show the same pattern. Among other IGF system transcripts only *IGFBP1* expression was affected by sex.

It appears that despite no detectable heterosis for weight at D-153 in bovine hybrid fetuses, the molecular and endocrinological mechanisms of hybrid superiority in growth rate have already developed at mid-gestation. Increased IGF1 expression will clearly impact overall prenatal growth and development until parturition.

IGF1 class2 transcript showed higher levels of heterosis in both liver and skeletal muscle than *IGF1 class1* transcript. *IGF1 class 2* transcript was reported to be more associated with heterosis in circulating IGF1 hormone in hybrid mice in comparison to *IGF1 class1* transcript (Adamo et al., 2006). It was demonstrated in cattle that both *IGF1 class1* and 2 transcript levels in liver increased after administration of GH. However, *class 2* transcript showed a significantly greater increase than *class 1* transcript (Wang et al., 2003). A similar result has

been reported in sheep, where Pell et al. (1993) showed that *IGF1 class 2* transcript is more responsive to GH than *class* 1 transcript.

The present results confirm that high levels of observed molecular heterosis in liver *IGF1* transcript are in accordance with circulating IGF1 levels observed in hybrid calves (Caldwell et al., 2011; Johnston et al., 2001) and increased birth weight and postnatal growth of hybrid calves (Riley et al., 2012). The lack of heterosis effects in weight of D-153 fetuses, and the previously reported heterosis in birth weight in cattle (Elzo et al., 2012; Johnston et al., 2001; Kress and Nelsen, 1998; Brown et al., 1993) suggest that mechanisms controlling heterosis in cattle, such as liver *IGF1* mRNA, are initiated during the prenatal stage. This prenatal mechanism may impact growth rate in later stages of gestation.

The present data showed a high level of molecular heterosis in liver *IGF1 class 2* transcript. This demonstrates an overall higher contribution of *class 2* transcript to heterosis than *IGF1 class 1* transcript in the bovine fetal model. The higher correlation of *IGF1 class 2* transcripts with GH administration (Wang et al., 2003; Pell et al., 1993) suggests an overall higher contribution of *class 2* transcript to heterosis than *IGF1 class 1* transcript in the bovine model. It is interesting to speculate that mechanisms involving *IGF1 class 2* transcript continue to operate postnatally and contribute or cause the extensive heterosis effects observed in postnatal growth and development of hybrids.

4.5 References

Adamo M L, Ma X, Ackert-Bicknell C L, Donahue L R, Beamer W G and Rosen C J. 2006. Genetic increase in serum insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in C3H/HeJ compared with C57BL/6J mice is associated with increased transcription from the IGF-I exon 2 promoter. Endocrinology, 147: 2944–2955.

Alexander T, Stephanie M and Stefan S. 2009. Heterosis in plants: Manifestation in early seed development and prediction approaches to assist hybrid breeding. Chinese Sci Bull, 54: 2363-2375.

Baker J and Liu J P. 1993. Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth. Cell, 75(1): 73-82.

Birchler J A, Auger D L and Riddle N C. 2003. In search of the molecular basis of heterosis. Plant Cell, 15: 2236-2239.

Brown M A, Tharel T L, Brown Jr A H, Jackson W G and Miesner J R. 1993. Genotype x environment interactions in preweaning traits of purebred and reciprocal cross Angus and Brahman calves on common bermudagrass and endophyte-infected tall fescue pastures. J Anim Sci, 71: 326-333.

Caldwell L C, Chase C C, Riley D G, Coleman S W, Phillips W A, Spicer L J, Welsh T H, and Randel R D. 2011. The influence of tropical adaptation on plasma concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I in purebred and crossbred beef cattle. J Anim Sci, 89: 4017-4022.

Chen Z A. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of polyploidy and hybrid vigor. Trends Plant Sci, 15 (2): 57-71.

Cundiff L V, Gregory K E, Wheeler T L, Shackelford S D and Koohmaraie M. 1994. Carcass and meat characteristics of Tuli, Boran, Brahman, Belgian Blue, Piedmontese, Hereford and Angus breed crosses in the cattle germplasm evaluation program. Proc 5th World Congr Genet Appl Livest Prod, 17: 272-275.

Dickerson G E. 1973. Inbreeding and heterosis in animals. J Anim Sci, 1973: 54-77.

Elzo M A, Johnson D D, Wasdin J G and Driver J D. 2012. Carcass and meat palatability breed differences and heterosis effects in an Angus-Brahman multibreed population. J Meat Sci, 90: 87-92.

Fowden A L. 2003. The insulin-like growth factors and feto-placental growth. Placenta, 24: 803–812.

Hiendleder S, Lewalski H and Janke A. 2008. Complete mitochondrial genomes of *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* provide new insights into intra-species variation, taxonomy and domestication. Cytogenet Genome Res, 120: 150–6.

Hiendleder S, Wirtz M, Mund C, Klempt M, Reichenbach H D, Stojkovic M, Weppert M, Wenigerkind H, Elmlinger M and Lyko F. 2006. Tissue-specific effects of in vitro fertilization procedures on genomic cytosine methylation levels in overgrown and normal sized bovine fetuses. Biol Reprod, 75: 17–23.

Hruz T, Wyss M, Docquier M, Pfaffl M W, Masanetz S, Borghi L, Verbrugghe P, Kalaydjieva L, Bleuler S, Laule O, Descombes P, Gruissem W and Zimmermann P. 2011. RefGenes: identification of reliable and condition specific reference genes for RT-qPCR data normalization. BMC Genomics, 12: 156.

Johnston D J, Herd R M, Kadel M J, Graser H U, Arthur P F and Archer J A. 2002. Evidence of IGF-I as a genetic predictor of feed efficiency traits in beef cattle. 7th World Congr Genet Appl Livest, Communication No. 10–16.

Johnston D J, Herd R M, Reverter A and Oddy V H. 2001. Heritability of IGF-I in beef cattle and its association with growth and carcass traits. Proc Assoc Adv Anim Breed Genet, 14: 163–166.

Jones J I and Clemmons D R. 1995. Insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins: biological actions. Endocr Rev, 16: 3–34.

Kind K L, Owens J A, Robinson J S, Quinn K J, Grant P A, Walton P E, Gilmour R S and Owens P C. 1995. Effect of restriction of placental growth on expression of IGFs in fetal sheep: relationship to fetal growth, circulating IGFs and binding proteins. Endocrinology, 146(1): 23-34.

Kim H S. 1998. Identification of a family of low-affinity insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs): Characterization of connective tissue growth factor as a member of the IGFBP superfamily. PNAS, 95(10): 5841.

Kress D D and Nelsen T C. 1988. Crossbreeding beef cattle for western range environments. Nevada Agricultural Experiment Station, University of Nevada–Reno. WRCC-1 publication TB-88–1.

Lisowski P, Pierzchala M, Gooecik J, Pareek C S and Zwierzchowski L. 2008. Evaluation of reference genes for studies of gene expression in the bovine liver, kidney, pituitary, and thyroid. J Appl Genet, 49(4): 367–372.

Moore K, Kramer J M, Rodriguez-Sallaberry C J, Yelich J V and Drost M. 2007. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) family genes are aberrantly expressed in bovine conspectuses produced in vitro or by nuclear transfer. Theriogenology, 68: 717–727.

Pandini G, Frasca F, Mineo R, Sciacca L, Vigneri R and Belfiore A. 2002. Insulin/insulinlike growth factor I hybrid receptors have different biological characteristics depending on the insulin receptor isoform involved. J Biol Chem, 277: 39684–39695.

Pell J M, Saunders J C and Gilmour R S. 1993. Differential regulation of transcription initiation from insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) leader exons and of tissue IGF-I expression in response to changed growth hormone and nutritional status in sheep. Endocrinology, 132(4): 1797-1807.

Riley D G, Chase C C, Coleman S W, Phillips W A, Miller M F, Brooks J C, Johnson D D and Olson T A. 2012. Genetic effects on carcass quantity, quality and palatability traits in straightbred and crossbred Romosinuano steers. J Anim Sci, 90: 2159-2166. Rotwein P and Pollock K M. 1987. Insulin-Like Growth Factor Gene Expression during Rat Embryonic Development. Endocrinology, 121(6): 2141-2144.

Simm G. 1998. Genetic improvement of cattle and sheep. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.

Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A and Speleman F. 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol, 3: 34.

Wang Y, Price S E and Jiang H. 2003. Cloning and characterization of the bovine class 1 and class 2 insulin-like growth factor-I mRNAs. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 25(4): 315-328.

Yu Y, Xu T, Yu Y, Hao P and Li X. 2010. Association of tissue lineage and gene expression: conservatively and differentially expressed genes define common and special functions of tissues. BMC Bioinformatics, 11(Suppl 11): S1.

Chapter 5

Heterosis in growth hormone receptor transcript abundance

5.1 Introduction

Heterosis or hybrid vigour is the superiority of first generation hybrids over the average of the purebred parents (Dickerson, 1973). Heterosis has an important role in improving the productivity of plants and animals and has been used for over a century to obtain benefits in animal production industries (Simm, 1998; Dickerson, 1973). Despite the long history of using heterosis in industry, the molecular mechanisms underlying this phenomenon remain unclear. There are several hypotheses proposed from quantitative genetics, including dominance, over dominance and epistasis, but none fully explain the mechanism of heterosis (Alexander et al., 2009; Birchler et al., 2003).

As a basic tool of animal breeding, crossbreeding and resulting heterosis effects have been used extensively in the beef industry (Dickerson, 1969). In general, the amount of heterosis is higher when the genetic distance of the parents is increased (Chen, 2010). In cattle, when two subspecies are crossed (e.g. *Bos taurus×Bos indicus*), a higher level of heterosis is expected as compared to a cross between similar species. Cundiff et al. (1994) showed that performance in carcass and meat characteristics of crosses of *Bos indicus* and *Bos taurus* cattle is greater than in purebreds. Similarly, Brown et al. (1993) demonstrated that Brahman-Angus hybrid calves had higher birth weight (BW) compared to Angus or Brahman purebreds. Since heterosis in cattle can be detected as early as birth, the molecular mechanism driving heterosis may be initiated during fetal development.

Growth hormone and its receptor have been shown to be among important quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for reproduction (Luna-Nevarez et al., 2011), growth rate and carcass characteristics, as well as milk production in cattle. Taylor et al. (1998) reported a QTL effect on subcutaneous fat mapped to a region of bovine chromosome 19 which harbours the GH gene. Also, a number of QTL studies in cattle breeds have shown effects on milk yield and composition, as well as carcass traits, on bovine chromosome 20 close to the location of growth hormone receptor (GHR) (Khatkar et al., 2004).

Growth hormone gene expression is mainly from the pituitary gland, and pituitary GH is a key stimulator of IGF1 production (Laron 2001). Also it upregulates the transcription of IGF2 gene in liver (von Horn et al., 2002). However, GH expression is not confined to the pituitary gland, and is also present in many extra-pituitary tissues postnatally, in which it may act as an autocrine or paracrine growth factor (Harvey, 2010). Among those tissues, placental GH seems to be important for growth and development of the fetus. Since placenta GH cannot be detected in the fetal circulation and only presents in maternal blood and amniotic fluid, the direct role of placental GH in prenatal development is controversial (Skottner, 2012; Edmonson et al., 1995; Garcia-Aragon et al., 1992). Fetal pituitary gland produces GH from the second trimester in some species, including human, cow and sheep (Waters and Kaye, 2002). However, mice deficient in GH due to mutations in the genes encoding GH-releasing hormone receptor, showed normal birth weight (Efstratiadis, 1998).

GHR is the mediator of GH actions and binding of GH to GHR initiates transcription of many genes including the *IGF1* gene (Figure 5.1) (Jiang et al., 2007). It has been shown that *GHR* expression is highly correlated with *IGF1* expression in adult cattle liver (Kobayashi et al., 1999). Adult GHR knockout mice have a 90% reduction in circulating IGF1. However, their prenatal growth is not altered (Coschigano et al., 2000). This indicated different roles for the 154

IGF-system and GH-IGF1 axis in prenatal and postnatal growth and development. Interestingly, another study demonstrated that liver-specific *GHR* knockout mice also have a 90% reduction in circulating IGF1 (Fan et al., 2009). This study highlighted that liver GHR expression is more important for regulation of circulating IGF1 than total overall GHR expressed by a range of tissues. Furthermore, the major proportion of liver GHR consists of GHR-1A which is expressed only in liver in cattle, suggesting that these effects may be mediated through GHR-1A (Jiang et al., 1999).

The *GHR* has a long 5' non-coding region that includes nine untranslated exons, 1A–1I resulting in up to nine variants of *GHR* mRNA (Jiang and Lucy, 2001). Variants 1A, 1B and 1C are well studied and altogether account for 90% of overall *GHR* transcripts (Jiang and Lucy, 2001). *GHR* transcripts have been detected in a variety of adult bovine tissues e.g., liver, muscle, kidney, lung, mammary gland, adipose tissue, and fetal tissues of placenta, liver, lung, kidney and skeletal muscle, with the highest level of expression detected in liver of both adult and fetal stages (Jiang et al., 1999). Eight variants of *GHR* mRNA were detected in human, including V1-V8, where V1 is a liver specific variant (Pekhletsky et al., 1992).



Figure 5.1 The growth hormone (GH)-GH receptor (GHR) signalling pathways which can lead to *IGF1* transcription. Upon binding of GH to GHR, signal transduction is initiated with phosphorylation of cytosolic Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) which activates STAT pathways. STAT5b is directly involved in regulation of *IGF1* transcription (modified from Hwa et al., 2011).

The bovine *GHR* gene is located on chromosome 20 and contains nine coding exons (exons 2 to 10) spanning 173.71 kb (Figure 5.2) (NCBI accession number NC_007318). It has been demonstrated that there is a retrotransposon element insertion in the liver-specific promoter of the bovine *GHR* gene (Lucy et al., 1998). This insertion was found to be specific to *Bos taurus* (Ohkubo et al., 2006; Lucy et al., 1998). A similar insertion was reported in mouse (Moffat et al., 1999) and goat (Maj and Zwierzchowski, 2005), but has not been reported in other mammals, including human and sheep. The inserted retrotransposon, with a length of

1.2 kb, is a long interspersed nuclear element (LINE-1 element, or L1) and belongs to the non-long terminal repeat (non-LTR) family of retrotransposons (Furano et al., 2004). Any L1 insertion in the genome can potentially impact on regulation of transcription, especially when a gene is disrupted by a L1 insertion (Britten, 1997).



Figure 5.2 Structure of the bovine (*Bos taurus*) growth hormone receptor gene with retrotransposon (L1) insertion at 5' of the liver specific promoter (P) area. Exons are numbered from 2 to 10. The leader exons are 1A, 1B and 1C.

Altered gene expression caused by L1 insertion was shown in several species including fruit fly, human and mouse (Britten, 1997). It was demonstrated that L1 insertion in the 5' region of the *Agouti* gene in Normande cattle causes an overexpression of the *Agouti* gene which may be responsible for the brindle coat colour pattern of Normande cattle (Girardot et al., 2006). In human there are ~ 500,000 L1 elements, covering ~18% of the total genome length (Graham and Boissinot, 2006; Lander et al., 2001). L1 can be considered a potential mutagen and activation of L1 occurs frequently in cancer (Cruickshanks et al., 2013). Since there are ~6000 full-length L1 transposable elements in the human genome (Brouha et al., 2003), mechanisms for inactivation of L1 are required; DNA methylation is one of these regulatory mechanisms (Shi et al., 2007; Hata and Sakaki, 1997). L1 is down-regulated by cytosine methylation of its promoter in mammals (Yoder et al., 1997). Another example of a functional retrotransposon insertion was reported in mouse by Morgan et al. (1999). They showed that the methylation status of an L1 insertion upstream of the *Agouti* gene can cause abnormal expression of Agouti protein and as a consequence those mice have yellow fur, as well as obesity and diabetes.

L1 element insertions and their potential effects on gene expression have been widely studied (Beck et al., 2011; Rodic et al., 2013). However, the potential role of L1 insertion in bovine GHR promoter in GHR transcription and potential contribution of GHR mRNA expression in bovine heterosis remain unknown.

The aims of this chapter were to investigate the presence of L1 retrotransposon insertion in the promoter area of the *GHR* gene and possible contribution to heterosis. Investigated parameters were abundance of *GHR* overall transcript, *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* transcript in fetal tissues including heart, brain, skeletal muscle and liver of hybrid and purebred Brahman and Angus.

5.2 Materials and methods

All animal experiments and procedures described in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee (No. S-094-2005 and S-094-2005A). The two breeds used in this research are subspecies of domestic cow, commonly referred to as *Bos taurus* (or taurine) and *Bos indicus* (or indicine) (Hiendleder et al., 2008). Four different groups of D-153 fetuses were used in this study; purebred Angus (n=23) and Brahman (n=15) and the two reciprocal crosses (AB[†], n=13 and BA, n=22). Fetal tissues including heart, brain, skeletal muscle (*M. semimembranosus*), liver and cotyledon were collected as described in

[†] A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicating the breed of sire and dam, respectively.

Chapter 2, section 2.1. RNA was extracted and cDNA synthesised as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2. The tissues were selected to represent all four germ layers including ectoderm, mesoderm, endoderm and trophectoderm (Yu et al., 2010).

The presence of inserted L1 retrotransposon element was verified using standard PCR reactions followed by agarose gel electrophoresis. We used a specific high performance DNA polymerase, GoTaq® (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), to amplify multiple, large fragments in one reaction with similar efficiencies. TA sub-cloning, followed by standard sequencing, identified the inserted DNA sequence. Details of reactions and methods are described in Chapter 2, sections 2.6 and 2.7. "Blast 2 sequences" was used to detect sequence identity between our result and a reference sequence (Zhang et al., 2000).

Quantitative real-time PCR reactions were performed using SsoAdvanced SYBR[®] Green supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) in a Bio-Rad CFX384 TouchTM Realtime PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) following MIQE guidelines (minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments) (Bustin et al., 2009). Reactions were conducted in duplicate or triplicate in a total volume of 10 μ l, containing 5 μ l of SYBR master mix (2X), 4.2 μ l of cDNA (10-fold diluted from stock cDNA, equivalent to 24 ng of starting RNA) and 0.8 μ l of mixed forward and reverse primers (5 pmol/ μ l). A non-template control was included in all experiments to confirm the absence of genomic DNA contamination in reagents used for amplification. Automated PCR reaction setup was performed with a liquid handling robot (QIAgility, Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) in 384-well white plates (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Product specificity was confirmed by sequencing, plots of the melting curve derived by Bio-Rad CFX384 Manager software version 3.0 (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products. Details of primer sequence and cycling temperatures are explained in Chapter 2 sections 2.5 and 2.6.

All reactions, including housekeeper genes, were conducted in duplicate or triplicate. To identify the most stable genes for purpose of normalising, seven housekeeping genes were used including actin beta (ACTB), ribosomal protein S9 (RPS9), ubiquitin B (UBB), H3 histone family 3A (H3F3A), TATA box binding protein (TBP), vacuolar protein sorting 4 homolog A (VPS4A) and cyclin-G associated kinase (GAK) (Hruz et al., 2011; Lisowski et al., 2008). The qRT-PCR reactions for housekeeper genes were performed in triplicate and all desired genes were assessed in every tissue type, with the exception of cotyledon. In cotyledon, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) gene was assessed, instead of *H3F3A*, due to initial studies that indicated that *H3F3A* expression was not constant in cotyledon. Computer software, geNorm version 3.5 was used to determine the most appropriate two housekeeper genes in each tissue, based on a method described by Vandesompele et al. (2002). VPS4A and RSP9 were identified as the two genes with the most stable, and readily detectable, expression.

Gene expression data and fetal phenotype including fetal and organ weights were analysed by Univariate Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) using the general linear model procedure of JMP statistical package version 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.).

Data were fitted into following linear models:

1- To analyse the effects of fetal genetics, sex and interactions between these factors:

$$y_{ijk} = G_i + S_j + (G^*S)_{ij} + e_{ijk}$$

where y_{ijk} is the normalised relative gene expression level, or fetal phenotype, G_i is fetal genetic effect (i = AA, BA, AB, BB)[†], S_j is fetal sex effect (j = male, female), (G*S)_{ij} is fetal genetics by sex interaction and e_{ijk} is the residual effect.

2- To estimate heterosis effects on gene expression:

 $y_{ijkl} = H_i + G_j(H_i) + S_k + (H^*S)_{ik} + e_{ijkl}$

where y_{ijkl} is the normalised relative gene expression level or fetal phenotype, H_i is heterosis effect (i = purebred, crossbred), $G_j(H_i)$ is fetal genetic effect nested within heterosis effect (j = AA, BB nested within purebred, j = BA, AB nested within crossbred), S_k is fetal sex (k = male, female), $(H*S)_{ik}$ is heterosis effect by sex interaction and e_{ijkl} is the residual effect. Associations between fetal phenotypic traits and relative gene expression levels were analysed using simple linear regression models using JMP 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.).

Fetal phenotype traits included weights of fetus, liver, heart, brain and combined muscle weight (*M. supraspinatus, M. longissimus dorsi, M. quadriceps femoris and M. semimembranosus,* each measured as the average weight of both left and right muscles). Values are presented as least square means and their associated standard errors. To illustrate where group differences existed, individual pairwise comparison of least-squares means was performed using Student's t-tests.

To investigate any relationship between tissue specific transcript abundances of GHR, GHR-1A, -1B and -1C with fetal and organ weights, associations were analysed by ANOVA using

[†] A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicating the breed of sire and dam, respectively.

the general linear model procedure of JMP statistical package version 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.). The same models as described above were used.

Heterosis for all investigated parameters was calculated as percent heterosis:

Heterosis $\% = [(crossbred average-purebred average)/purebred average] \times 100$

Significance level was as P < 0.05.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 LINE-1 retrotransposon insertion in promoter of growth hormone receptor

5.3.1.1 Validation of LINE-1 insertion

Standard PCR followed by electrophoresis confirmed the presence of a retrotransposon insertion in the liver-specific promoter of the *GHR* gene in fetuses with at least one *Bos taurus* (Angus, A) allele (Figure 5.3). Homozygous AA fetuses produced a fragment with an approximate length of 1900 bp and homozygous BB fetuses produced a smaller fragment with an approximate length of 700 bp. The LINE-1 insertion was not found in BB individuals. All AB/BA fetuses were identified as heterozygous for this insertion and showed both fragments. Insertion length was calculated as ~1.2 kb.



Figure 5.3 Typing of L1 insertion in the liver-specific *GHR* promoter using 1% agarose gel electrophoresis of amplicons. A is Angus and B is Brahman. Phage lambda DNA/*Hind* III was used as size marker.

5.3.1.2 Sequencing

Sequencing of the sub-cloned fragment from homozygous fetuses revealed that the inserted fragment is a partial L1 retrotransposon with a length of 1196 bp starting from nucleotide position -1667 and ending at -493 from the *GHR* transcription initiation site (Figure 5.4). The full length L1 retrotransposon was reported as approximately 6 kb in human (Lee et al., 2007) and 8 kb in bovine (Girardot et al., 2006).

1 CTGGGAGACC CACCTCCCAG AATATTGGAA ATAAAAGCAA AAATAAACAA ATGGGACCTA ATTAACCTTA 71 AAAGCTTCTG CACATCAAAG GAAACTATTA GCAAGGTGAA AAGACAGCCT TCAGAATGGG AGAAAATAAT 141 AGCAAATGAA GCAACCGACA AACAACTAAT CTCAAAAATA TACAAGCAAC TCCTACAGCT CAACTCCAGA 211 AAAAATAAACG ACCCAATCAA AAAATGGGCC AAAGAACTAA ATAGACATTT CTCCAAAAAA GACATACAGA 281 TGGCTAACAA ACACATGAAA AGATGCTCAA CATCACTCAT TATCAGAGAA ATGCAAATCA AAACCACTAT 351 GAGGTACCAT TTCACACCAG TCAGATTGGC TGCGATCCAA AAGTACAAAT AATAAATGCT GGAGAGGGTG 421 TEGAGAAAAG GEAACCETET TACACTETTE GEGEGAATEC AAACTAGTAC AGECACTATE GAGAACAGTE 491 TEGAGATTEE TTAAAAAACT GGAAATAGAA CTEECTTATE ATECAGCAAC CECACTEETE GECATACACA 561 CTGAGGAAAC CAGAAGGGAA AGAGACACGT GTACCCCAAT GTTCATCGCA GCACTGTTTA TAATAGCCAA 631 GACATGGAAG CAACCTAGAT GTCCATCAGC AGATGAATGG ATAAGAAAGC TGTGGTACAT ATACACAATG 701 GAGTATTACT CAGCCATTAA AAAGAATACA TTTGAATCAG TTCTAATGAG GTGGATGAAA CTGGAGCCTA 771 TTATACAGAG TGAAGTAAGC CAGAAGGAAA AACATAAATA CAGTATACTA ACGCATATAT ATGGGATTTA 841 GAAAGATGGT AACAATAACC CGGTGTACGA GACAGCAAAA GAGACACTCA TGTATAGAAC AGTCTTATGG 911 ACTCTGTGGG AGAGGGAGAG GGTGGGAAGA TTTGGGAGAA TGGCAATGAA ACATGTGAAA TATCATGTAG 981 GAAACGAGTT GCCAGTCCAG GTTCGATGCA TGATGCTGGA TGCTTGGGGC TGGAGCACTG GGACGGCCCA 1051 GAGGGATGGT ATGGGGAGGG AGGAGGGAGG AGGGTTCGGG ATGGGGAACA CATGTATACC TGTGGCGGAT 1121 TCATTTTGAT ATTTGGCAAA ACTAATACAA TTATGTAAAG TTTAAAAAATA AAATAAAATT GGAAGAAAAA 1191 AAAAAT

Figure 5.4 DNA sequence of partial LINE-1 element with a length of 1196 bp inserted in the promoter of growth hormone receptor (GHR) gene in *Bos taurus* (Angus) cattle.

Alignment of the partial L1 element showed 97% homology with the 3' end of a full length bovine L1 (NCBI accession number: DQ000238) (Figure 5.5). The size of the complete bovine L1 element is 8390 bp and the length of the partial L1 was 1196 bp and resulted in 14% coverage.



Figure 5.5 Alignment of a full length LINE-1 element with the partial LINE-1 inserted in the promoter of growth hormone receptor gene in *Bos taurus* (Angus) cattle.

We identified a GT microsatellite located at -90 bp upstream of transcript initiation between the L1 insertion and the liver specific GHR promoter, which has been previously described (Lucy et al., 1998). Interestingly, we found that this microsatellite had 18 repeats in purebred Angus individuals and 11 in Brahman purebreds (Figure 5.6).

	• []																							
	<u>.</u>	2230		2240)	2	2250		2	2260			227	D		228	0		22	90		2	2300)
Taurus	_	ATCTI	TTC	rgg <mark>t</mark> /	ACCA	CGT	GTG	TGT	G T G!	rgre	TGT	GTG	FGT	GTGI	GTO	TGT	GTG	AC!	rggg	AGG	GAG	;GA	AGAG	э́АG
3R		ATCTI	TTTT	rgg t /	ACCA	CGT	GTG	TGT(GTG	rgre	TGT	GTG	TGT	GTGI	GLG	FGI	GTG	SAC:	rggg	AGG	GAG	6GA/	AGAG	5AG
55R		ATATI	TTTT	rgg t /	ACCA	CGT	GLC	TGT	GTG	rgre	TGT	GTG	FTGT	GTGI	GLG	FGI	GTO	SAC:	rggg	AGG	GAG	6GA.	AGAG	э́АG
63R		ATCTI	TTTT:	rgg t /	ACCA	CGT	rgrg	TGT(GTG	rgre	TGT	GTG	FTGT	GTGI	GLG	FGI	GTO	SAC!	rggg	AGG	GAG	GA/	AGAG	5AG
Indicus		ATCTI	TTTC	rgg t /	ACCA	GGT	GTG	TGT(GTG	rgre	TGT	GTO	θ T G−					-AC	rggg	AGG	GAG	GA.	AGAG	ЗAG
88R		ATCTI	TTTC	rgg t /	ACCA	GGT	GLG	TGT(G T G!	rgre	TGT	GTO	θ T G−					-AC	rggg	AGG	GAG	GA/	AGAG	5AG
94R		ATCTI	TTTT:	rgg t /	ACCA	GGT	rgrg	TGT(G T G!	rgre	TGT	GTG	θ T G−-					AC!	rggg	AGG	GAG	6GA.	AGAG	ЗАG
46R		ATCTI	TTTC	rgg t /	rccc	CGT	GLG	TGT	GTG	rgre	TGI	GTO	θ T G−					AC	rege	AGG	GAG	GA.	AGAG	;AG

Figure 5.6 Microsatellite repeat variations between purebred *Bos taurus* (Angus) (Shown as Taurus) and *Bos indicus* (Brahman) (Shown as Indicus) individuals.

5.3.2 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on GHR transcript abundances

5.3.2.1 GHR transcript abundances in liver

Expression of *GHR* transcripts in fetal liver are shown in Figure 5.7. Abundance of the *GHR* general transcript was significantly lower in BB fetuses. Other genotypes (AA, BA and AB) had almost 50% higher *GHR* mRNA expression in liver. *GHR* mRNA tended to be higher in liver of hybrids compared to purebreds, but this increase was not significant.

The liver specific variant of *GHR* (1A) showed a similar trend to the general transcript with significantly lower expression in liver of BB individuals of 2.5 to 3-fold. Hybrids showed significantly higher expression than purebreds with heterosis of (37.25 %) and a significant

sex by heterosis interaction that was due to higher expression levels in male individuals. *GHR-1B* expression was significantly higher in AA genotypes, compared to other genetic groups. Abundance of *GHR-1C* mRNA was not affected by genetics or sex and showed no heterosis effects in liver.



Figure 5.7 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative transcript abundance of *GHR*, *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* in liver of D-153 fetuses. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (P<0.05).

5.3.2.2 GHR transcript abundances in fetal brain, heart and skeletal muscle

Transcript abundance of *GHR* transcripts in fetal brain, heart and skeletal muscle are shown in Figure 5.8. *GHR* mRNA level was higher in brain of AA fetuses in comparison to other genotypes. GHR-1B transcript abundance was significantly higher in AA and BA genotypes rather than AB or BB. *GHR-1C* was not affected by heterosis, genetic or sex effects in brain.

In fetal heart, *GHR* transcript showed a significant sex by genotype interaction. Hybrid fetuses overall, and female individuals, showed significantly higher levels of *GHR-1B* transcript in heart (42 %). *GHR-1C* also showed a very similar expression pattern to GHR-1B among individuals with high level of heterosis (33 %), except that there was no effect of fetal sex. *GHR*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* mRNA abundance were not affected by heterosis, genetic and sex effects in fetal skeletal muscle.



Figure 5.8 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for relative transcript abundance of *GHR*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C* in brain, heart and skeletal muscle (*M. semimembranosus*) in D-153 fetuses. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=23) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13, and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (P<0.05).

5.3.3 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on tissue-specific transcript abundances of *GHR* transcripts relative to fetal and organ weights

5.3.3.1 Liver tissue

Relative expression of liver *GHR* transcripts to fetus and liver weights are shown in Figure 5.9. Relative expression of liver *GHR* general transcript to fetus weight and liver weight showed a similar pattern. However, only *GHR*/liver weight was affected significantly by heterosis and sex effects. Hybrid fetuses had a significantly higher ratio of liver *GHR* to liver weight than other groups. Also *GHR-1A* relative to fetus and liver weights showed very similar patterns. Both ratios were affected by sex and heterosis effects in the same manner. BB genotype and purebreds showed significantly lower ratios.


Figure 5.9 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for the ratios of liver *GHR transcripts* relative to fetus and liver weights in D-153 fetuses. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (P<0.05).

5.3.3.2 Brain, heart and skeletal muscle tissues

Abundance of tissue-specific *GHR* transcripts, relative to brain, heart, combined weights of four skeletal muscles and fetus weight, are shown in Figure 5.10. Relative expression of brain *GHR* transcript to fetus weight was not affected by heterosis, genetic and sex effects. The AA

genotype had a significantly higher *GHR* to brain weight ratio. Purebreds showed higher ratios, however, it was not significant.

Ratios of heart GHR mRNA to fetus and heart weights showed very similar patterns. Females with AB and BB genotypes showed significantly higher ratios than other genetic \times sex combinations. In general, females showed higher ratios of heart GHR to fetus and heart weights, but this was only significant in the ratio of heart GHR expression to fetus weight.

Both skeletal muscle GHR ratios to fetus and combined skeletal muscle weights were not significantly affected by heterosis, genetics and sex effects.

Brain







0.4

Figure 5.16 Least square means and associated standard errors of means for the ratios of tissue-specific *GHR transcripts* relative to brain, heart, combined skeletal muscle and fetus weights in D-153 fetuses. Means for Angus (AA) (n=23), Brahman (BB) (n=15) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA, n=13 and AB, n=22, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. Effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) in ANOVA are indicated when significant (P<0.05).

5.3.4 Molecular heterosis of GHR transcript abundances in fetal tissues

In general, *GHR* general transcript showed positive heterosis among fetal tissues. Liverspecific *GHR* transcript showed a very high level of heterosis (37%) (Table 5.1). Both *GHR*-*1B* and *1C* mRNA showed a high level of heterosis in fetal heart. *GHR*-*1C* showed relatively high positive heterosis in brain and heart tissues, although it was not significant. Only heart and skeletal muscle showed positive heterosis levels for all of *GHR* transcripts.

Table 5.1 Overview of molecular heterosis effects in organs of bovine D-153 fetuses (n=73). Positive and negative deviations of the reciprocal F_1 mean from the parental mean as estimated in linear models are shown. The significance level considered as *P*<0.05 and indicated with *. *P*-values are from ANOVA (see methods).

Organs	Liver	Brain	Heart	Skeletal Muscle
Transcripts				
GHR	14.9	14.29	9.6	7.31
GHR-1A	37.25*	-	-	-
GHR-1B	-13.11	-3.96	42.03*	1.97
GHR-1C	-2.65	22.38	33.01*	0.7

5.4 Discussion

Full length active bovine L1 is approximately 6-8 kb and contains two open reading frames (ORFs) which are necessary to initiate an actual retrotransposition (Girardot et al., 2006). The presence of an L1 insertion into the bovine *GHR* gene was first reported by Lucy et al. (1998b) who showed this insertion was specific to *Bos taurus*. We confirmed that inserted L1 in promoter of bovine *GHR* was specific to *Bos taurus* (Angus breed) and also consisted of a partial (5' truncated) L1 element which only had a portion of the second ORF. Therefore, it

cannot act as an active transposable element. However, it could potentially affect downstream gene expression. In human, 5' truncated L1 are widely distributed in the genome and it is believed that they are not capable of moving and replicating in the genome (Boissinot et al., 2001). However, Han et al. (2004) showed that even a partial L1 element integrated into an intron can down-regulate gene expression significantly. Further experiments, including allele specific expression levels and in vitro experiments are needed to establish potential effects of the L1 insertion in bovine *GHR* on liver-specific *GHR* transcription.

It has been reported that GT microsatellite variation in bovine *GHR* promoter as a short allele with 11 repeats ((GT)₁₁) is present in cattle without L1 insertion and as a long allele with 16-20 repeats ((GT)₁₆₋₂₀) is present and always linked with the L1 element (Lucy et al., 1998b). This experiment was conducted on five cattle breeds, including Brahman, Nellore, Hereford, Limousin and Santa Gertrudis (Lucy et al., 1998b). Subsequently, a number of studies have shown a significant association between the length of this specific GT microsatellite and production traits in cattle, including average daily milk production, weaning weight and carcass weight (Muhaghegh-Dolatabady et al., 2012; Curi et al., 2005; Hale et al., 2000). It was demonstrated that individuals with (GT)₁₁ allele had lower milk production than individuals with (GT)₁₆₋₂₀ allele (Muhaghegh-Dolatabady et al., 2012).

Some microsatellites are known to have important functions in the genome such as AC/TG (Gemayel et al., 2010). The AC/TG motif is able to absorb negative supercoiling through the formation of Z-DNA, which can affect nucleosomes by displacement and subsequently affect downstream transcription (Xu et al., 2011). A (GT)_n microsatellite can increase gene activity and if a GT repeat is closer to promoter sequences it can be more effective as a transcriptional enhancer (Stallings et al., 1991).

We showed that the GT repeat in the bovine GHR is very close (90 bp) to the liver-specific promoter when considering the length variation between Angus and Brahman individuals. It may be worth considering this GT repeat variation as one of the factors affecting liver specific transcription of GHR in our experiment.

We showed that, generally, males had higher levels of *GHR* mRNA in liver, although it was not significant. It has been shown that pituitary GH and hepatic expression of some transcripts including *GHR* and *STAT5* are differentially expressed in adult males and females of several species including rodents and human (Rando and Wahli, 2011; Mode and Gustafsson, 2006). We demonstrated that hybrid males showed significantly higher *GHR-1A* mRNA compared with females. Since expression of *GHR* is regulated by a variety of factors such as steroid hormones (Horseman and Yu-Lee, 1994; Cosman et al., 1990), fetal male testosterone might be responsible for elevated levels of liver *GHR-1A* transcript.

We showed that BB genotypes had significantly lower *GHR general transcript* in liver and liver specific *GHR-1A* transcript. Since *GHR-1A* comprises a significant proportion of *GHR* transcript in liver (Jiang et al., 1999), a similar expression pattern to the general transcript in liver can be expected. This pattern in expression was not observed for *GHR-1B* or *GHR-1C* transcripts in liver.

We showed high levels of heterosis in liver *GHR* overall transcript abundance and *GHR-1A* transcripts. This is mainly due to lower levels of *GHR* mRNA expression in fetal liver of BB animals, which resulted in a lower level of expression of the GHR transcript in liver of purebred, compared to hybrid fetuses.

In the present experiment, purebred Brahman individuals (BB) showed the lowest level of GHR transcription in liver. In addition, they

- did not have the partial L1 element insertion in the liver-specific promoter of *GHR* gene, and
- had a short GT microsatellite allele with 11 repeats.

In conclusion, the GT microsatellite repeat variation and/or the partial L1 insertion could be important factors affecting the differential liver *GHR* transcription in BB individuals versus other genotypes. However, further investigations including *in-vitro* transcription studies need to be conducted to prove the enhancing/regulatory properties of the GT repeat and the partial L1 insertion on expression of liver-specific *GHR*.

5.5 References

Alexander T, Stephanie M and Stefan S. 2009. Heterosis in plants: Manifestation in early seed development and prediction approaches to assist hybrid breeding. Chinese Sci Bull, 54: 2363-2375.

Beck C R, Garcia-Perez J L, Badge R M and Moran J V. 2011. LINE-1 elements in structural variation and disease. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet, 12: 187 – 215.

Birchler J A, Auger D L and Riddle N C. 2003. In search of the molecular basis of heterosis. Plant Cell, 15: 2236-2239.

Boissinot S, Entezam A and Furano A V. 2001. Selection against deleterious LINE-1containing loci in the human lineage. Mol Biol Evol, 18(6): 926-35.

Britten R J. 1997. Mobile elements inserted in the distant past have taken on important functions. Genetics, 205: 177–182.

Brouha B, Schustak J, Badge R M, Lutz-Prigge S, Farley A H, Moran J V, and Kazazian Jr H H. 2003. Hot L1s account for the bulk of retrotransposition in the human population. PNAS USA, 100: 5280-5285.

Brown M A, Tharel T L, Brown Jr A H, Jackson W G and Miesner J R. 1993. Genotype x environment interactions in preweaning traits of purebred and reciprocal cross Angus and Brahman calves on common bermudagrass and endophyte-infected tall fescue pastures. J Anim Sci, 71: 326-333.

Bustin S A, Benes V, Garson J A, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, Mueller R, Nolan T, Pfaffl M W, Shipley G L, Vandesompele J and Wittwer C T. 2009. The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin Chem, 55: 611–622.

Chen Z A. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of polyploidy and hybrid vigor. Trends Plant Sci, 15 (2): 57-71.

Cosman D, Lyman S D, Idzerda R L, Beckmann M P, Park L S, Goodwin R G and March C J. 1990. A new cytokine receptor superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci, 15(7): 265–270.

Cruickshanks H A, Vafadar-Isfahani N, Dunican D S, Lee A, Sproul D, Lund J N, Meehan R R, and Tufarelli C. 2013. Expression of a large LINE-1-driven antisense RNA is linked to epigenetic silencing of the metastasis suppressor gene TFPI-2 in cancer. Nucleic Acids Res, doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt438.

Cundiff L V, Gregory K E, Wheeler T L, Shackelford S D and Koohmaraie M. 1994. Carcass and meat characteristics of Tuli, Boran, Brahman, Belgian Blue, Piedmontese, Hereford and Angus breed crosses in the cattle germplasm evaluation program. Proc 5th World Congr Genet Appl Livest Prod, 17: 272-275.

Curi R A, de Oliveira H N, Silveira A C and Lopes C R. 2005. Effects of polymorphic microsatellites in the regulatory region of IGF1 and GHR on growth and carcass traits in beef cattle. Anim Genet, 36: 58–62.

Dickerson G E. 1973. Inbreeding and heterosis in animals. J Anim Sci, 1973: 54-77.

Dickerson G E. 1969. Experimental approaches in utilizing breed resources. Anim Breed Abstr, 37: 191-202.

Edmonson S R, Werther G A, Russell A, Leroith D, Roberts Jr. C T and Beck F.1995. Localization of growth hormone receptor/binding protein messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) during rat fetal development: Relationship to insulin-like growth factor-I mRNA. Endocrinology, 136: 4602–4609.

Efstratiadis A. 1998. Genetics of mouse growth. International J Dev Biol, 42: 955–976.

Fan Y, Menon R K, Cohen P, Hwang D, Clemens T, DiGirolamo D J, Kopchick J J, Le Roith D, Trucco M and Sperling M A. 2009. Liver-specific deletion of the growth hormone receptor reveals essential role of growth hormone signaling in hepatic lipid metabolism. J Biol Chem, 284(30): 19937-44.

Furano A V, Duvernell D D and Boissinot S. 2004. L1 (LINE-1) retrotransposon diversity differs dramatically between mammals and fish. TRENDS Genet, 20 (1): 9-14.

Garcia-Aragon J, Lobie P E, Muscat G E O, Gobius K S, Norstedt G and Waters M J. 1992. Prenatal expression of the growth hormone receptor/binding protein in the rat: a role for growth hormone in embryonic and fetal development. Development, 114: 869–876.

Gemayel R, Vinces M D, Legendre M and Verstrepen K J. 2010. Variable tandem repeats accelerate evolution of coding and regulatory sequences. Ann Rev Genet, 44: 445-477.

Girardot M, Guibert S, Laforet M P, Gallard Y, Larroque H and Oulmouden A. 2006. The insertion of a full-length *Bos taurus* LINE element is responsible for a transcriptional deregulation of the Normande Agouti gene. Pigment Cell Res, 19: 346–355.

Graham T and Boissinot S. 2006. The Genomic Distribution of L1 Elements: The Role of Insertion Bias and Natural Selection. J of Biomed Biotechnol, Volume 2006, Article ID 75327, Pages: 1–5.

Hale C S, Herring W O, Shibuya H, Lucy M C, Lubahn D B, Keisler D H and Johnson G S. 2000. Decreased growth in Angus steers with a short TG-microsatellite allele in the P1 promoter of the growth hormone receptor gene. J Anim Sci. 78(8): 2099-104.

Han J S, Szak S T and Boeke J D. 2004. Transcriptional disruption by the L1 retrotransposon and implications for mammalian transcriptomes. Nature, 429: 268–274.

Harvey S. 2010. Extrapituitary growth hormone. J Endocrinol, 38:335–359.

Hata K and Y Sakaki. 1997. Identification of critical CpG sites for repression of L1 transcription by DNA methylation. Gene, 189: 227-234.

Hiendleder S, Lewalski H and Janke A. 2008. Complete mitochondrial genomes of Bos taurus and Bos indicus provide new insights into intra-species variation, taxonomy and domestication. Cytogenetic and Genome Research, 120: 150–6.

Horseman N D and Yu-Lee L-Y. 1994. Transcriptional regulation by the helix bundle peptide hormones: GH, PRL, and hematopoietic cytokines. Endocrine Rev, 15: 627–649.

Hruz T, Wyss M, Docquier M, Pfaffl M W, Masanetz S, Borghi L, Verbrugghe P, Kalaydjieva L, Bleuler S, Laule O, Descombes P, Gruissem W and Zimmermann P. 2011. RefGenes: identification of reliable and condition specific reference genes for RT-qPCR data normalization. BMC Genomics, 12: 156.

Hwa V, Nadeau K, Wit J M and Rosenfeld R G. 2011. STAT5b deficiency: lessons from STAT5b gene mutations. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 25: 61–75.

Khatkar M S, Thomson P C, Tammen I and Raadsma H W. 2004. Quantitative trait loci mapping in dairy cattle: review and meta-analysis. Genet Sel Evol, 36: 163–190.

Jiang H, Okamura C S and Lucy M C. 1999. Isolation and characterization of a novel promoter for the bovine growth hormone receptor gene. J Biol Chem, 274: 7893–7900.

Jiang H and Lucy MC 2001. Variants of the 5'-untranslated region of the bovine growth hormone receptor mRNA: isolation, expression and effects on translational efficiency. Gene, 265: 45–53.

Jiang H, Wang Y, Wu M, Gu Z, Frank S J and Torres-Diaz R. 2007. Growth hormone stimulates hepatic expression of bovine growth hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid through signal transducer and activator of transcription activation of a major growth hormone receptor gene promoter. J Endocrinol, 148: 3307-3315.

Kobayashi Y, Boyd C K, Bracken C J, Lamberson W R, Keisler D H and Lucy M C. 1999. Reduced growth hormone receptor (GHR) messenger ribonucleic acid in liver of periparturient cattle is caused by a specific down-regulation of GHR 1A that is associated with decreased insulin-like growth factor I. Endocrinology, 40: 3947–3954. Lander E S, Linton L M, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody M C, Baldwin J, Devon K, Dewar K, Doyle M, FitzHugh W, Funke R, Gage D, Harris K, Heaford A, Howland J, Kann L, Lehoczky J, LeVine R, McEwan P, McKernan K, Meldrim J, Mesirov J P, Miranda C, Morris W, Naylor J, Raymond C, Rosetti M, Santos R, Sheridan A, Sougnez C, Stange-Thomann N, Stojanovic N, Subramanian A, Wyman D, Rogers J, Sulston J, Ainscough R, Beck S, Bentley D, Burton J, Clee C, Carter N, Coulson A, Deadman R, Deloukas P, Dunham A, Dunham I, Durbin R, French L, Grafham D, Gregory S, Hubbard T, Humphray S, Hunt A, Jones M, Lloyd C, McMurray A, Matthews L, Mercer S, Milne S, Mullikin J C, Mungall A, Plumb R, Ross M, Shownkeen R, Sims S, Waterston R H, Wilson R K, Hillier L W, McPherson J D, Marra M A, Mardis E R, Fulton L A, Chinwalla A T, Pepin K H, Gish W R, Chissoe S L, Wendl M C, Delehaunty K D, Miner T L, Delehaunty A, Kramer J B, Cook LL, Fulton R S, Johnson D L, Minx P J, Clifton S W, Hawkins T, Branscomb E, Predki P, Richardson P, Wenning S, Slezak T, Doggett N, Cheng J F, Olsen A, Lucas S,Elkin C, Uberbacher E, Frazier M, Gibbs R A, Muzny D M, Scherer S E, Bouck J B, Sodergren E J, Worley K C, Rives C M, Gorrell J H, Metzker M L, Naylor S L,Kucherlapati R S, Nelson D L, Weinstock G M, Sakaki Y, Fujiyama A, Hattori M, Yada T, Toyoda A, Itoh T, Kawagoe C, Watanabe H, Totoki Y, Taylor T, Weissenbach J, Heilig R, Saurin W, Artiguenave F, Brottier P, Bruls T, Pelletier E, Robert C, Wincker P, Smith D R, Doucette-Stamm L, Rubenfield M, Weinstock K, Lee H M, Dubois J, Rosenthal A, Platzer M, Nyakatura G, Taudien S, Rump A, Yang H, Yu J, Wang J, Huang G, Gu J, Hood L, Rowen L, Madan A, Qin S, Davis R W, Federspiel N A, Abola A P, Proctor M J, Myers R M, Schmutz J, Dickson M, Grimwood J, Cox D R, Olson M V, Kaul R, Raymond C, Shimizu N, Kawasaki K, Minoshima S, Evans G A, Athanasiou M, Schultz R, Roe B A, Chen F, Pan H, Ramser J, Lehrach H, Reinhardt R, McCombie W R, de la Bastide M, Dedhia N, Blöcker H, Hornischer K, Nordsiek G, Agarwala R, Aravind L, Bailey J A, Bateman A, Batzoglou S, Birney E, Bork P, Brown D G, Burge C B, Cerutti L, Chen H C, Church D, Clamp M, Copley R R, Doerks T, Eddy S R, Eichler E E, Furey T S, Galagan J, Gilbert J G, Harmon C, Hayashizaki Y, Haussler D, Hermjakob H, Hokamp K, Jang W, Johnson L S, Jones T A, Kasif S, Kaspryzk A, Kennedy S, Kent W J, Kitts P, Koonin EV, Korf I, Kulp D, Lancet D, Lowe T M, McLysaght A, Mikkelsen T, Moran J V, Mulder N, Pollara V J, Ponting C P, Schuler G, Schultz J, Slater G, Smit A F, Stupka E, Szustakowski J, Thierry-Mieg D, Thierry-Mieg J, Wagner L, Wallis J, Wheeler R, Williams A, Wolf Y I, Wolfe K H, Yang S P, Yeh R F, Collins F, Guyer M S, Peterson J, Felsenfeld A, Wetterstrand K A, Patrinos A, Morgan M J, de Jong P, Catanese J J, Osoegawa K, Shizuya H, Choi S and Chen Y J. 2001. International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature, 409: 860-921.

Laron Z. 2001. Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1): a growth hormone. Mol Path, 54: 311-316.

Lisowski P, Pierzchala M, Gooecik J, Pareek C S and Zwierzchowski L. 2008. Evaluation of reference genes for studies of gene expression in the bovine liver, kidney, pituitary, and thyroid. J Appl Genet, 49(4): 367–372.

Lucy M C, Boyd C K, Koenigsfeld A K and Okamura C S. 1998a. Expression of somatotropin receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in bovine tissues. J Dairy Sci, 81: 1889–1895.

Lucy M C, Johnsson G S, Shibuya H, Boyd C K, Herring W O and Werin M. 1998b. Rapid communication: Polymorphic (GT)n microsatellite in the bovine somatotropine receptor gene promoter. J Anim Sci, 76: 2209–2210.

Luna-Nevarez P, Rincon G, Medrano J F, Riley D G, Chase C C Jr, Coleman S W, Vanleeuwen D M, DeAtley K L, Islas-Trejo A, Silver G A and Thomas M G. 2011. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the growth hormone-insulin-like growth factor axis in straightbred and crossbred Angus, Brahman, and Romosinuano heifers: population genetic analyses and association of genotypes with reproductive phenotypes. J Anim Sci, 89(4): 926-34.

Maj A and Zwierzchowski L. 2005. A LINE-1 element insertion in the 5'-noncoding region of caprine growth hormone receptor gene. Biochemical Genetics, 43: 465-470.

Mode A and Gustafsson J A. 2006. Sex and the liver - a journey through five decades. Drug. Metab Rev, 38: 197-207.

Moffat J G, Edens A and Talamantes F. 1999. Structure and expression of the mouse growth hormone receptor/growth hormone binding protein gene. 1999. J Mol Endocrinol, 23: 33-44.

Morgan H D, Sutherland H E, Martin D I K and Whitelaw E. 1999. Epigenetic inheritance at the agouti locus in the mouse. Nat Genet, 23: 314–318.

Muhaghegh-Dolatabady M, Habibizad J and Bahreini Behzadi M R. 2012. Association of TG-repeats in the 5'-flanking region of bovine growth hormone receptor (GHR) gene with milk production traits and somatic cell count in Holstein cattle. J Livest Sci Technol, 1(1): 32-37.

Ohkubo T, Yano H, Takahashi S, Kimura N and Tanaka M. 2006. *Bos indicus* type of growth hormone receptor gene is retained in Japanese Black cattle. J Anim Breed Genet, 123: 410–430.

Pekhletsky R I, Chernov B K and Rubtsov P M. 1992. Variants of the 5'-untranslated sequence of human growth hormone receptor mRNA. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 90 (1): 103-109.

Rando G and Wahli W. 2011. Sex differences in nuclear receptor-regulated liver metabolic pathways. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1812(8): 964 - 973.

Rodic N and Burns K H. 2013. Long interspersed element-1 (LINE-1): passenger or driver in human neoplasms? PLoS Genet, 9(3): e1003402.

Shi X, Seluanov A and Gorbunova V. 2007. Cell divisions are required for L1 retrotransposition. Mol Cell Biol, 27: 1264-1270.

Simm G. 1998. Genetic improvement of cattle and sheep. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.

Skottner A. 2012. Biosynthesis of Growth Hormone and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I and the Regulation of their Secretion. Open Endocrinol J, 6(Suppl 1: M2): 3-12.

Stallings R L, Ford A F, Nelson D, Torney D C, Hildebrand C E and Moyzis R K. 1991. Evolution and distribution of (GT)n repetitive sequences in mammalian genomes. Genomics, 10(3): 807-15.

Taylor J F, Coutinho L L, Herring K L, Gallagher D S, Brenneman R A, Burney N, Sanders J O, Turner J W, Smith S B, Miller R K, Savell J W and Davis S K. 1998. Candidate gene analysis of GH1 for effects on growth and carcass composition of cattle. Anim Genet, 29: 194–201.

Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A and Speleman F. 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol, 3: 34.

Von Horn H, Ekstrom C, Ellis E, Olivecrona H, Einarsson C, Tally M and Ekstrom T J. 2002. GH is a regulator of IGF2 promoter-specific transcription in human liver. J Endocrinol. 172(3): 457-65.

Waters M J and Kaye P L. 2002. The role of growth hormone in fetal development. Growth Horm IGF Res, 12(3): 137-46.

Xu Y Z, Thuraisingam T, Marino R and Radzioch D. 2011. Recruitment of SWI/SNF complex is required for transcriptional activation of SLC11A1 gene during macrophage differentiation of HL-60 cells. J Biol Chem, 286: 12839–12849.

Yoder J A, Walsh C P and Bestor T H. 1997. Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet, 13: 335–340.

Yu Y, Xu T, Yu Y, Hao P and Li X. 2010. Association of tissue lineage and gene expression: conservatively and differentially expressed genes define common and special functions of tissues. BMC Bioinformatics, 11(Suppl 11): S1.

Zhang Z, Schwartz S, Wagner L and Miller W. 2000. A greedy algorithm for aligning DNA sequences. J Comput Biol, 7(1-2): 203-214.

Chapter 6

MicroRNAs and their target sites in the *IGF* system and *GHR* genes: a potential role in heterosis of bovine fetal traits

6.1 Introduction

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are 21-23 nucleotide long regulatory RNAs, first discovered in 1993 in *Caenhorhabditis elegans* (Liu et al., 2009). MiRNAs are initially transcribed as primiRNAs, can be several kilobases in length and contain a characteristic hairpin loop structure (Lee et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2002). The pre-miRNA stem-loop structure is exported to the cytoplasm where it is then cleaved by Dicer enzyme to produce the mature form of the miRNA (Lee et al., 2002). Two currently recognised mechanisms by which miRNAs impose translational regulation on their specific mRNA target(s) are repression and cleavage/degradation (Wang et al., 2007). Currently, based on the latest version of miRBase (www.mirbase.org), more than 760 bovine miRNA specific to *Bos taurus* have been identified. The majority of these miRNAs have been identified based only on sequence similarity to known vertebrate miRNA orthologs and have not been confirmed experimentally (Griffiths-Jones et al., 2007).

In mammals, miRNAs have been shown to regulate a large number of pathways including Bcell differentiation (Chen et al., 2004), adipocyte differentiation (Esau et al., 2004) and insulin secretion (Poy et al., 2004). Knockout of the miRNA-producing, Dicer1, in mice leads to lethality early in development which is a clear indicator of crucial roles of miRNAs in development (Bernstein et al., 2003). MiRNA profiling in D-30 bovine embryos showed that these regulatory small RNAs are differentially expressed between tissues and are also

187

differently expressed in cloned and IVF embryos (Castro et al., 2010; Coutinho et al., 2007). It has been shown that miRNAs regulate several genes in the IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis. It was demonstrated that let-7b is a major regulator of *GHR* expression in chicken (Lin et al., 2012). Elia et al. (2009) revealed a critical role of miR-1 in mediating the effects of the IGF1 pathway in human heart and skeletal muscles and demonstrated a feedback loop between miR-1 expression and the IGF1 signal transduction cascade. Ge et al. (2011) demonstrated that IGF2, as a critical regulator of skeletal myogenesis in mouse, is a direct target of miR-125b. A target site for miR-125 is located in the 3'UTR of the mouse *IGF2* and biogenesis of this myogenic miRNA is negatively correlated with production of IGF2. It has been shown that miR-223 has a functional target in the *IGF1R* UTR and suppresses cell proliferation in HeLa cells (Jia et al., 2011). Interestingly, knockdown of *IGF1R* has been shown to mimic the effects of miR-223 inhibition, resulting in decreased cell viability. Let-7 and Lin28 miRNAs have been shown to regulate glucose metabolism pathways in mouse models. Overexpression of these miRNA can repress multiple components of the insulin pathway including IGF1R and IR (Zhu et al., 2011).

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) can potentially create or eliminate target recognition sites for miRNAs in target mRNAs. A SNP inside a pre-miRNA sequence (stem and loop) or the seed region can change secondary structure and consequently impact on the maturation process of a miRNA. New target sites for a miRNA, or elimination of an existing target site, have been linked to human diseases and phenotypic variation in farm animals (Farazi et al., 2013; Clop et al., 2006). Hiard et al. (2010) introduced "The Patrocles database" (http://www.patrocles.org/), a database which consists of SNPs that are predicted to perturb miRNA gene regulation. A G to A mutation in the 3'UTR of the ovine myostatin gene generated a new target site for two miRNAs in Texel sheep (Clop et al., 2006). It has been shown that these two miRNAs (miR-1 and miR-206), which are strongly expressed in muscle

tissue, downregulate transcription of the myostatin gene. This transcriptional inhibition of the myostatin gene is responsible for muscle hypertrophy in Texel sheep (Bingel et al., 2010).

Experimental identification of miRNA targets is difficult and time consuming. Therefore, computer software programs have been developed to predict target sites. Watson–Crick pairing of miRNA seed region with its target mRNA has been shown to be a reliable strategy to predict targets based on perfect complementary pairing (Lewis et al., 2003). There are different types of seed matching including 6nt, 7nt and 8nt match (Bartel, 2009) (Figure 6.1). Longer seed matchings are predicted to have higher target efficiency. There are two different types of 7nt match which are 7mer-m8 (6mer with an additional match to nucleotide 8 of the miRNA) and 7mer-A1 (6mer followed by an A at target position 1, see figure 6.1). The order of seed match type efficiency is: 8mer > 7mer-m8 > 7mer-A1> 6mer (Grimson et al., 2007). 8mers followed by 7mers are correlated more strongly with target efficiency (Lewis et al., 2005).



Figure 6.1 Different types of matching of miRNAs to their targets including 6, 7 and 8 nt long seed matchings. Nucleotides represented as N and Watson–Crick pairing indicated with vertical dashes (Bartel, 2009).

Predicted target sites are usually conserved among a wide range of organisms and conservation has different levels. Target sites can be broadly conserved (conserved among vertebrates), conserved (conserved across most placental mammals) or poorly conserved (only conserved among closely related species), and usually the vast majority of miRNA target sites are conserved among different species (Friedman et al., 2009; Lewis et al., 2005; 2003). Figure 6.2 is an example of broadly predicted conserved vertebrate miR-let-7 target sites in *IGF1R* 3'UTR (Targetscan.org).

Cow IGF1R 3' UTR



Figure 6.2 Two conserved target sites of miR-let-7 (highlighted in white) in the 3'UTR of bovine type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor (*IGF1R*) and a comparison with multiple species (Targetscan.org). Abbreviated species names are presented at left side of sequences.

Several web-based algorithms are available for computational prediction of miRNA targets, including TargetScan (http://www.targetscan.org), miRanda (http://www.microrna.org) and PicTar (http://www.pictar.org). Experimentally validated microRNA target sites are available at TarBase (http://diana.cslab.ece.ntua.gr/tarbase/), miRecords (www.mirecords.biolead.org) and miRTarBase (www.mirtarbase.mbc.nctu.edu.tw) (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011).

The above algorithms are valuable tools to predict and understand miRNA functions (Nam et al., 2009; Alves-Junior et al., 2009). Every tissue at each developmental stage has a specific

miRNA profile (Gu et al., 2013, Liang et al., 2007; Barad et al., 2004). Therefore, knowledge of experimentally validated miRNA target sites should be applied carefully.

A number of studies showed the regulatory effects of miRNA on the *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis transcripts (Lin et al., 2012; Jia et al., 2011; Ge et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2011). However, the potential role of miRNAs, as regulators of *IGF* system and *GHR* transcripts, in a bovine heterosis model remain unknown.

The aims of this chapter were to:

- investigate the sequence variation of miRNA loci including miR-483, Let-7-f2 and miR-98 and their target sites located in the 3'UTR of *IGF1* and *IGF1R*,
- profile fetal liver miRNA, and
- estimate heterosis effects in expression of miRNAs involved in regulation of the IGFsystem and GH-IGF1 axis in fetal liver of hybrid and purebred Brahman and Angus cattle.

6.2 Material and methods

All animal experiments and procedures described in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee (No. S-094-2005 and S-094-2005A). The two breeds used in this research are subspecies of domestic cow (*Bos taurus taurus*, Angus, A and *Bos taurus indicus*, Brahman, B), commonly referred to as *Bos taurus* (or taurine) and *Bos indicus* (or indicine) cattle, respectively (Hiendleder et al., 2008). Four different groups of D-153 fetuses were used in this study: purebred Angus and Brahman and the two reciprocal crosses. Fetal liver tissue was collected as described in Chapter 2, section 2.1. Genomic sequence variation of miRNA loci including miR-483, Let-7-f2 and miR-98 and

their target sites were investigated using PCR amplification of fetal liver DNA followed by agarose gel electrophoresis and standard Sanger sequencing technology. Nucleotide sequence data was obtained from purebred Angus (n=10) and Brahman (n=10) fetuses. Details of reactions and methods are described in Chapter 2. Sequenced fragments were subjected to sequence alignment with the computer program BioEdit version 7.0.0 (Hall, 1999).

Total RNA was extracted as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2. In order to ensure a balanced and cross classified experiment we selected 24 samples in total for miRNA profiling. Selection criteria were RIN value of RNA samples and representation of all sires used in the experiment. Three individuals of each genetic group and sex have been selected, including: AA males, AA females, AB males, AB females, BA males, BA females, BB males and BB females. Reduction in number of samples analyses also significantly reduced the costs of this experiment. GeneChip® miRNA 3.0 (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA) platform was used to profile microRNAs in fetal liver samples. This chip contains 19724 miRNA probes including mature and pre-miRNA belonging to 153 organisms including bovine. Probe design of this chip is based on miRBase version 17 (http://www.mirbase.org). Cell data were normalised and transformed by Affymetrix® Expression Console™ Software 1.3 (Affymetrix, Inc.). Data was analysed by BRB-Array tools software package version 4.3 (Simon et al., 2007). Predicted (TargetScan and miRNAmap) and experimentally validated (TarBase, miRecords and miRTarBase) miRNA target sites belonging to the IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis were used to filter microarray data output.

MiRNA expression data and fetal phenotype including fetus and liver weights were analysed by Univariate Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) using the general linear model procedure of JMP statistical package version 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.).

193

Data were fitted into the following linear models:

1- To analyse the effects of fetal genetics, sex and interactions between these factors:

$$Y_{ijk} = G_i + S_j + (G^*S)_{ij} + e_{ijk}$$

where Y_{ijk} is the normalised miRNA expression level, or fetal phenotype, G_i is fetal genetic effect (i = AA, BA, AB, BB)[†], S_j is fetal sex effect (j = male, female), (G*S)_{ij} is fetal genetic by sex interaction and e_{ijk} is the residual effect.

2- To estimate heterosis effects on gene expression:

 $Y_{ijkl} = H_i + G_j(H_i) + S_k + (H^*S)_{ik} + e_{ijkl}$

where Y_{ijkl} is the normalised miRNA expression level or fetal phenotype, Hi is heterosis effect (i= purebred, crossbred), $G_j(H_i)$ is fetal genetic effect nested within heterosis effect (j= AA, BB nested within purebred, j = BA, AB nested within crossbred), S_k is fetal sex (k= male, female), (H*S)_{ik} is heterosis effect by sex interaction and e_{ijkl} is the residual effect.

Associations between fetal phenotypic traits and miRNA expression levels were analysed using simple linear regression models using JMP 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.). Values are presented as least square means and their associated standard errors.

To investigate a potential relationship between liver transcript abundances of miRNAs with fetus and liver weights, associations were analysed by ANOVA using the general linear model procedure of JMP statistical package version 4.0 (SAS Institute Inc.). Same models as described above were used.

[†] A is Angus, B is Brahman and the first and second letters in a genotype indicating the breed of sire and dam, respectively.

Heterosis for fetus and liver weights was calculated as heterosis percent:

Heterosis $\% = [(crossbred average-purebred average)/purebred average] \times 100$

The significance level was P < 0.05. Pearson correlation between transcript abundance of miRNAs and mRNAs (from Chapter 4) in fetal liver was determined using JMP version 4.0 (SAS Inc.).

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Selecting miRNAs within IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis genes

6.3.1.1 Predicted miRNAs

MiRNAs targeting the 3'UTR of the *GHR* and *IGF* system genes were predicted using TargetScan (Figure 6.3). In this study, only conserved 7-8mer seed match types were considered as potential targets including 8mer, 7mer-m8 and 7mer-1A which correlate more strongly with targeting efficiency (Lewis et al., 2005). In total, 158 miRNA target sites were found. Interestingly, some of the miRNAs targeted more than one gene (Figure 6.3). With the exception of miR-Let-7-f2 and miR-98, which are clustered together on the bovine X-chromosome, the rest of the miRNAs are not clustered together.

Gene	8mer binding site	7mer-m8	7mer-1A			
GHR	miR-15abc miR-16abc miR-195 miR-322 miR-424 miR-497 miR-1907 miR-101ab	miR-135ab miR-212	miR-Let-7/98 miR-4458 miR-4500			
IR	miR-Let-7/98 miR-4458 miR-4500 miR-27abc	miR-15abc miR-16abc miR-195 miR-322 miR-424 miR-497 miR-1907 miR-137ab	miR-15abc miR-16abc miR-195 miR-322 miR-424 miR-497 miR-1907 miR-128ab miR-133abc miR-135ab miR-205ab			
IGF1	miR-Let-7/98 miR-4458 miR-4500 miR-454 miR-3666 miR-4295 miR-1ab miR-206 miR-29abcd miR-130ac miR-141 miR-148ab miR-152 miR-192 miR-215 miR-221 miR-222ab miR-301ab miR-483 miR-613 miR-721 miR-1928	miR-454 miR-3666 miR-4295 miR-18ab miR-33 miR-26ab miR-128ab miR-130ac miR-301ab miR-365 miR-721 miR-1297 miR-4465	miR-27abc miR-190ab miR-196abc miR-212 miR-499			
IGF1R	miR-Let-7/98 miR-4458 miR-4500 miR-7ab miR-19 miR-99ab miR-100 miR-133abc miR-139 miR-194 miR-223	miR-Let-7/98 miR-4458 miR-4500 miR-141 miR-145 miR-194 miR-220a	miR-143 miR-4770 miR-96 miR-122 miR-153 miR-182 miR-194 miR-455 miR-507 miR-1271 miR-1352 miR-1721			
IGFBP3	miR-19ab	miR-9ab	miR-34abc miR-499abc			
IGFBP4		miR-33 miR-365				
IGFBP5	miR-143 miR-4770 miR-24ab miR-137ab miR-193ab miR-1721	miR-454 miR-3666 miR-4295 miR-19ab miR-101ab miR-130ac miR-138ab miR-139 miR-183 miR-301ab miR-721	miR-1ab miR-206 miR-101ab miR-144 miR-204 miR-211 miR-613			
IGFBP7	miR-516 miR-518 miR-552	miR-206 miR-31 miR-34 miR-382	miR-424			
IGFBP8		miR-18ab miR-19ab miR-132 miR-212 miR-124ab miR-4735	miR-143 miR-4770 miR-1 miR-21 miR-26ab miR-133abc miR-1297 miR-4465			

Figure 6.3 TargetScan and miRNAMap predictions of bovine miRNAs targeting the 3'UTRs of insulin-like growth factor (*IGF*) system and growth hormone receptor (*GHR*) genes.

6.3.1.2 Experimentally validated miRNAs

Among 158 predicted mammalian miRNA target sites on *IGF* system and *GHR* genes, 28 were experimentally validated based on TarBase, miRecords and miRTarBase databases (Table 6.1). MiR-1 was recognised to target multiple members of *IGF* system genes including *IGF1*, *IGF1R* and *IGFBP7*.

Table 6.1 List of experimentally validated mammalian conserved miRNA target sites within insulin-like growth factor (*IGF*) system and growth hormone receptor (*GHR*) genes.

Target Gene	MiRNA
IR	miR-26b-5p
IGF1	miR-1, miR-27a, miR-206, miR-483
IGF1R	let-7d-5p, miR-1, miR-7-5p, miR-30a-5p, miR-99a
	miR-100, miR-122-5p, miR-133ab, miR-138, miR-145-5p
	miR-183-5p, miR-192-5p, miR-194, miR-196a-5p, miR-223
	miR-335-5p, miR-378, miR-675
IGFBP1	miR-29c
IGFBP5	miR-140
IGFBP7	miR-1, miR-124-3p
IGFBP8	miR-18, miR-26a, miR-124

6.3.2 Sequence variation of miR-483, miR-let-7f and miR-98 loci and their target sites

A 500 bp DNA fragment harbouring miR-483 precursor was amplified and sequenced from fetal bovine liver. No sequence variation was observed inside the precursor miRNA loci among *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* individuals (Figure 6.4).



Figure 6.4 Alignment of miR-483 precursor locus sequences of purebred *Bos taurus* (Angus, Bt) and *Bos indicus* (Brahman, Bi) individuals.

A fragment with length of 1354 bp was amplified containing the loci for both miR-let-7f and miR-98 precursor loci miRNAs (Figure 6.5). No sequence variation was observed inside the precursor miRNA loci among *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* individuals (Figure 6.6).

l	TATTTGCCTC	ACACTACATA	TCACCTGTCC	CCTTCCACCT	CCTTTTTCTT	GCAGTCCTAA	TTATCCAAGT
71	AGCATCTACA	ACTCTGATGG	AAGCAACAGT	GTTAAGACTA	AATG <mark>TGAATG</mark>	TGCTACACAC	CAGGGAAAGT
141	AGTAAGTTGT	ATAGTTATCT	TCAAATTGGG	GCCTAAAATC	CCTACCCCAC	AACAATACAA	CTTACTACCT
211	CACCCCAGCA	TGAGCAGAGT	CCT CTAGCAA	CAGCAGCAGG	CAAAGGGCCA	TTTTACCTGA	TGACAGACCC
281	TTTCAATGAC	CTTCTGCCAG	ATTCAGGGCA	CCAGGACTCC	TACCCTCTTT	CACTGCTTTA	AAAAATATTG
351	TGTAGGCTTT	AGTACAATCA	TTTCCCAACT	CAAGTGCCGA	AGGAGACAGA	AAGTATAGGG	TAGCAGAAGT
421	AAGTTCTGAG	GAAATAGGGG	TAGGGGAGAC	ATATAATACC	ACATAGACCA	GTTATTAGAA	TCACAGTCAC
491	AAAATAGCTA	CATTAGGCAC	ATTAGAAGGA	GGAATCAAAA	GTATTTAGTA	GTAATACCAT	TTAGCCCACA
561	GAGCTACCCT	CCCCCAAAGC	AGACTGCCCA	AGGCAACATT	CCTAGACTTT	TAGATTCCAC	AGACCCATGA
631	AATTTATATA	ААААСААААА	ATAAAAAGAG	ACTAACACAG	GGTTACCAAC	TTTTAATTTA	ACCAAGAAAA
701	AAAATCCATT	AATATCATTT	AATAAAAATA	TTGTGATACC	AAAGAAGTAG	GAAATACATA	ATCTCTGTAA
771	TTTATAACAG	TTCTTTAAAT	TGAACGCATT	CAGCTTTCTG	AAAAAGTCAT	TAAAGCTCCC	TTATTCTGTT
841	AACTTCCACC	AAGGACTAGC	ATTTAGGAAC	CACTGTCAGG	CGTTCTCATG	AAGCACCATA	CCACAATGGT
911	CACTAAAAGG	GACAGGACAC	ACAGCCTCAC	TACACATGCC	AGAATGCAGT	ACAGCATAAT	CAGAATGAGA
981	ACCTGTAAAC	AGAGTACGTG	GAAGGGGAAG	TGCACCAC <mark>CG</mark>	TGGGAAAGAC	AGTAGACTGT	ATAGTTATCT
1051	CCAAGATGGG	GTATGACCCT	AAAACTATAC	AATCTACTAC	CTCATCCCAC	A <mark>GAGCACCAG</mark>	TGTTCATCTT
1121	CAGTCTACTT	GGGCCAGCTA	CTTGGGTCAG	GAAAAAGAAT	CAACCAATAA	TTAGCAAGAA	GGAAAAATGG
1191	GAAGGAAAGT	TACCTGAGAG	GTTCTGTTCA	GTGGAGTCAT	TTGTCTTAGA	TGCAGCACAC	TGCAAAGAAA
1261	GGGACAGACC	AATGTGGGAC	TTTGCAAGCA	CATGAGATAG	AGGTCAACTC	TAATAGTCGC	CATCTCCCAC
1331	ATATGACCTG	GATGGAGGAT	AAGC				

Figure 6.5 Fragment with sequences of miR-98 (highlighted at top) and miR-let-7-f2 precursors (highlighted at bottom) located on bovine X-chromosome.



Figure 6.6 Alignments of miR-98 (top) and miR-Let-7-f2 (bottom) precursor sequences of purebred *Bos taurus* (Angus, Bt) and *Bos indicus* (Brahman, Bi) individuals. One target site of miR-Let-7/98 in the 3'UTR of the bovine *IGF1* gene and 2 target sites in

the 3'UTR of the bovine *IGF1R* gene were amplified and sequenced (refer to Figure 6.3). No sequence variation was observed between or within purebred Brahman and Angus individuals (Figure 6.7).



Figure 6.7 Alignments of miR-Let-7/98 target sites in the 3'UTR of the bovine *IGF1* gene (top), and first (middle) and second (bottom) target sites in the 3'UTR of the bovine *IGF1R* gene in *Bos taurus* individuals (Angus, Bt) and *Bos indicus* individuals (Brahman, Bi). Black rectangle is placed on miRNA target sites.

6.3.3 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on miRNA transcript abundances

Among 158 predicted and experimentally validated miRNAs target sites, only 11 showed a significant (P<0.05) heterosis, genetic, sex or interaction effects in fetal bovine liver (Figure 6.8). Bta-miR-483 was also affected by interaction of heterosis by sex which was approaching significance (P=0.09) (Figure 6.8).

MiR-18a, miR-30a and miR-183, miR-29c, miR-124a, and miR-483 were among experimentally validated miRNA target sites on *IGF* system genes and have been demonstrated to have regulatory effects on *IGFBP8*, *IGF1R*, *IGFBP1*, *IGFBP7* and *IGF1* expression, respectively (TarBase, miRecords and miRTarBase). However, there was no predicted target site for miR-29c in the 3'UTR of the bovine *IGFBP1* gene. It was predicted that both miR-29a and miR-141 have target sites on the 3'UTR of the bovine *IGFBP8*, miR-132 on *IGFBP8*, miR-141 and miR-675 on *IGF1R*, miR-183 and miR-193a on *IGFBP5* and miR-195 on both *GHR* and *IR* genes.



Figure 6.8 Least square means and associated standard errors of means of the abundance of mature miRNA transcripts and experimentally validated target transcripts in the liver of D-153 fetuses. Means for Angus (AA), Brahman (BB) and reciprocal crossbred genetics (BA and AB, sire given first), as well as for purebred (P, including: AA and BB) and crossbred (H, including: BA and AB) genetics are shown. ANOVA effects of heterosis (H), genetics (G), sex (S), interactions of sex by heterosis (S*H) and sex by genetics (S*G) are shown where significant (P<0.05).

6.3.4 Correlation between miRNA and corresponding mRNAs

Correlation coefficients of miRNA expression with their relevant mRNA are shown in Table 6.2. A negative correlation is an indication of the degradation effect of miRNA on its target mRNA.

Generally, there was not a strong negative correlation between miRNAs and mRNAs in fetal bovine liver in this study. The highest negative correlation was found between miR-424 and *IGFBP7* (r= -0.66 and *P*<0.05). MiR-424 was predicted to have a target site on the 3'UTR of the *IGFBP7* gene. MiR-483 and miR-1 showed negative correlations with IGF1 (r= -0.53 and r= -0.50, respectively) (for both *P*<0.05). These two miRNA were experimentally validated to target the *IGF1* gene. MiR-1 also showed negative correlations of r= -51 and r= -49 with *GHR* and *IGFBP8* genes, respectively. However, only *IGFBP8* showed a predicted target site for miR-1. Also, miR-124a showed negative correlations with *IGFBP1* (r= -0.52) and *IGFBP2* (r= -0.53), although there were no predicted target sites for this miRNA in *IGFBP1* or 2.

Table 6.2 Correlation coefficients between miRNA and their target mRNA within insulin growth factor system (*IGF*) and growth hormone receptor (*GHR*) transcripts in liver on D-153 fetuses. The significance level considered as P < 0.05 and indicated with *.

	IGF1	IGF1R	IR	GHR	IGFBP1	IGFBP2	IGFBP3	IGFBP4	IGFBP5	IGFBP6	IGFBP7	IGFBP8
Bta-miR-1	-0.50*	-0.15	-0.06	-0.51*	-0.06	-0.26	-0.3	-0.19	0.02	-0.01	-0.10	-0.49*
Bta-miR-9-star	0.19	0.22	0.18	0.06	-0.276	-0.16	0.03	0.10	-0.08	-0.33	-0.08	-0.23
Bta-miR-18a	-0.33	-0.31	-0.45*	-0.25	-0.13	0.19	-0.16	-0.15	0.25	0.06	0.31	-0.04
Bta-miR-26c	0.25	0.14	0.36	0.09	-0.01	-0.24	-0.07	-0.08	-0.23	-0.13	-0.16	-0.22
Bta-miR-29a	0.25	0.59	0.51	0.19	-0.06	-0.07	-0.09	0.31	-0.33	-0.02	-0.16	0.02
Bta-miR-29c	-0.16	0.17	0.13	-0.38	-0.14	-0.32	0.07	0.17	0.03	0.11	-0.01	-0.19
Bta-miR-30a-5p	0.24	0.23	0.06	0.50	0.35	0.27	-0.11	-0.05	-0.27	0.11	-0.26	0.26
Bta-miR-33a	0.16	-0.23	-0.2	0.09	-0.19	0.05	0.31	0.20	0.11	-0.07	0.01	-0.09
Bta-miR-101	0.42	0.63	0.47	0.17	-0.05	0.03	-0.30	0.01	-0.24	-0.27	-0.54*	-0.08
Bta-miR-124a	-0.07	-0.03	-0.01	-0.32	-0.52*	-0.53*	0.00	-0.1	-0.11	0.06	-0.00	-0.22
Bta-miR-132	-0.11	0.29	0.19	-0.00	-0.02	-0.13	0.29	0.36	0.20	0.3	0.01	0.17
Bta-miR-133a	0.02	0.28	0.31	-0.26	0.09	-0.08	0.05	0.15	-0.04	-0.05	-0.25	0.02
Bta-miR-133b	0.24	0.44	0.60	-0.06	-0.25	-0.51	-0.01	-0.04	-0.36	-0.25	-0.19	-0.08
Bta-miR-135b	0.23	-0.11	0.27	0.34	0.36	0.25	-0.01	-0.07	0.06	0.14	0.18	0.09
Bta-miR-141	-0.31	0.05	0.10	-0.00	0.27	0.05	0.22	0.30	0.17	0.21	0.14	0.07
Bta-miR-153	-0.15	0.06	-0.07	-0.18	-0.17	-0.13	0.11	0.25	0.29	0.49	-0.11	-0.32
Bta-miR-182	0.08	0.1	0.17	0.08	0.05	-0.25	0.20	0.34	-0.19	-0.07	-0.27	0.10
Bta-miR-183	0.03	0.34	0.30	-0.07	-0.00	-0.45*	0.21	0.42	-0.17	0.01	-0.25	0.12
Bta-miR-193a	-0.19	-0.4	-0.08	-0.10	0.18	0.05	0.33	-0.35	0.26	0.12	-0.10	-0.37
Bta-miR-195	0.13	-0.16	-0.10	0.31	0.45	0.26	0.4	0.37	0.04	0.36	0.32	0.28
Bta-miR-205	-0.41*	-0.42*	-0.49*	-0.32	-0.03	0.07	-0.31	-0.33	0.06	0.01	0.30	-0.21
Bta-miR-206	-0.19	-0.16	-0.22	-0.17	0.03	0.03	0.14	0.12	0.42	0.54	0.1	-0.17
Bta-miR-211	0.18	-0.24	-0.24	0.08	0.15	0.32	0.01	0.03	-0.01	0.19	0.20	0.26
Bta-miR-212	-0.37*	-0.01	0.02	-0.13	0.02	0.15	0.13	0.09	0.43	0.42	0.42	0.09
Bta-miR-424	0.23	0.42	0.39	-0.06	-0.42*	-0.50*	-0.04	0.00	-0.41	-0.51*	-0.66*	-0.27
Bta-miR-483	-0.53*	0.44	0.15	-0.02	0.16	0.07	-0.01	0.20	0.12	0.03	-0.36	0.18
Bta-miR-675	-0.10	-0.25	-0.35	-0.12	-0.09	0.09	-0.21	-0.27	-0.05	-0.23	-0.05	0.05
Bta-miR-1721	-0.05	-0.55*	-0.23	0.08	0.21	0.2	0.29	0.21	0.45	0.56	0.56	-0.15

6.4 Discussion

It was shown that the presence of a SNP in miRNA target sites can cause disease or a dramatic phenotype effect in an individual (Gong et al., 2012; Georges et al., 2006). Sequence analysis of the miRNAs selected for investigation in this study did not show any variation among bovine fetuses with *Bos taurus* or *Bos indicus* genetics. MiRNAs are essential for normal growth and development (Alvarez-Garcia and Misk, 2005) and miRNA target sites are

highly conserved across different species of mammals (Friedman et al., 2009). This may explain why there were no sequence variations either in miRNA loci or their target sites.

Based on the correlations between miRNAs and mRNAs, the majority of miRNAs did not show any strong evidence of a possible regulatory effect on fetal liver *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis transcripts in our experimental model. However, this does not exclude potential regulatory effects of these miRNA on *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis genes in other tissues or developmental stages. Another aspect of miRNA regulatory effects that needs to be considered is "mRNA translation inhibition" which is caused by imperfect matching of miRNA with its target mRNA (Filipowicz et al., 2008). It has been shown that a miRNA can inhibit protein translation without causing a reduction in mRNA levels of the target gene (Das et al., 2012). Therefore, not only mRNA transcription, but other measurements at the level of protein abundance are needed to validate a miRNA-mRNA targeting system.

In this experiment, miR-1 and miR-483 showed expression patterns which suggest a regulatory effect on its target gene, *IGF1*, in bovine fetal liver. However, negative correlations were not strong. MiR-483 was first detected in human liver and showed high expression in human embryonic, fetal and adult liver tissues (Liu et al., 2010; Fu et al., 2005). A number of studies have reported that aberrant expression of miR-483 is associated with various types of human cancer (Jain et al., 2012; Zsippai et al., 2011). Interestingly, this miRNA locus is located in intron 2 of the *IGF2* gene in human, mouse, rat, sheep (Ma et al., 2012, Fu et al., 2005) and cattle (*Bos taurus* genome at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mapview/). Intragenic miRNAs have a likelihood of being co-expressed with the host gene. It has been shown that miR-483 expression is correlated with *IGF2* expression (Ma et al., 2011; Meyer-Rochow et al., 2010). In contrast, Church et al. (2012) demonstrated that *IGF2* mutant mice showed up-

regulated miR-483 expression. Contrasting co-expression results may be due to imprinted and/or different methylated status of *IGF2* (Le et al., 2013).

Mir-675 is located in the first exon of H19 gene. H19 is a non-protein coding imprinted gene located near the bovine *insulin-like growth factor 2* (*IGF2*) gene (Zhang and Tycko, 1992). It was shown that H19 is tightly co-expressed with *IGF2* during embryonic development in mouse (Varrault et al., 2006). The H19 Antisense RNA regulates tissue-specific *IGF2* transcription in mouse myoblast cells (Tran et al., 2012). MiR-675 is exclusively expressed in the placenta during development and controls fetal growth probably by targeting and downregulating the expression of *IGF1R* transcript (Keniry et al., 2012).

The regulatory role of miR-483 and miR-675 on *IGF1* and *IGF1R* mRNAs has been predicted (TargetScan.org) and experimentally validated (Ni et al., 2013). Therefore, we may suggest *IGF1* and *IGF1R* mRNA expression may be indirectly impacted by *IGF2* expression in other tissues via miR-675, or possibly co-expressed miR-483.

We showed that miR-124a had negative correlations with *IGFBP1* (r=-0.52) and *IGFBP2* (r=-0.53), also miR-1721 showed a negative correlation with IGF1R (r=-0.55). However, there were no predicted target sites for these mentioned miRNAs in the above genes. This indicates that an approximate negative correlation value of 0.5 observed between miR-1 and *IGF1* may not be considered as a strong/informative negative correlation in this study. Significant threshold of 0.05 introduces the possibility of having some of the significant P values as false positives. However, we have previously hypothesised that the different (epi)genetics in hybrids changes epigenetic mechanisms such as miRNA interference. Correlation analysis within genetics rather than across genetics as in the current limited data set could therefore reveal different correlation coefficients. Another explanation is there might not be a simple

pathway of regulating one transcript by one miRNA. Therefore, an increased sample size for miRNA profiling might be required to assess this further. Further experiments including miRNA profiling of other tissues with larger sample size are required to validate regulation of this complex network of high importance in fetal growth and development.
6.5 References

Alvarez-Garcia I and Misk E A. 2005. MicroRNA functions in animal development and human disease. Development, 132: 4653-4662.

Alves-Junior L, Niemeier S, Hauenschild A, Rehmsmeier M and Merkle T. 2009. Comprehensive prediction of novel microRNA targets in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Nucleic Acids Res, 37: 4010-4021.

Barad O, Meiri E, Avniel A, Aharonov R, Barzilai A, Bentwich I, Einav U, Gilad S, Hurban P, Karov Y, Lobenhofer E K, Sharon E, Shiboleth Y M, Shtutman M, Bentwich Z and Einat P. 2004. MicroRNA expression detected by oligonucleotide microarrays: system establishment and expression profiling in human tissues. Genome Res, 12: 2486-2494.

Bartel D P. 2004. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell, 116: 281–297.

Bartel D P. 2009. MicroRNAs: Target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell, 136: 215-233.

Bernstein E, Kim S Y, Carmell M A, Murchison E P, Alcorn H, Li M Z, Mills A A, Elledge S J, Anderson K V and Hannon G J. 2003. Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat. Genet, 35: 215–217.

Bignell C W, Malau-Aduli A E O, Nichols P D, McCulloch R and Kijas J W. 2010. East Friesian sheep carry a Myostatin allele known to cause muscle hypertrophy in other breeds. Anim Genet, 41: 445–448.

Chen C Z, Li L, Lodish H F and Bartel D P. 2004. MicroRNAs modulate hematopoietic lineage differentiation. Science, 303: 83–86.

Church D N, Phillips B R, Stuckey D J, Barnes D J, Buffa F M, Manek S, Clarke K, Harris A L, Carter E J and Hassan A B. 2012. Igf2 ligand dependency of Pten+/- developmental and tumour phenotypes in the mouse. Oncogene, 31(31):3635.

Clop A, Marcq F, Takeda H, Pirottin D, Tordoir X, Bibe B, Bouix J, Caiment F, Elsen J-M, Eychenne F, Larzul C, Laville E, Meish F, Milenkovic D, Tobin J, Charlier C and Georges M. 2006. A mutation creating a potential illegitimate microRNA target site in the myostatin gene affects muscularity in sheep. Nat Genet, 38: 813–8.

Coutinho L L, Matukumalli L K, Sonstegard T S, Van Tassell C P, Gasbarre L C, Capuco A V and Smith T P. 2007. Discovery and profiling of bovine microRNAs from immune-related and embryonic tissues. Physiol Genomics, 29(1): 35-43.

Das S, Ferlito M, Kent O A, Fox-Talbot K, Wang R, Liu D, Raghavachari N, Yang Y, Wheelan S J, Murphy E and Steenbergen C. 2012. Nuclear miRNA regulates the mitochondrial genome in the heart. Circ Res, 110: 1596-1603.

Elia L, Contu R, Quintavalle M, Varrone F, Chimenti C, Russo M A, Cimino V, De Marinis L, Frustaci A, Catalucci D and Condorelli G. 2009. Reciprocal regulation of microRNA-1 and insulin-like growth factor-1 signal transduction cascade in cardiac and skeletal muscle in physiological and pathological conditions. Circulation, 120: 2377-2385.

Farazi T A, Hoell J I, Morozov P and Tuschl T. 2013. MicroRNAs in Human Cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol, 774: 1-20.

207

Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya S N and Sonenberg N. 2008. Mechanisms of posttranscriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? Nat Rev Genet, 9: 102-114.

Friedman R C, Farh K K, Burge C B and Bartel D P. 2009. Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. Genome Res. 19(1): 92-105.

Fu H, Tie Y, Xu C, Zhang Z, Zhu J, Shi Y, Jiang H, Sun Z and Zheng X. 2005. Identification of human fetal liver miRNAs by a novel method. FEBS Lett, 579(17): 3849-54.

Ge Y, Sun Y and Chen J. 2011. IGF-II is regulated by microRNA-125b in skeletal myogenesis. J Cell Biol, 192(1): 69–81.

Georges M, Clop A, Marcq F, Takeda H, Pirottin D, Hiard S, Tordoir X, Caiment F, Meish F, Bibé B, Bouix J, Elsen J M, Eychenne F, Laville E, Larzul C, Milenkovic D, Tobin J and Charlier A C. 2006. Polymorphic microRNA-target interactions: A novel source of phenotypic variation. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant Biol, 71: 343–350.

Gong J, Tong Y, Zhang H M, Wang K, Hu T, Shan G, Sun J and Guo AY. 2012. Genomewide identification of SNPs in microRNA genes and the SNP effects on microRNA target binding and biogenesis. Hum Mutat, 33(1): 254-263.

Griffiths-Jones S, Saini H K, van Dongen S and Enright A J. 2008 miRBase: tools for microRNA genomics. NAR, 36(Database Issue): D154-D158.

Grimson A, Farh K K, Johnston W K, Garrett-Engele P, Lim L P and Bartel D P. 2007. MicroRNA targeting specificity in mammals: determinants beyond seed pairing. Mol Cell. 27(1): 91-105. Gu Y, Sun J, Groome L J and Wang Y. 2013. Differential miRNA expression profiles between the first and third trimester human placentas. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 304: E836–E843.

Hall T A. 1999. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucleic Acids Symposium Series, 41: 95.

Hiard S, Charlier C, Coppieters W, Georges M and Baurain D. 2010. Patrocles: a database of polymorphic miRNAmediated gene regulation in vertebrates. Nucleic Acids Res, 38(Database issue): D640–D651.

Hiendleder S, Lewalski H and Janke A. 2008. Complete mitochondrial genomes of *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* provide new insights into intra-species variation, taxonomy and domestication. Cytogenet Genome Res, 120: 150–6.

Jain M, Rechache N and Kebebew E. 2012. Molecular markers of adrenocortical tumors. J Surg Onco, 106(5): 549-56.

Jia C Y, Li H H, Zhu X C, Dong Y W, Fu D, Zhao Q L, Wu W and Wu X Z. 2011. MiR-223 Suppresses Cell Proliferation by Targeting IGF-1R. PLoS ONE, 6(11): e27008.

Keniry A, Oxley D, Monnier P, Kyba M, Dandolo L, Smits G and Reik W. 2012. The H19 lincRNA is a developmental reservoir of miR-675 that suppresses growth and Igf1r. Nat Cell Biol, 14(7): 659-65.

Kozomara A and Griffiths-Jones S. 2011. miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deep-sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res, 39(Database issue): D152–D157.

209

Le F, Wang LY, Wang N, Li L, Li le J, Zheng Y M, Lou H Y, Liu X Z, Xu X R, Sheng J Z, Huang H F and Jin F. 2013. In vitro fertilization alters growth and expression of Igf2/H19 and their epigenetic mechanisms in the liver and skeletal muscle of newborn and elder mice. Biol Reprod, 88(3): 75.

Lee Y, Jeon K, Lee J T, Kim S and Kim V N. 2002. MicroRNA maturation: stepwise processing and subcellular localization. Embo J, 21: 4663-4670.

Lee Y, Kim M, Han J, Yeom K H, Lee S, Baek S H and Kim V N. 2004. MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. Embo J, 23: 4051-4060.

Lewis B P, Burge C B and Bartel D P. 2005. Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell 120: 15–20.

Lewis B P, Shih I H, Jones-Rhoades M W, Bartel D P and Burge C B. 2003. Prediction of mammalian microRNA targets. Cell, 115(7): 787-98.

Liang Y, Ridzon D, Wong L, Chen C. 2007. Characterization of microRNA expression profiles in normal human tissues. BMC Genomics, 8: 166.

Lin S, Li H, Mu H, Luo W, Li Y, Jia X, Wang S, Jia X, Nie Q, Li Y and Zhang X. 2012. Let-7b regulates the expression of the growth hormone receptor gene in deletion-type dwarf chickens. BMC Genomics, 13: 306.

Liu D, Fan J, Zeng W, Zhou Y, Ingvarsson S and Chen H. 2010. Quantitative analysis of miRNA expression in several developmental stages of human livers. Hepatol Res, 40: 813-822.

Liu H C, Hicks J A, Trakooljul N and Zhao S H. 2009. Current knowledge of microRNA characterization in agricultural animals. Anim Genet, 41: 225–231.

Ma N, Li F, Li D, Hui Y, Wang X, Qiao Y, Zhang Y, Xiang Y, Zhou J, Zhou L, Zheng X and Gao X. 2012. Igf2-derived intronic miR-483 promotes mouse hepatocellular carcinoma cell proliferation. Mol Cell Biochem, 361(1-2): 337-43.

Meyer-Rochow G Y, Jackson N E and Conaglen J V. 2010. MicroRNA profiling of benign and malignant pheochromocytomas identifies novel diagnostic and therapeutic targets. Endocr Relat Cancer, 17: 835-846.

Nam S, Li M, Choi K, Balch C, Kim S and Nephew K P. 2009. MicroRNA and mRNA integrated analysis (MMIA): a web tool for examining biological functions of microRNA expression. Nucleic Acids Res, 37(Web Server issue): W356–W362.

Ni Z, Knorr D A and Kaufman D S. 2013. Hematopoietic and nature killer cell development from human pluripotent stem cells. Methods Mol Biol, 1029: 33-41.

Poy M N, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, Kuwajima S, Ma X, Macdonald P E, Pfeffer S, Tuschl T, Rajewsky N and Rorsman P. 2004. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. Nature, 432: 226–230.

Simon R, Lam A, Li M C, Ngan M, Menenzes S and Zhao Y. 2007. Analysis of Gene Expression Data Using BRB-Array Tools. Cancer Inform, 3: 11–17.

Tran V G, Court F, Duputié A, Antoine E, Aptel N, Milligan L, Carbonell F, Lelay-Taha MN, Piette J, Weber M, Montarras D, Pinset C, Dandolo L, Forné T and Cathala G.

211

2012. H19 Antisense RNA Can Up-Regulate *IGF2* Transcription by Activation of a Novel Promoter in Mouse Myoblasts. PLoS ONE, 7(5): e37923.

Varrault A, Gueydan C, Delalbre A, Bellmann A, Houssami S, Aknin C, Severac D, Chotard L, Kahli M, Le Digarcher A, Pavlidis P and Journot L. 2006. Zac1 regulates an imprinted gene network critically involved in the control of embryonic growth. Dev Cell, 11: 711–722.

Wang Y, H M Stricker, D Gou and L Liu. 2007. MicroRNA: past and present. Front Biosci, 12: 2316-2329.

Zhang Y and Tycko B. 1992. Monoallelic expression of the human H19 gene. Nat Genet, 1(1): 40-4.

Zhu H, Shyh-Chang N, Segrè A V, Shinoda G, Shah S P, Einhorn W S, Takeuchi A, Engreitz J M, Hagan J P, Kharas M G, Urbach A, Thornton J E, Triboulet R,Gregory R I; DIAGRAM Consortium; MAGIC Investigators, Altshuler D, Daley G Q. 2011. The Lin28/let-7 axis regulates glucose metabolism. Cell, 147(1): 81-94.

Zsippai A, Szabó D R, Szabó P M, Tömböl Z, Bendes M R, Nagy Z, Rácz K and Igaz P. 2011. mRNA and microRNA expression patterns in adrenocortical cancer. Am J Cancer Res, 1(5): 618-28.

Chapter 7

General discussion

7.1 Developmental changes in transcript abundance of *IGF* system and *GH- IGF1* axis genes in bovine tissues

In this study, transcript abundance of *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis genes was assessed in bovine embryonic, fetal and postnatal tissues. Quantitative real-time PCR was used to measure mRNA expression of *IGF1* overall transcript, *IGF1 class 1* and *class 2*, *IGF1R*, *IGFBP1* to 8, *IR* overall transcript, *IR-A*, *IR-B*, *GH*, *GHR* overall transcript, and *GHR-1A*, *GHR-1B* and *GHR-1C*. To our knowledge, this was the first comprehensive study reporting the developmental expression of the *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* axis genes in different bovine tissues, across pre- and postnatal development.

The IGF system is crucial for prenatal tissue growth and development, cell proliferation and differentiation (Firth and Baxter, 2002; Hossner et al., 1997; Jones and Clemmons, 1995;) and the GH-IGF1 axis plays a key role in postnatal growth and development (Skottner, 2012; Nakae et al., 2001; Allan et al., 2001). In the current study, abundance of transcripts from most genes decreased postnatally in studied tissues, except in liver which showed an increase for *IGF1*, *GHR* and *IGFBP4* and did not show any change for *IR*, *IGFBP1*, 3 and 6 transcripts. This was a demonstration of generally higher *IGF* system transcript abundance in bovine prenatal tissues.

We demonstrated that transcripts from the IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis had a specific pattern of expression in each tissue that differed across developmental stages. We showed that

most transcripts were expressed in all studied tissues and only two transcripts showed tissuespecific expression: *IGFBP1* was not expressed in bovine lung and *IGF1 class 2* transcript was not detected in bovine kidney. However, these transcripts showed some developmental stage-specific patterns as well. The *IGF1 class 2* was not expressed in adult heart and brain or embryonic brain, and *IGFBP1* was not detected in adult brain, heart or skeletal muscle.

In accordance with our results, tissue specific expression of *IGF1 class 2* mRNA was reported in cattle (Wang et al., 2003), human (Jensen et al., 1991) and rat (Shemer et al., 1992). In human and mouse, *IGFBP1* has been shown to be liver-specific (Han et al., 1996; Cerro et al., 1993) which is in contrast with our results. However, our findings in bovine regarding expression of *IGFBP1* in different tissues were similar to rat (Ooi et al., 1990).

Developmental expression of *IGFBP4* and *IGF1* showed differences between bovine and rodent in some tissues. In contrast to our results, Batchelor et al. (1995) showed that *IGFBP4* mRNA increased in lung tissue of rat postnatally in comparison to the prenatal stage. It was shown that in mouse, IGF1 hormone level increased postnatally until two weeks after birth and decreased after D-20 (Calikoglu et al., 2001; Breese et al., 1994). These differences regarding prenatal and neonatal IGF system expression were not observed in bovine and other studied mammals, e.g. human and sheep. However, differences in the timing of development of key organs between rodents and cattle could impact on the comparison of gene expression between these species (Otis and Brent, 1954).

Postnatal GH is an important regulator of IGF1 production (von Horn et al., 2002). *GH* gene expression is mainly from the pituitary gland, although GH expression is not confined to the pituitary gland. It is also present in some postnatal extra-pituitary tissues, in which it may act as an autocrine or paracrine growth factor (Harvey, 2010). Placental GH can be important

for growth and development of the fetus. Since placenta GH cannot be detected in fetal circulation and only presents in maternal blood and amniotic fluid, the direct role of placental GH in prenatal development is controversial (Skottner, 2012). Fetal pituitary gland is able to produce GH from the second trimester in some species, including human, cow and sheep (Waters and Kaye, 2002). However, mice deficient in GH, due to mutations in the genes encoding GH-releasing hormone receptor, showed normal birth weight (Efstratiadis, 1998). Spencer et al. (1995) measured umbilical blood concentrations of IGF1 and GH in normal and growth retarded human newborns. They found that only IGF1 is significantly lower in growth retarded individuals and GH level is not correlated with fetal growth in human.

There was no detectable GH mRNA in the bovine tissues studied. Since GH transcript from the pituitary gland as a primary source of GH was not measured, the potential roles of GHtranscription in bovine prenatal growth and development remains inconclusive. However, significant and tissue and genotype-specific GHR expression raises the possibility of GHactions (see below).

The GHR mediates the biological actions of GH on target cells by transducing the stimulating signal across the cell membrane and by inducing the transcription of many genes, including *IGF1* (Kobayashi et al., 1999; Rotwein et al., 1991). It has been shown that *GHR* transcripts are present in fetal tissues of rat (Edmonson et al., 1995), cattle (Lucy et al., 1998a) and human (Hill et al., 1988). Knockout mouse models showed no significant body size or weight differences between controls and *GHR* knockout newborns. However, *GHR* deficient mice (Laron mice) were significantly smaller three weeks after birth (Zhou et al., 1997). Laron mice showed 90% less circulating IGF1 and these mice could live significantly longer (up to 50%) than normal mice (Coschigano et al., 2000).

The present data showed that *GHR* transcripts can be found in a variety of bovine tissues during pre and postnatal growth and development. This study confirmed that *GHR-1A* transcript is specific to liver and that its expression can be detected from mid-gestation in the bovine fetus. *GHR-1A* is the equivalent of liver-specific transcript in human (GHR-V1), mouse (GHR-L1), rat (GHR-V2) and sheep (GHR-1A) (Edens and Talamantes, 1998). A limited number of studies have investigated fetal liver *GHR-1A* expression in cattle. In contrast to our results, it has been reported that *GHR-1A* mRNA cannot be detected in the 8-month old cattle fetus (Lucy et al., 1998a). In addition, liver-specific transcript of *GHR* was not detected in human fetal liver (Lucy et al., 1998a; Kenth et al., 2011). However, liver specific transcript of the *GHR* was detected at late gestation (D-145) in fetal sheep liver (Pratt and Anthony, 1995; Klempt et al., 1993; Adams et al., 1990).

We demonstrated that *GHR* mRNA was expressed in a variety of bovine fetal and embryonic tissues. The biological reasons for high levels of *GHR* expression in bovine embryonic and fetal tissues are not clear, in particular since the bovine placenta does not express *GH-V* (Skottner, 2012).

GHR is the main mediator of GH actions, although the role of the GH-IGF1 axis in prenatal growth and development has not been identified clearly (Osafo et al., 2005). It has been shown that infusion of GH in late-gestational fetal sheep did not alter fetal growth or fetal IGF1 and IGFBP3 concentrations (Bauer et al., 2000).

There is a high degree of similarity between GH and prolactin (PRL) and their receptors (GHR and PRLR), with homology in amino acid sequences and gene structures, in addition to physiological functions (Goffin and Kelly, 2001). Bovine GHR can be a receptor for PRL and

placental lactogen (PL) hormones, and interestingly, GHR and PRLR can form a functional heterodimer receptor (Goffin and Kelly, 2001; Vashdi et al., 1992). The affinity of ruminant PL to GHR and PRLR has been shown to be high (Byatt et al., 1992). Upon binding either of GH, PRL or PL to GHR, signal transduction initiates with phosphorylation of cytosolic Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) which activates STAT pathways (Hwa et al., 2011). Maternal bovine PL is in fetal circulation with peak concentration in mid-gestation (Kappes et al., 1992). In sheep, fetal serum concentration of PL is correlated with fetal weight in singletons (Schoknecht et al., 1991). Interestingly, infusion of ovine PL into fetal sheep increased serum IGF1 concentrations significantly (Schoknecht et al., 1992). The binding ability of other ligands such as PRL and PL to GHR can trigger STAT5 signal transduction (Hwa et al., 2011; Goffin and Kelly, 2001) and high correlations detected between *IGF1* and *GHR* transcripts in the present study could be explained by a role of GHR-IGF1 axis in prenatal growth and development in bovine.

7.2 Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on transcript abundance of *IGF* system components and *GH- IGF1* axis genes

Heterosis, or hybrid vigour, is the superiority of first generation hybrids over the average of the purebred parents (Dickerson, 1952). Heterosis has an important role in improving the productivity of plants and animals and has been used for over a century to obtain benefits in animal production industries (Hochholdinger and Hoecke, 2007). Heterozygosity is a necessary condition to observe changes in transcription and consequently phenotypic variation in hybrid individuals. Heterosis results from interactions between the paternal and maternal genome (Birchler, 2013).

The level of heterosis is known to be correlated with the genetic distance between parents (Chen, 2010). In addition to the parental genetics, various levels of heterosis have been noted due to different environmental circumstances. A heterosis \times environment model was proposed by Frisch (1987). Effects of restricted feed, ticks and worms on the magnitude of heterosis showed that heterosis measured as the deviation from the mid-parent mean will increase continuously with the level of environmental stress (Frisch and Vercoe, 1984).

Despite the long history of using heterosis in industry, the molecular mechanisms underlying this phenomenon remain unclear. There are several hypotheses proposed from quantitative genetics, including dominance, over dominance and epistasis, but none fully explain the mechanism of heterosis (Alexander et al., 2009; Birchler et al., 2003; Cunningham, 1982). Bowman (1959) suggested that "it is highly probable that there is no single genetic explanation for heterosis, but dominance, whether partial or complete, and all types of genetic interaction combined in different proportions in different situations result in heterosis".

It was demonstrated that plasma IGF1 level is positively correlated with heterosis in cattle (Caldwell et al., 2011) and mouse (Adamo et al., 2006). It was also shown that plasma IGF1 is positively correlated to fetal growth and development in cattle (Hiendleder et al., 2006) and human (Leger et al., 1996). GH is a key stimulator of IGF1 production and also affects IGF2 production in liver postnatally (von Horn et al., 2002). GH actions are mediated through growth hormone receptor (GHR). Binding of GH to GHR initiates the transcription of many genes including IGF1 gene via STAT5 signal transduction (Hwa et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2007).

The current study evaluated heterosis, genetic and sex effects on transcript abundance of *IGF* system and *GHR* genes in bovine fetal tissues. There were no heterosis effects on fetus weight

or organ weights. However, fetus weight and organ weights were affected significantly by genetics and sex, with the exception of brain and fetal placenta.

We demonstrated that hybrid males showed significantly higher *GHR-1A* mRNA than females. Since expression of *GHR* is regulated by a variety of factors such as steroid hormones (Horseman and Yu-Lee, 1994; Cosman et al., 1990), fetal male testosterone might be responsible for elevated levels of liver *GHR-1A* transcript. These findings suggested that male androgen may contribute to higher expression levels of *GHR* mRNA in fetal bovine liver and could explain the observed higher organ weights in males compared to females. However, more detailed research is needed to proof effects of fetal male androgen on transcription of *GHR-1A* in liver.

Considering the fact that the major proportion of circulating IGF1 is produced in the liver (Yakar et al., 1999), our results confirmed that the molecular heterosis observed in *IGF1* transcript of the bovine fetal liver is in accordance with the heterosis of circulating IGF1 levels reported in hybrid calves (Caldwell et al., 2011).

The *IGF1 class 2* transcript showed a higher level of heterosis in fetal liver and skeletal muscle than *IGF1 class 1* transcript. The *IGF1 class 2* transcript was reported to be more strongly associated with heterosis in circulating IGF1 hormone in hybrid mice in comparison to *IGF1 class 1* transcript (Adamo et al., 2006). It was also demonstrated that both *IGF1 class 1* and 2 transcript levels increased in liver after administration of GH to adult cattle and sheep. However, *IGF1 class 2* transcript showed a significantly greater increase in expression than *IGF1 class 1* transcript (Wang et al., 2003; Pell et al., 1993). Infusion of GH into sheep fetuses showed no increase in IGF1 hormone (Bauer et al., 2000). This may be an indication of a different role of the GH-IGF1 axis in postnatal, compared to prenatal life.

The present data showed high levels of molecular heterosis in liver *GHR* overall transcript abundance and liver-specific *GHR-1A* mRNA. This was the first report of heterosis in bovine *GHR* mRNA. Since we demonstrated a correlation of 0.99 between *GHR-1A* and *IGF1 class 2* transcripts and as GH actions are mediated through GHR, it is reasonable to conclude that the observed heterosis in liver *IGF1 class 2* transcript is due to increased liver *GHR-1A*.

The data also showed that all liver IGFBP transcripts showed negative or no heterosis. This may indicate that modulators of IGF1 (i.e., IGFBPs) are less expressed in liver of hybrid fetuses and therefore more free IGF1 (and IGF2 which was not investigated in this study) is available to bind to its receptors and initiate its wide range of actions.

There was no heterosis in weight of D-153 fetuses. However, a number of previous studies detected heterosis in birth weight of cattle (Elzo et al., 2012; Johnston et al. 2001; Kress and Nelsen, 1998; Brown et al., 1993). The present data suggest that mechanisms controlling heterosis in bovine at term and postnatally, i.e., liver *GHR* in addition to *IGF1* mRNA, are initiated in the fetal stage and can be readily detected in mid-gestation.

The higher correlation of *IGF1 class2* transcripts with *GHR-1A* transcript, and higher levels of molecular heterosis observed in fetal liver in the current study, suggest that liver *IGF1 class 2* and *GHR-1A* transcripts had higher contributions to heterosis in the bovine fetal model than other IGF system and GH-IGF1 axis transcripts.

Among studied tissues, fetal liver appears to be the most important tissue to study the molecular mechanisms of heterosis. Fetal liver was shown to express a higher diversity of transcripts of the GH-IGF1 axis which were also expressed at higher levels in fetal liver compared to other fetal tissues.

7.3 Micro RNAs and other potential regulators of *IGF* system and *GH-IGF1* transcripts

Experimental data and computational prediction of miRNA target sites suggested that each miRNA potentially targets multiple, ten to several hundred, mRNAs, which indicated that over 30% of all mammalian genes may be regulated by miRNAs (Rybak et al., 2009). By targeting the mRNA of protein-coding genes, miRNAs play a critical role in a variety of biological processes such as development, cell growth, proliferation, lineage determination and metabolism (Morris, 2008). In mammals, miRNAs have been shown to regulate a large number of pathways including B-cell differentiation (Chen et al., 2004), adipocyte differentiation (Esau et al., 2004) and insulin secretion (Poy et al., 2004). Knockout of the miRNA-producing enzyme Dicer1 in mice leads to lethality early in development. Dicer1 deleted embryos died before D-8 of gestation and did not develop any cell lineage which is a clear indicator of the crucial roles of miRNAs in early development (Bernstein et al., 2003).

In the present study, we used databases to select miRNAs which have been experimentally validated or predicted to have target sites in the *IGF* system and *GHR* transcripts. Heterosis, genetic and sex effects on transcript abundance of fetal liver mature miRNAs were evaluated. We showed that among 158 miRNA which were predicted or experimentally validated, only 11 were significantly affected by heterosis, genetic or sex effects. Correlation of miRNA expression with the transcript abundance of the *IGF* system and *GHR* transcripts revealed that some of the predicted or validated miRNA have a notable negative correlation with transcript abundance of the *IGF* system and *GHR* transcripts miR-483 and miR-1 with *IGF1* (r=-0.53 and -0.50, respectively) and miR-424 with *IGFBP7* (-0.66). A high negative correlation indicates the degradation effect of miRNA on their targets. MiR-1 also

showed negative correlations of r = -51 and r = -49 with *GHR* and *IGFBP8* genes, respectively. However, only IGFBP8 showed a predicted target site for miR-1. Also miR-124a showed negative correlations with IGFBP1 (r= -0.52) and IGFBP2 (r= -0.53), although there were not any predicted target sites for this miRNA in IGFBP1 or 2. These observations indicated that an approximate negative correlation value of r = -0.5 which was observed between some miRNA and mRNAs in this study may not be considered as a strong correlation. However, we have previously hypothesised that the different (epi)genetics in hybrids changes epigenetic mechanisms such as miRNA interference. Correlation analysis within genetics rather than across genetics as in the current limited data set could therefore reveal different correlation coefficients. Another explanation is there might not be a simple pathway of regulating one transcript by one miRNA.

The present data showed some miRNAs, as gene expression regulators, were differentially expressed among different genotypes. It may be concluded that some miRNAs may have a potential regulatory role in transcription of IGF system and GHR genes in bovine fetal liver. However, more experiments with an increased sample size for miRNA profiling are required to assess this further. It is important to consider possible sequence variation in miRNA loci as they may impact any comparison between miRNA expression of Bos taurus and Bos indicus.

In this study, sequence variation of miRNA loci including miR-483, Let-7-f2 and miR-98 and their target sites located in the 3'UTR of IGF1 and IGF1R were investigated. Sequence analysis did not show any variation among bovine fetuses with Bos taurus or Bos indicus genetics. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) can potentially create or eliminate target recognition sites for miRNAs in target mRNAs. A SNP inside a pre-miRNA sequence (stem and loop) or the seed region can change the secondary structure and consequently impact on the maturation process of a miRNA. New target sites for a miRNA, or elimination of an 222

existing target site, have been linked to human diseases and phenotypic variation in farm animals (Georges et al., 2006; Gong et al., 2012).

The present data confirmed a retrotransposon insertion in the liver-specific promoter of the bovine *GHR* (Lucy et al., 1998a). This insertion was found to be specific to *Bos taurus* (Lucy et al., 1998b; Ohkubo et al., 2006). A similar insertion was reported in mouse (Moffat et al., 1999) and goat (Maj and Zwierzchowski, 2005), but has not been reported in other mammals, including human and sheep. The inserted retrotransposon, with a length of 1.2 kb, is a long interspersed nuclear element (LINE-1 element or L1) and belongs to the non-long terminal repeat (non-LTR) family of retrotransposons (Furano et al., 2004). Full length active bovine L1 is approximately 6-8 kb and contains two open reading frames (ORFs) which are necessary to initiate an actual retrotransposition (Girardot et al., 2006). However, any L1 insertion in genome can impact on regulation of transcription, especially when a gene is disrupted by an L1 insertion (Britten, 1997).

We confirmed that L1 inserted in the promoter of bovine *GHR* was specific to *Bos taurus* (Angus) and consisted of a partial (5' truncated) L1 element which contained a portion of the second ORF. Therefore, it cannot act as an active transposable element. However, it could potentially affect downstream gene expression. In human 5' truncated L1 are widely distributed in the genome and it is believed that they are not functional (Boissinot et al., 2001). However, Han et al. (2004) showed that even a partial L1 element integrated into an intron can downregulate gene expression significantly. Further experiments, including methylation analysis and allele specific expression levels and *in vitro* experiments, are needed to establish potential effects of the L1 insertion in bovine *GHR* on liver-specific *GHR* transcription.

Previous reports indicated that a GT microsatellite in bovine *GHR* promoter has a short allele with 11 repeats $(GT)_{11}$ in cattle without L1 insertion and a long allele with 16-20 repeats $(GT)_{16-20}$ with the L1 element (Lucy et al., 1998b). These data were obtained on five cattle breeds, including Brahman, Nellore, Hereford, Limousin and Santa Gertrudis (Lucy et al., 1998b). Subsequently, a number of studies have shown a significant association between the length of this specific GT microsatellite and production traits in cattle, including average daily milk production, weaning weight and carcass weight (Muhaghegh-Dolatabady et al., 2012; Curi et al., 2005; Hale et al., 2000), demonstrating that individuals with $(GT)_{11}$ allele had lower production than individuals with $(GT)_{16-20}$ allele.

Some microsatellites are known to have important functions in the genome such as AC/TG (Gemayel et al., 2010). The AC/TG motif is able to absorb negative supercoiling through the formation of Z-DNA, which can affect nucleosomes by displacement and subsequently affect downstream transcription (Xu et al., 2011). A $(GT)_n$ microsatellite can increase gene activity and if a GT repeat is closer to the promoter sequence it can be more effective as a transcriptional enhancer (Stallings et al., 1991).

We showed that the GT repeat in the bovine *GHR* is very close (90 nucleotide) to the liverspecific promoter even when considering the length variation between Angus and Brahman individuals. It may be worth considering this GT repeat variation as one of the factors affecting liver specific transcription of *GHR* in our experiment.

Interestingly, there is another GT microsatellite with 11 repeats located 800bp upstream of bovine (*Bos taurus*) *IGF1* (Sawaya et al., 2012). We did not perform sequencing among individuals. However, there might be variations between Angus and Brahman individuals.

The analyses also showed that there are genomic sequence variations in some transcriptional regulatory elements between parental breeds of Angus and Brahman resulting in heterozygosity in hybrid offspring. It is believed that heterozygosity is a necessary condition to observe changes in transcription and consequently phenotypic variation in hybrid individuals. The level of heterosis was shown to be correlated to the genetic distance between parents (Chen, 2010). In fact more genetic diversity will result in higher level of differences between transcriptional regulatory elements, including microsatellites or retrotransposons between purebred animals.

Heterosis mainly results from interactions between the paternal and maternal genome (Birchler, 2013). We showed that the differentially expressed genes and sequence variation in some regulatory elements in addition to differentially expressed miRNA contribute to molecular heterosis. As suggested by Bowman (1959), Chen (2010) and Birchler (2013), there is no simple explanation for hybrid vigour.

7.4 General conclusion

We demonstrated that the *IGFs* and *GHR* transcript profiles associated with developmental growth in the present study are to a significant extent in agreement with those seen in other species, including sheep, human and pig and appeared be less similar to patterns observed in rodent.

We demonstrated that the developmentally important *IGF* system and the *GHR* gene, contributed to heterosis in a bovine fetal model. Based on our bovine model we propose that liver *GHR-1A- IGF1 class 2* transcripts can be considered as an important axis involved in molecular heterosis which might be more important in late gestation growth and development

in bovine. Additionally, some investigated transcriptional regulatory elements, such as retrotransposons, microsatellites and miRNAs, might contribute to observed bovine molecular and phenotypic heterosis.

7.5 References

Adamo M L, Ma X, Ackert-Bicknell C L, Donahue L R, Beamer W G and Rosen C J. 2006. Genetic increase in serum insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in C3H/HeJ compared with C57BL/6J mice is associated with increased transcription from the IGF-I exon 2 promoter. Endocrinology, 147: 2944–2955.

Adams T E, Baker L, Fiddes R J and Brandon M R. 1990. The sheep growth hormone receptor: molecular cloning and ontogeny of mRNA expression in the liver. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 73(2-3): 135-45.

Allan G J, Flint D J and Patel K. 2001. Insulin-like growth factor axis during embryonic development. Reproduction, 122: 31-39.

Alexander T, Stephanie M and Stefan S. 2009. Heterosis in plants: Manifestation in early seed development and prediction approaches to assist hybrid breeding. Chinese Sci Bull, 54: 2363-2375.

Batchelor D C, Hutchins A-M, Klempt M and Skinner S J M. 1995. Developmental changes in the expression patterns of IGFs, type 1 IGF receptor and IGF-binding proteins-2 and -4 in perinatal rat lung. J Mol Endocrinol, 15: 105-115.

Bauer M K, Harding J E, Breier B H and Gluckman P D. 2000. Exogenous GH infusion to late-gestational fetal sheep does not alter fetal growth and metabolism. J Endocrinol, 166(3): 591-7.

Beck C R, Garcia-Perez J L, Badge R M and Moran J V. 2011. LINE-1 elements in structural variation and disease. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet, 12: 187 – 215.

Bernstein E, Kim S Y, Carmell M A, Murchison E P, Alcorn H, Li M Z, Mills A A, Elledge S J, Anderson K V and Hannon G J. 2003. Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat. Genet, 35: 215 – 217.

Birchler J A, Auger D L and Riddle N C. 2003. In search of the molecular basis of heterosis. Plant Cell, 15: 2236-2239.

Birchler J A. 2013. Genetic Rules of Heterosis in Plants, in Polyploid and Hybrid Genomics (eds Z J Chen and J A Birchler), John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Oxford, UK. doi: 10.1002/9781118552872. ch19.

Boissinot S, Entezam A and Furano A V. 2001. Selection against deleterious LINE-1containing loci in the human lineage. Mol Biol Evol, 18(6): 926-35.

Bowman J C. 1959. Selection for heterosis. Anim Breed Abstr, 27: 261-273.

Breese C R, D'Costa A and Sonntag W E. 1994. Effect of in utero ethanol exposure on the postnatal ontogeny of insulin-like growth factor-1, and type-1 and type-2 insulin-like growth factor receptors in the rat brain. Neuroscience, 63: 579-589.

Britten R J. 1997. Mobile elements inserted in the distant past have taken on important functions. Genetics, 205: 177–182.

Byatt J C, Warren W C, Eppard P J, Staten N R, Krivi G G and Collier R J. 1992. Ruminant placental lactogens: structure and biology. J Anim Sci, 70: 2911–2923.

Caldwell L C, Chase C C, Riley D G, Coleman S W, Phillips W A, Spicer L J, Welsh T H, and Randel R D. 2011. The influence of tropical adaptation on plasma concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I in purebred and crossbred beef cattle. J Anim Sci, 89: 4017-4022.

Calikoglu A, Karayal A and D'Ercole A. 2001. Nutritional regulation of IGF-I expression during brain development in mice. Pediatr Res, 49(2): 197-202.

Cerro J A, Grewal A, Wood T L and Pintar J E. 1993. Tissue-specific expression of the insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP) mRNAs in mouse and rat development. Regul Pept, 48: 189–198.

Chen Z A. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of polyploidy and hybrid vigor. Trends Plant Sci, 15 (2): 57-71.

Chen C Z, Li L, Lodish H F and Bartel D P. 2004. MicroRNAs modulate hematopoietic lineage differentiation. Science, 303: 83 – 86.

Chen F, He G, He H, Chen W, Zhu X, Liang M, Chen L and Deng X W. 2010. Expression analysis of miRNAs and highly-expressed small RNAs in two rice subspecies and their reciprocal hybrids. J Integr Plant Biol, 52(11): 971-80.

Coschigano K T, Clemmons D, Bellush L L and Kopchick J J. 2000. Assessment of growth parameters and life span of GHR/BP gene-disrupted mice. Endocrinology, 141: 2608–2613.

Cosman D, Lyman S D, Idzerda R L, Beckmann M P, Park L S, Goodwin R G and March C J. 1990. A new cytokine receptor superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci, 15(7): 265–270.

Cunningham E P. 1982. The genetic basis of heterosis. Proc. of the 2nd World Cong Genetics Appl Livest Prod. VI: 190-205. Madrid, Spain.

Curi R A, de Oliveira H N, Silveira A C and Lopes C R. 2005. Effects of polymorphic microsatellites in the regulatory region of IGF1 and GHR on growth and carcass traits in beef cattle. Anim Genet, 36: 58–62.

Dickerson G E. 1952. Inbred lines for heterosis tests? In: Heterosis. Ed. J. W. Gowen. Iowa State College Press, Ames.

Edens A and Talamantes F. 1998. Alternative processing of growth hormone receptor transcripts. Endocr Rev, 19(5): 559-82.

Edmonson S R, Werther G A, Russell A, Leroith D, Roberts Jr. C T and Beck F. 1995. Localization of growth hormone receptor/binding protein messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) during rat fetal development: Relationship to insulin-like growth factor-I mRNA. Endocrinology, 136: 4602–4609.

Efstratiadis A. 1998. Genetics of mouse growth. Int J Dev Biol, 42: 955–976.

Esau C, Kang X, Peralta E, Hanson E, Marcusson E G, Ravichandran L V, Sun Y, Koo S, Perera R J and Jain R. 2004. MicroRNA-143 regulates adipocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem, 279: 52361 – 52365.

Firth S M and Baxter R C. 2002. Cellular actions of the insulin-like growth factor binding proteins. Endocr Rev, 23: 824–854.

Frisch J E. 1987. Physiological reasons for heterosis in growth of *Bos indicus* x *Bos tauru*. J agric Sci, Camb, 109: 213-230.

Frisch J E and Vercoe J E. 1984. An analysis of growth of different cattle genotypes reared in different environments. J Agri Sci, 103: 137-153.

Furano A V, Duvernell D D and Boissinot S. 2004. L1 (LINE-1) retrotransposon diversity differs dramatically between mammals and fish. Trends Genet, 20 (1): 9-14.

Gemayel R, Vinces M D, Legendre M and Verstrepen K J. 2010. Variable tandem repeats accelerate evolution of coding and regulatory sequences. Ann Rev Genet, 44: 445-477.

Georges M, Clop A, Marcq F, Takeda H, Pirottin D, Hiard S, Tordoir X, Caiment F, Meish F, Bibé B, Bouix J, Elsen J M, Eychenne F, Laville E, Larzul C, Milenkovic D, Tobin J and Charlier A C. 2006. Polymorphic microRNA-target interactions: A novel source of phenotypic variation. Cold Spring Harb Symp, Quant Biol, 71: 343–350.

Girardot M, Guibert S, Laforet M P, Gallard Y, Larroque H and Oulmouden A. 2006. The insertion of a full-length *Bos taurus* LINE element is responsible for a transcriptional deregulation of the Normande Agouti gene. Pigment Cell Res, 19: 346–355.

Goffin V and Kelly P A. 2001. Prolactin receptor. Cytokine Reference. Academic Press, USA: 1547-1562.

Gong J, Tong Y, Zhang H M, Wang K, Hu T, Shan G, Sun J, Guo AY and 2012. Genomewide identification of SNPs in microRNA genes and the SNP effects on microRNA target binding and biogenesis. Hum Mutat, 33(1): 254-263. Hale C S, Herring W O, Shibuya H, Lucy M C, Lubahn D B, Keisler D H and Johnson G S. 2000. Decreased growth in Angus steers with a short TG-microsatellite allele in the P1 promoter of the growth hormone receptor gene. J Anim Sci, 78(8): 2099-2104.

Han V K M, Matsell D G and Lund P K. 1996. IGF-Binding Protein mRNAs in the Human Fetus: Tissue and Cellular Distribution of Developmental Expression. Hormone Research in Paediatrics, 45(3-5): 160-166.

Han J S, Szak S T and Boeke J D. 2004. Transcriptional disruption by the L1 retrotransposon and implications for mammalian transcriptomes. Nature 429: 268–274.

Hiendleder S, Wirtz M, Mund C, Klempt M, Reichenbach H D, Stojkovic M, Weppert M, Wenigerkind H, Elmlinger M, Lyko F, Schmitz O J and Wolf E. 2006. Tissue-specific effects of in vitro fertilization procedures on genomic cytosine methylation levels in overgrown and normal sized bovine fetuses. Biol Reprod, 75: 17–23.

Hill D J, Freemark M, Strain A J, Handwerger S and Milner R D G. 1988. Placental lactogen and growth hormone receptors in human fetal tissues: relationship to fetal plasma human placental lactogen concentrations and fetal growth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 66: 1283–90.

Hochholdinger F and N Hoecker. 2007. Towards the molecular basis of heterosis. Trends Plant Sci, 12(9): 427-432.

Horseman N D and Yu-Lee L-Y. 1994. Transcriptional regulation by the helix bundle peptide hormones: GH, PRL, and hematopoietic cytokines. Endocrine Rev, 15: 627–649.

Hossner K L, McCusker R H and Dodson M V. 1997. Insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins in domestic animals. J Anim Sci, 64: 1-15.

Hwa V, Oh Y and Rosenfeld R G. 1999. The insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP) superfamily. Endocr Rev, 20: 761-787.

Hwa V, Nadeau K, Wit J M and Rosenfeld R G. 2011. STAT5b deficiency: lessons from STAT5b gene mutations. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 25: 61–75.

Jensen L T, Jørgensen J O L, Risteli J, Christiansen J S and Lorenzen I. 1991. Type I and III procollagen propeptides in growth hormone-deficient patients: effects of increasing doses of GH. Acta Endocrinologica, 124: 278–282.

Jiang H, Okamura C S and Lucy M C. 1999. Isolation and characterization of a novel promoter for the bovine growth hormone receptor gene. J Biol Chem, 274: 7893–7900.

Jiang L I, Collins J, Davis R, Lin K-M, Decamp D and Roach T. 2007. Use of a cAMP BRET sensor to characterize a novel regulation of cAMP by the sphingosine 1-phosphate/G13 pathway. J Biol Chem, 282: 10576–10584.

Jones J I and D R Clemmons. 1995. Insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins: biological actions. Endocr Rev, 16: 3–34.

Kappes S M, Warren W C, Pratt S L, Liang R and Anthony R V. 1992. Quantification and cellular localization of ovine placental lactogen messenger ribonucleic acid expression during mid- and late gestation. Endocrinology, 131: 2829.

Kenth G, Puzhko S and Goodyer C G. 2011. Human growth hormone receptor gene expression is regulated by Gfi-1/1b and GAGA cis-elements. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 335(2): 135-47.

Klempt M, Bingham B, Breier B H, Baumbach W R and Gluckman P D. 1993. Tissue distribution and ontogeny of growth hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and ligand binding to hepatic tissue in the midgestation sheep fetus. Endocrinology, 132: 1071–1077.

Kobayashi Y, Boyd C K, Bracken C J, Lamberson W R, Keisler D H and Lucy M C. 1999. Reduced growth hormone receptor (GHR) messenger ribonucleic acid in liver of periparturient cattle is caused by a specific down regulation of GHR 1A that is associated with decreased insulin-like growth factor I. Endocrinology, 140: 3947–3954.

Leger J, Oury J F, Noel M, Baron S, Benali K, Blot P and Czernichow P. 1996. Growth factors and intrauterine growth retardation. I. Serum growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF-II, and IGF binding protein 3 levels in normally grown and growth-retarded human fetuses during the second half of gestation. Pediatr Res, 40(1): 94-100.

Lu M, Zhang Q, Deng M, Miao J, Guo Y, Gao W and Cui Q. 2008 An Analysis of Human MicroRNA and Disease Associations. PLoS ONE, 3(10): e3420.

Lucy M C,Boyd C K, Koenigsfeld A K, and Okamura C S. 1998a. Expression of somatotropin receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in bovine tissues. J Dairy Sci, 81: 1889–1895.

Lucy M C, Johnsson G S, Shibuya H, Boyd C K, Herring W O and Werin M. 1998b. Rapid communication: Polymorphic (GT)n microsatellite in the bovine somatotropine receptor gene promoter. J Anim Sci, 76: 2209–2210.

Maj A and Zwierzchowski L. 2005. A LINE-1 element insertion in the 5'-noncoding region of caprine growth hormone receptor gene. Biochem Genet, 43: 465-470.

Moffat J G, Edens A and Talamantes F. 1999. Structure and expression of the mouse growth hormone receptor/growth hormone binding protein gene. J Mol Endocrinol, 23: 33-44.

Muhaghegh-Dolatabady M, Habibizad J and Bahreini Behzadi M R. 2012. Association of TG-repeats in the 5'-flanking region of bovine growth hormone receptor (GHR) gene with milk production traits and somatic cell count in Holstein cattle. J Livest Sci Technol, 1(1): 32-37.

Morris K V. 2008 . Role of RNA in the regulation of gene expression. Nutr Rev, 66 Suppl 1: S31-2.

Nakae J, Kido Y and Accili D 2001. Distinct and Overlapping Functions of Insulin and IGF-I Receptors. Endocr Rev, 22(6): 818-835.

Ohkubo T, Yano H, Takahashi S, Kimura N and Tanaka M. 2006. Bos indicus type of growth hormone receptor gene is retained in Japanese Black cattle. J Anim Breed Genet, 123: 410–430.

Ooi G T, Orlowski C C, Brown A L, Becker R E, Unterman T G and Rechler M M. 1990. Different tissue distribution and hormonal regulation of messenger RNAs encoding rat insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins-1 and -2. Mol Endocrinol, 4: 321-328.

Osafo J, Wei Y, Kenth G and, Goodyer C G. 2005. Growth hormone during evelopment. Rev Endocr Metab Disord, 6: 175–182.

Otis E M and Brent R. 1954. Equivalent ages in mouse and human embryos. Anat Rec, 120: 33-63.

Pell J M, Saunders J C and Gilmour RS. 1993. Differential regulation of transcription initiation from insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) leader exons and of tissue IGF-I expression in response to changed growth hormone and nutritional status in sheep. Endocrinology, 132(4): 1797-1807.

Poy M N, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, Kuwajima S, Ma X, Macdonald P E, Pfeffer S, Tuschl T, Rajewsky N and Rorsman P. 2004. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. Nature, 432: 226–230.

Pratt S L and Anthony R V. 1995. The growth hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid present in ovine fetal liver is a variant form. Endocrinology, 136: 2150–2155.

Rosa F E, Silveira S M, Silveira C G, Bérgamo N A, Neto F A, Domingues M A, Soares F A, Caldeira J R and Rogatto S R. 2009. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR and chromogenic in situ hybridization: precise methods to detect HER-2 status in breast carcinoma. BMC Cancer, 9: 90.

Rotwein P. 1991. Structure, Evolution, Expression and egulation of Insulin-Like Growth Factors I and II. Growth Factors, 5: 3-18.

Rybak A, Fuchs H, Hadian K, Smirnova L, Wulczyn E A, Michel G, Nitsch R, Krappmann D and Wulczyn F G. 2009. The let-7 target gene mouse lin-41 is a stem cell specific E3 ubiquitin ligase for the miRNA pathway protein Ago2. Nat Cell Biol, 11(12): 1411-20.

Sawaya S M, Lennon D, Buschiazzo E, Gemmell N and Minin V N. 2012. Measuring Microsatellite Conservation in Mammalian Evolution with a Phylogenetic Birth-Death Model. Genome Biol Evol, 4(6): 748-759.

Schoknecht P A, Nobrega S N, Petterson J A, Ehrhardt R A, Slepetis R and Bell A W. 1991. Relations between maternal and fetal plasma concentrations of placental lactogen and placenta and fetal weights in well-fed ewes. J Anim Sci, 69: 1059.

Schoknecht P A, Currie W B and Bell A W. 1992. Kinetics of placental lactogen in mid-and late-gestation ovine fetuses. J Endocrinol, 133: 95

Shemer J, Adamo M L, Roberts C T and Leroith D. 1992. Tissue-specific transcription start site usage in the leader exons of the rat insulin-like growth factor I gene: evidence for differential regulation in the developing kidney. Endocrinology, 131: 2793-2799.

Skottner A. 2012. Biosynthesis of Growth Hormone and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I and the Regulation of their Secretion. The Open Endocrinology Journal, 6(Suppl 1: M2): 3-12.

Spencer J A, Chang T C, Jones J, Robson S C and Preece M A. 1995. Third trimester fetal growth and umbilical venous blood concentrations of IGF-1, IGFBP-1, and growth hormone at term. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 73(2): F87-90.

Stallings R L, Ford A F, Nelson D, Torney D C, Hildebrand C E and Moyzis R K. 1991. Evolution and distribution of (GT)n repetitive sequences in mammalian genomes. Genomics, 10(3): 807-15.

Vashdi D, Elberg G, Sakal E and Gertler A. 1992. Biological activity of bovine placental lactogen in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes is mediated through a somatogenic receptor. FEBS Lett, 305(2): 101-4.

Venken K, Movérare-Skrtic S, Kopchick J J, Coschigano K T, Ohlsson C, Boonen S, Bouillon R, Vanderschueren D. 2007. Impact of androgens, growth hormone, and IGF-I on bone and muscle in male mice during puberty. J Bone Miner Res, 22(1): 72-82.

von Horn H, Ekstrom C, Ellis E, Olivecrona H, Einarsson C, Tally M and Ekstrom T J. 2002. GH is a regulator of IGF2promoter-specific transcription in human liver. J Endocrinol. 172(3): 457-65.

Wang Y, Price S E and Jiang H. 2003. Cloning and characterization of the bovine class 1 and class 2 insulin-like growth factor-I mRNAs. Domest Anim Endocrinol, 25 (4): 315-328.

Waters M J and Kaye P L. 2002. The role of growth hormone in fetal development. Growth Horm IGF Res, 12(3): 137-46.

Xu Y Z, Thuraisingam T, Marino R and Radzioch D. 2011. Recruitment of SWI/SNF complex is required for transcriptional activation of SLC11A1 gene during macrophage differentiation of HL-60 cells. J Biol Chem, 286: 12839–12849.

Yakar S, Liu J-L, Stannard B, Butler A, Accili D, Sauer B and LeRoith D. 1999. Normal growth and development in the absence of hepatic insulin-like growth factor I. PNAS, 96(13): 7324-7329.

Zhou Y, Xu B C, Maheshwari H G and He H. 1997. A mammalian model for the Laron syndrome produced by targeted disruption of the mouse growth hormone receptor/binding protein gene (the Laron mouse). PNAS USA, 94: 13215–20.